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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
BANK INFORMATION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Andrew Mussngi
Dr. Kamau Thuggc
D.. Chris Kiptoo
Mr. Samson Cherutich
Mrs. Nelius W. Kariuki
Mrs. Rachel Dzombo
Mr. Ravi J. Ruparel

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. Kamau l'huggc
Dr. Susan Koech

HEADS OF DEPARTMENT

Mr. Kennedy Abuga
Mr. William Nyagaka
Mr. I)avid l-uusa
Mr. Cerald Nyaoma
Mr. Stephen Muriu
Ms. Darliah M. Mbugua
Mr. Michacl Rundu [.)ganza
Ms. Caroline Mackola
Ms. Beth Kithinji

Mr- l-eonard Ouma

Prof. Roben Mudida
Dr. Walter Onyino
Mr. Paul Wanyagi
Mr. Ceorge Amollo
Mr. Kibunyi Amdany

Mombasa Branch
Central Bank of Kcnya Building
Nkrumah Road
P-O. Rox 85:172
80100 Mombasa

Kisumu Branch
Ccntral Bank of Kenya Building
Jomo Kenyatta llighway
P.O. llox 4
401fi) Kisumu

Chairman (Appointed on 29 September 2023)
Covernor
Principal Secretary, 'l'hc National Treasury
Member
Membcr
Member
Member

Govcrnor
Deputy Covemor

Director - Govcrnor's Omce (Board Sccrctary)
l)irector - Central Bank of Kerya lnstitute of Monetary Studies
Director - F'inancial Markets Departmcnt
Dircctor - Bank Supervision Department
Director - General Services Departmcnt
Dircrtor - Iluman Resourcc and Administration Departrncnt
I)irector Uanking & National Payments l)epanment
l)ircctor - Finance Dcpartment
Director - lntemal Audit and Risk Management Dcpanment (Rcsigncd 29 January
2024\
ActinB Dircctor - lntemal Audit and Risk Managemcnt Dcpaiment (Appointed on
29 larluary 2024\
Director - Res€arch Department
Director - lnformation Technology Department (Appointcd on I July 2024)
Director - Currency Operations Depanment
tlead- Stratcgic Management Dcparment
Director-Branch Administration Depanment

REGISTERED OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

Central Bank of Kcnya Building
Haile Selassie Avenuc
P.O. Box 60000
002fi) Nairobi, Kenya
'l-el.t+ZS+1 l6rO, r8UOOOO

BRANCHES

Iildorct Uranch
Kiptagich llousc
Uganda Road
P.O. Box 2710
301fl) llldoret
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
BANK INFORMATION (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

CENTRAL BANK CENTRES

Nyeri Centre
Kcnya Commercial Bank Building
Kenyatta Street
P.O. Box 840
10100 Nyeri

Meru Centre
Co-operative Bank Building
Njuri Ncheke Street
P.O. Box 2l7l
60200 Meru

Nakuru Centre
Kenya Commercial Bank Building
Ceorge Morara Street
P.O. Box 14094
20100 N8kuru
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Kisii Centre
ABSA Bank Building
Sotik Road
P.O. Box 4l I
40200 Kisii

SUBSIDIARY

Kenya School of Monetary Studics
OffThika Road
Mathare No.th Road
P.O. Box 65041
0061t Nairobi

PRINCIPAL LAWYERS

Oraro and Co. Advocatcs
ACK Garden Housc
lst Ngong Avenue
P.O. Box 51236
00200 Nairobi

Amolo & Gacoka Advocates.
4t. A & G
Grevillea Grove, Kyuna
P.O. Box 53319-00200
Nairobi.

PRINCIPAL AUDITOR

The Auditor - Gencral
Anniversary 'l'owers

P.O. Box 30084
00100 Nairobi

DELEGATED AUDITOR

Dcloitte &'Ibuche l.t.P
Deloitle Placc
Waiyaki Way. Muthangari
P.O Box 40092
0O 100 Nairobi
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

l. Strtcmcnl of Corporllc Governtnce

1 hc Ccntral Rank of Kcnya ( thc "Bank'7 "CBK") is wholly owncd by the Covcmmcnt of Kcnya. l'hc Bank
is cstablishcd by and dcrives its authority and accountability from Articlc 2ll of thc Constitution ofKcnya.
-[ 

hc Bank is committcd to maintaining thc highest standards of integrity, professionalism and cthics in all its
opcrdtions.

l.l. Bo.rd of Dirr.tors

'lhe Ccntral Bank of Kcnya Act (thc "Act") provides that thc Board of Direcbrs (thc "Board") shall bc
composcd ofa Chairpcrson. a (iovemor. Principal Secretary to Thc National -l-rcasury who is a non-voting
mcmb€r and cight Non-[.:xccuti!e Dircctors.'[hc law requires that thc Prcsidcnt appoints thc Chairman and
Govcmor aftcr a compctitivc process and approval of Parliament. Other than thc Principal Sccrctar) to 'l hc
National lrcasur) who is an cx-oll'icio mcmbcr. all the Non-l.lxecutivc l)ircctors of the Board arc also
appointcd by thc Prcsidcnt rvith thc approval of Parliamcnt. All thc Board mcmbcrs arc appointcd lor a tcrm
of four (4) ycars cach and arc cligiblc lor rcappointment for a tcrm of four (4) ycars providcd that no lloard
mcmbcr holds oflicc for morc than two (2) terms.

All thc Non-lixccutivc l)ircctors arc indcpcndcnt of managcmcnt and frcc from any busincss or othcr
rclationship. which could intcrlcre with thc exercise oftheir indepcndcnt ovcrsight.
'l'hc Iloard mccts oncc cvcry two (2) months and has a formal schcdulc ofagcnda itcms duc lor dclibcrations.
'[ hc l)ircctors arc given appropriatc and timcly inlbrmation to cnablc thcm to providc and maintain full and
cffcctive dir!'ction and confol ovcr strategic, financial and operational issucs ofthe IJank.'Ihc tloard is not
involvcd in thc conduct of day-to-day business as this is the responsibility givcn to thc (jovcmor by law. lt
howcver. rctains thc rcsponsibility ofapproving the policies ofthc Bank.

'l hc tablc below shows thc Iloard ol Dircctors' appointmcnt datcs and contract cnd datcs.

'l hc Members ofthc ltoard (all Kcnyans) in the year endcd 30 June 2024. thc number of mcctings hcld in thc
ycar and thcir attcndancc rvcrc as follorvs:

amc McctinBs
Attcndcd

Mr. Andrcw M 5

o

o

a

3

No Name Position Disciplinc Datc ofAppointrncnt Contract cnd
date

I Mr. Andrcw Musangi Chairman l.arrycr 29 Scptembcr 2023 28 Scptcmbcr
202't

2 [)r. Kamau 'l'huspc (iovemor [']conomist l9 June 2024 l8 Junc 2027
3 Principal Sccrctary/'l hc

National l rcasu

Mn. Nclius Kariuki

lixccutivc
0fficcr

Llconomist Permancnt Pcrmanent

4 Membcr I-lconomist Rcappointcd on 5
Dcccmbcr 2020

4 l)cccmbcr
2024

5 Mr. Ravi Ruparcl
lMcmbcr

F'inancial Scctor
[]xpen

Rcappointcd on 5
Dcccmber 2020

4l)cccmbcr
2024

(., Mr. Samson Chcrutich iucmber Accountant Reappointed on 5
Dc'cembcr 2020

4l)cccmbcr
2024

7 Mrs. Rachcl D/ombo Mcmber Managcmcnt
lixpcrl

Reappointed on 5
Decembcr 2020

4l)cccmbcr
2024

o Position

hairman

Disciplinc

[,a\^yer
2. lDr. Kamau'l'hussc lCorcmor []conomist 8

Principal Sccrctary/'l hc National lrxccutive Oftlcer
l rcasu

rs. Nclius Kariuk ember
Mr. Ravi Ru cmber

Dconomist

llconomist
Financial Sector []xp,crt

4

,|

7
6. lMr. Samson Chcrutich lMcmbcr Accountant 8

lMcmbcr7. lMrs. Rachcl l),,omtxr Managemcnt ItxDcrl 8
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNI] 2024

l. SlrlcmcntofCorporstcGovernsncc(Cootinucd)

I .1. Borrd of Directors (continued)

'lhe rcmuncration paid to thc I)ircctors for scn'iccs rcndcrcd during the financial ycar 202312024 is discloscd
in Notc 28 to thc financial statcmcnts. l'he Non-l':xccutivc Dircctors arc paid a monthly rctaincr fee and a
sitting allowancc lbr cvcry mecting attendcd. 'lherc wcrc no krans !o Non-l.lxccutivc Dinsctors during thc
ycar rvhilc [']xccuti\ c Dircctors arc paid a monthly salary and arc cligiblc for staff loans.

1,2. Secretary to th€ Bosrd

'I hc lloard SccrctaD pro! idcs tcchnical and sccrctarial scn iccs as u'ell as coq,oratc govcmancc and logistical
supporl to thc Board. tle facilitatcs cl'ficicnt policy making intcrl'acc with policy implcmcntation. Thc Iloard
Sccretary also adviscs thc lloard on lcgal maltcrs. ln conjunction with thc Chairman. thc lloard Sccrctary
cnsurcs good and timely inlormation flort among thc Board mcmb!'rs. thc lloard Committccs and
Managcmcnt. All mcmbcrs ofthc lloard and ManaBcmcnt havc acccss to thc l]oard Sccrctiiriat scn,iccs.

1.3. Audia Committec

.lhc 
mcmbers ol' thc Audit Committec in thq ycar cndcd 30 Junc 2024 rvcre Mr. Samson K. Chcrutich

(Chairman). Mr. Ravi J. Ruparcl. Mrs. Nclius W. Kariuki and Mn'. Rachcl l)zombo. 
.l 

hc mcmbcrs arc all
Non-1.\ccutire I)irectoni 1!ith cxpr:ricncc in Accounting. nudiring. financc ard Manag,ement. lhc
(.ommittcc mccts oncc cvcry two (2) months and as nccessary. Ihc lcrms ol Rclcrcncc of the n udit
Committcc covcr llve (5) major arcas, namcly: Intcrnal Control Systcm. Risk Managcmcnt. l'inancial
Rcpo(ing and Rclatc'd Rcporting I'racticcs. lixtcmal and lntemal Audirs.

'l-hc Audit Committee's mandatc. undcr Intcmal (bntrol. includcs cnsuring that intcmal control and risk
manaScmcnt is planncd. structurcd and implcmqntcd at thc Bank. lhe Committcc alrc cnsurcs that intcmal
and cxtcmal audit rccommcndations rvhcrc applicablc. arc implcmcntcd.

'lhc Audit Committcc mandatc rclating to l-inancial RcponinB and Relatcd Rcporting Practiccs includcs
rcviqn oflhc annual Iinancial statemcnts ofthc Rank. the cxtcmal auditor's opinion and thcir L:omments on
inlcrnul controls and othcr ohscrvations. 'lhc Committcc also rcvicws significant accounting and rcporting
issucs and thcir impacl on financial rcpons and legal mattcrs that could significantly impact on the financial
statcmcnts. among, othcr linancial reFxrrting rcsFDnsibilitics.

With rcgard to llxtcmal Audit. thc Audit Committcc rcviews thc extcmal auditor's proposcd audit scopc.
appruach and audit delivcrablcs. and rcvicrrs the financial statcmcnts bclbrc submission to thc Board for
considcration and approval.

'lhc (:ommittql's mandatc on lntcmal Audit covcrs rcvicw oIthc activitics and resourccs ol'thc intcrnal audit
lunction. includinB thc cfl-cctit cness. standing and indcpr"-ndcncc of the intcrnal audit llnction wirhin thc llank.
It also covcrs rcvi$v of thc intcmal audit plan and lirllow up of thc implcmcntation ol' intcmal audit lindings
and rccommendations. lhc Audit ('ommittcc rcF)ns b thc lloard ol' Dircctors on thc standing and
indcpcndcncc of thc intcrnal audit function u ithin thc llank. l he Audit Com m ittcc also rcports k) thc lloard of
I)irectoni on intcmal audit scopc. approach and dclivcrablcs.

l he Committcc I'lcmbcrs' ;xrsitions. disciplincs and numbcr ofmccrings attcndcd I'or thc ycar cndcd 30 Junc
2024 rvcrc' as lirllous:

No Namc

Mr. Samson Cherutich

lbsition

cttrai.rnan

I)isciplinc Mcctings
Attendcd

Accountant 9
2 Mr. Rar i Ruparcl Membcr lrinuncial Scct('r Ir\p{n 8
3 Mrs. Nelius Kariuki llconomistMcmbcr 9
I Mrs. Rachcl l)/omlx) Mcmbcr l\'lanagement l,xp,crt 9

a

a
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
STATEMENT OF CORPORATE COVERNANCE (continued)
F-OR TI]E YEAR ENDED 30 JTJNE,2024

l. SarlaDcntofCorporrtcGovcrnancc(Coltilucd)

1.4. Hum.tr Rcsources Committcc (HRC)

'l-hc membsrs of thc tlRC in thc ycar endcd l0 Junc 2024 wcre Mrs. Nclius Kariuki (Chairperrcn). Mr.
Samson Cherutich. Mrs. Rachel l)rombo and Mr. Ravi Ruparcl. lhe mcmbers arc all Non-l.,xccutivc
I)ircctors with exp,cricncc in Accounting. Managcmcnt and []usincss.

'lhc tlR('olthc Iloard pcrlbrms an advisor;- rolc to the llank's lloard in thc fullilmcnt ofthc following
ovcrsight rcsponsibilitics:

a) Monitor thc lbrmulation and implemcntation oflluman Rcsourccs Policics in thc []ank;
b) ln rclation to staffmattcrs. thelv ensure the Bank's compliancc with thc Kcnyan Constitution, [,aws of

Kcnya. CRK rcgulations and its own code ofconduct:
c) Pcrform an, other lluman Rc$urccs rclatcd functions as assigncd by thc lloard.
d) Mon itor thc implemcntation of lloard rcsolutiuns rclating to thc I IRC o I the lloard.

I hc goal of thc committee is to drivc thc IIR lunction at thc llank to attain bcst in class global standards

.l 
hc membcrs ol'thc lluman Rcsourccs Committcc in thc ycar cndcd 30 Junc 2024 and thcir attcndancc of

thc mcctinSs hcld in thc ;car rverc as lbllorvs:

o

a

o

o

a

o

o

o

TNamc ['osition

M6 Rachcl I)romtx, Mcmbcr
Mr Ravi Buarcl Member

Disciplinc

Managcmcnt lrxpcn
! inancial Scctor tlx

McetinBs
attendcd

5

4

1.5. Monetary Policy Committcc (MPC)

Scction ,ll) of thc Ccntral Rank of Kcnya (Amcndmcnt) Acr 2008 cstablishcs rhe Moncran- Polic)
Committcc (MPC). Ihc MI,C is responsiblc for formulating monctar), policy and is rcquircd to mcet at lcast
oncc cvcr) trvo (2) months. 'lhc Ml'C compriscs thc:

i) Govcmor who is thc Chairman
ii) 'lhc l)cputy (iovemor who is thc l)cputy Chairplrson
iii) fwo (2) mcmb(rs apB)intcd b) ths Cuvcmor from thc ('llK. Olthc two mcmbcrs

a) onc shall be a pcrvrn with crecutivc rcsB)nsibilit) within thc llank for monctary analyscs and:
b) onc shall bc a Frcr$n \yith rcsponsibility \rithin thc Uank lbr monctar) pnlicy opcrations.

iv) lour (,1) cxtcmal mcmbcrs apfDintcd by lhc Cabinct Sccrctar) for'l hc National 
.l 

rcasu'l-
v) Principal SccrctaD lor thc National '[rcalury or his Reprcscntativc. who is a non voting mcmber.

l,xtcmal mcmbcrs of the MPC arc appointc{ lor an initial pcriod of thrcc (3) ycars cach and ma) bc
rcappointcrl lbr anothcr linal tcrm ofthrcc (3) ) cars. I-hc quorum for Mlr(' mcetings is fivc (5) mcmbcrs.
onc of rvhom must bc thc ('hairman or l)cputy ('hairpcrson. At lcast oncc cverl six months thc MPC
submits a rcport on its activitics to thc (abinqt Sccrctary for (hc National ]-rcasuq,. and th(: Cabinct
Sccretary la1"s a copy ofcach rcpon bclbrc the National Asscmbl).

a

I Mrs. Nclius Kariuki Chairpcrson []conomist 5

2 Mr. Samson Cherutich Mcmb,cr Accountant 5

5
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

l. StrtementofCorporatcCovcrnencc(Cortinucd)

1.5. Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) (continued)

'Ihe MPC held seven (6) mectings in thc ycar endcd 30 June 2024. and attcndancc was as lbllows

1.6. ManagemcntStructure

'l'hc positions of Covcrnor and Dsputy (iovcmor arc sct out in thc CBK Act Clap 491 of the t,aws oI Kcny a.

Ihc Covemor and thc l)cpul.y (lovcrnor constitutc thc Clcntral Bank's Scnior Managemsnt. As thc Chicf
F,xecutive ofthc Bank. thc (;ovcrnor assigns duties to the l)cput)' Govcmor.
'l'herc arc l4 hcads ofdcpa(ment who lcad thc kc) dcpanmcnts ofthe Central Bank ofKcnya. using structurc.
ovcrsight. govcmancc and control of the kcy arcas. Senior Managcmcnt and departmcntal hcads havc
frcqucnt mectings in thc running ofthe Rank. many olthcse mcetings organiscd in structurcd lramcrvorks to
ensure clarity. transparcncy and success 0fthe outcomcs.

1.7. Codc of Ethics

l hc Rank is committcd to thc highcst standards of integrity. behaviour and cthics. A lormal codq of cthics
lbr all employccs was approvcd by the Board and is lully implemented. All cmployecs ol thc llank arc
expcctcd to avoid activitics and llnancial intcrests. which could give risc to conllict of intcrcst with thcir
rcsponsibilitics in the Bank. Strict rulcs of conduct embedded ir1 the Stdlf Rules and Regulations and the
F,rnploymenl Acl 2007 apply to thc entirc Bank's stafl

l.E. Intcrnal Controls

Thc Managemcnt of the []ank has put in placc a system of intemal conrol mcchanisms to cnsurc thc rcponing
of complcte and accuratc accounting informal.ion. Procurement ofgoods and scrviccs is strictly donc in
accordance with thq Prrlic Procurement & llsset Disposal ,4ct, 2015 and Regulations, 2020. ln all
opcrational arcas ofthc flank. rvorkllows havc becn structurcd in a manncr tha[ allorvs adcquatc segrcgation
of dutics.

1.9. Authorizations

All thc crpcnditurc of fie Uank must bc authorized in accordancc with a comprehensive sct of thc Ilank
policics and proccdurcs. lhcre is an annual t]udgct approved by thc Board and a Procurcmcnt Plan approvcd
by the Scnior Managcmcnt bclbrc commcnccmcnt of thc llnancial year. Ihc lloard ol'l)ircctors rcccivcs
rcgular managemcnt accounts comparing actual outcomcs against budgcl as a mcans of monitoring actual
llnancial pcrlbrmancc ol thc llank.

6

No Namc Position Disciplinc Mectings
Attended

Dr. Kamau 'l-huggc. CBS Chairman F;conomist 6

2 Dr. Susan Koech Deputy Chairpcrson l_inancial Scctor
[]xpcn

6

3 Dr. Margarct Chemcngich Mcmbcr (llxtcmal) []conomist 6
4 Prof. Jane Kabubo-Mariara Mcmbcr (Uxremal) [':conomist 5

5 Proi Bcnson Atcng' Mcmber (llxtcmal) llconomist 6
6 Mr. Ilumphrcy Muga Mcmbcr (trxtcmal) Iiconomist 4
'l Mr. Musa Kathanic Representativc oIthc

Principal Sccretary. 
-l 

he

National I'rcasury

Ilconomist 6

8 Mr. David l-uusa Mcmbcr (lntcrnal) Economist 6
9 Pnrl- Rohcrt Mudida Member ( lnternal) []conomist 6

a
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CENTRAL BANK OF KI,NYA
STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED ]O JTJNI.- 2024

l. StrtcmcntofCorporateGovernoncc(Continucd)

Llo, lltcrnsl Audit rnd Risk Mrnsg.mcnt

'lhc intcmal audit lunction and risk ovcrsight is pcrformcd by lntcmal Audit l)cpartmcnt. 'l hc dcpartmcnt is
rcsponsiblc lbr monitoring and providing advicc on thc llank's risk and audit framcrvork. All rcporrs of
lntcmal Audt I)cpanmcnt and Risk Managcmcnt (Jnit arc availcd to thc Audit Committcc ol'thc []oard.

Ll l. Trsnspsrency

Ihc llank publishcs an Annual RcFDn. Vonthl] l:conomic Reviov. \\'cckl) Rclcases. Statistical llullctin
and lli-annual Monctary I'olicy Statcmcnts. ln addition. thc Bank issues policl bricfs to lhc Natbnal
lrcasury on both thc Monctary and l:iscal policics. Onanannual basis. thc l,inancial Stat!-mcnts ol'thc
llank arc publishcd in thc Kcn)'a (ialcltc and placcd in thc llank's \tcbsitc.

2.0. F'inrncialPerformance

l hc tlank's llnancial plrftrrmancc is primarill all'cctcd by thc Monctiu] Polic] stancc adoptcd. intcrcst ratcs
and changcs in crchangc rarc. lhc llank's linancial pcrl'ormancc is prcscntcd on pagc 12 k) 2l ofthcsc
llnancial statcmcnts.

I)uring linancial ) car cndcd 30 Junc 2024. the llank recordcd a nct dclicit of KShs 24.342 million comparcd
to a nct surplus ofKShs 150.494 million in thc ljnancial )car cndcd l0 June 2023..thc nct dcficit includcs
an unrealizcd cxchangc loss ol KShs 71.555 million (2023: gain ol Kshs 131.489 million). 'l hc dcllcir is
includcd as pan ofthc (icncral Rcscnc fund.

l)uring thc linancial l car cndcd 30 Junc 202.1. thc llank's opiL'raring surplus was KShs 49.213 million (2023:
KShs 19.005 million) duc to highcr avcragc rctums on thc sccuritics ponlolio and dcposits. An unrcaliscd
lbrcign cxchungc loss ol- KShs 73.555 million rras rccordcrl during thc ycar cndcd 30 Junc 2024 (2023: gain
olKShslll..lS9million)ductothcstrcngthcninSol'rhcKcnlaShillingagainsrrhctJsl)ollar. lhc tlank
alstr rccorde'd a fair valuc gain on llxed incomc sccuritics hcld at lair valuc through othcr comprchcnsivc
incomi.' (|V(X'l) ol KShs 9.691 million (2023: loss of KShs 4.698 million) ils a rcsulr ol highcr markct
priccs. -l'hc 

gain recordcd during the )car hns bccn prcscnlcd in othcr comprchcnsivc incomc.

In addition. an actuarial gain on rctircmcnt bcnefit assct oi KShs 337 million (2023: loss of KShs 2.770
million) rvas also rccordctl.

I hc consolidatcd Bank's asscts incrcascd to KShs 1.960.3 l7 million ( 2023: KShs L783.209 million) mainl)
attributcd to an incrcasc in advanccs to []anks and advanccs on pnrgrams for on-lcnding t0 thc (iovcrnmcnt
ol-Kcnya. l.iabilitics incrcascd to KShs 1.560.359 million (2023: KShs 1.373. t32 million) mainl) duc k) an
incrcase in IMlr liabilitics and dcposits duc to Banks.
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

The Direcrors submit their rcpon bgethcr with thc audited financial statements for the year endcd 30 June 2024.
which shows pcrformance of the Bank during the year and thc statc of affairs of Central Bank of Kenya (the
"Bank'7'CBK") as at thc ye3r end.

I. INCOR"FORATION

'fhe Bank is incorporated by Articlc 231 ofthe Constitution of Keny4 2010

2. PRINCIPALACTIVITIES

'l'he Bank is cstablished and administercd under thc Constitution ofKenya,20l0 with the principal objective
of formulating and implcmenting monetary policy directcd at achieving and maintaining stability in the
gcneral levcl of prices. lt is also thc responsibility of thc Bank to fostcr liquidity, solvcncy and proper
functioning ofa stable market-based financial system. '[he Bank also acts as bankcr, advisor and llscal agcnt
of thc Govemment of Kcnya.

r. RESULTS AND SURPLUS

l he dcficit for the year was KShs 24,342 million (2023: surplus of KShs 150,494 m illion) madc up of KShs
49.213 million (2023: KShs 19,005 million) realized surplus and KShs 73,555 million unrealized loss (2023:
gain ofKShs 131.489 million).-Ihe surplus and deficit havc been included as part ofthe General Reservc
Fund. 'l he directors rccommcnd a ransfcr ofoperational surplus in thc year to 30 Junc 2024 of Kshs 30.000
million (2023: KShs 5,000 million) to the Consolidated lund.

4. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

'[ he mcmbcrs of thc Board of Directors who servcd during thc year and up to thc date ofthis repon are listcd
on pagc l.

5. AUDITOR

lhe Auditor Ceneral is rcsponsible for thc statutory audit ofthc Bank's Financial Statements in accordance
with Scction 35 of the Public Audit Act, 2015. Section 23( I ) of thc Act empowcrs the Auditor-Ceneral to
appoint other audilors !o carry out the audit on his behall Accordingly, Deloittc & Touchc [.[,P werc
appointed to carry out thc audit for thc year cndcd 30 June 2024 and report to thc Auditor Ceneral.

By Ordcr ofl}le Board

Bo
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
STATEMENT OF DIRT]CTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

'l hc Dircctors arc rcsponsible for the prcpardtion of linancial statcmcnts for each financial ycar that givc a true
and fair vicw of the statc of affairs of thc Bank as at thc e'nd of thc financial ycar and of thc Bank's linancial
pcrformance. 'l hc Dire'cton alvr cnsurc that the llank ker:ps propcr accounting rccords that dirlosc. rvith
rcasonablc accuracy. thc financial position ofthc Bank. l'he) arc also responsiblc fo. salcguarding thc asser of
thc tlank.

lhc l)ire'ctors acccpt rcsponsibility for thc preplu-ation and fair prcscntation of financial statcmens that arc lrec
lrum material misstatemcnts rvhdhcr duc to fraud or crror. 'l hcy alvr acccpt n:sponsibility l'or:

(i) I)csigning. implemcnting and maintaining intcmal control nccessary to cnablc the prcpsr.rtion ol'linancial
statemcnls that are litc lrom matcrial misstatcmcnts. whcthcr duc to fraud or error;

( ii) Sclecting and appl) ing appmpriatc accounting policiesi and

(iii) Making accounting cstimatcs and judgments that are rcarcnablc in thc circumstanccs.

'Ihc l)ircctors arc ofthc opinion that thc linancial statcmcnts givc a truc and fair liew ol'thc state ofthc financial
Fbsition ofthc llank as at l0 Junc 2024 and ofthc llank's financial pcrformancc and cash flous lbr thc )'cin thcn
cndcd in accordancc with lntcmational Irinancial Rcpor1ing Standards as issucd by thc lntcmalional Aqcounting
Standards Board and thc requircmcnu of thc Central Bank o/ Kenya /ct.

'lhcsc linancial stalements arc prcparcd on a going conccm basis. taking into account thc lcgal mandatc and
rcsponsibilities ofthc Bank. in particular iLs monctary policy, Iinancial stability and paymcnt system lcadcrship.

Appro\,ed by thc Boad of l)ircctors and signed on its bchalf by:

('ha lrman (iovcmor
I)r. Kamau IhuMr. Andrew Musangi

6 Scptcmbcr 2l)24 6 Scptcmbcr 202,1
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REPUBLIC OF KENYA

OFFICE OF THE AUDITOR.GENERAL
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Anniversary Towers

Monrovia Street
PO. Box 3oo84-ooroo
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REPORT OF THE AUDITORGENERAL ON CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2024

PREAMBLE

I draw your attention to the contents of my report which is in three parts:

A. Report on the Financial Statements that considers whether the financial statements
are fairly presented in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework,
accounting standards and the relevant laws and regulations that have a direct effect
on the financial statements.

B. Report on Lawfulness and Effectiveness in Use of Public Resources which considers
compliance with applicable laws, regulations, policies, gazette notices, circulars,
guidelines and manuals and whether public resources are applied in a prudent,
efficient, economic, transparent and accountable manner to ensure the Government
achieves value for money and that such funds are applied for intended purpose.

C. Report on Effectiveness of lnternal Controls, Risk Management and Governance
which considers how the entity has instituted checks and balances to guide intemal
operations. This responds to the effectiveness of the governance structure, risk
management environment and internal controls, developed and implemented by those
charged with governance for orderly, efficient and effective operations of the entity.

The three parts of the report are aimed at addressing the statutory roles and
responsibilities of the Auditor-General as provided by Article 229 of the Constitution, the
Public Finance Management AcL,2012 and the Public Audit Act, 2015. The three parts of
the report when read together constitute the report of the Auditor-General.

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

The accompanying Consolidated and Bank financial statements of Central Bank of Kenya
(the "Bank") and its subsidiary (together, the "Consolidated"), set out on pages 12 to 118,
which comprise of the Consolidated and Bank statement of financial position as at 30
June, 2024, and the Consolidated and Bank statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, Consolidated and Bank statement of changes in equity and the

t_0r_t
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aConsolidated and Bank statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information have been audited on
my behalf by Deloitte and Touche LLP auditors appointed under Section 23 of the Public
Audit Act, 2015 and in accordance with the provisions of Article 229 of the Constitution of
Kenya. The auditors have duly reported to me the results of their audit and on the basis
of their report, I am satisfied that all the information and explanations which, to the best
of my knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purpose of the audit were obtained.

ln my opinion, the Consolidated and Bank financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the Consolidated and Bank financial position of the Central Bank of
Kenya as at 30 June, 2024, and of its Consolidated and Bank financial performance and
its Consolidated and Bank cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with
lnternational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with the Central Bank of
Kenya Act, Cap 491 ofthe Laws of Kenya and the Public Finance Management Act,2O12.

Basis for Opinion

The audit was conducted in accordance with the lnternational Standards for Supreme
Audit lnstitutions (lSSAls). I am independent of the Central Bank of Kenya Management
in accordance with ISSAI 130 on the Code of Ethics. I have fulfilled other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the ISSAI and in accordance with other ethical
requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in Kenya. I believe
that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
my opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

Dissolution of Kenya School of Monetary Studies

I draw your attention to Note 28(iv) to the financial statements highlighting the dissolution
of the Kenya School of Monetary Studies (KSMS). The dissolution was effected through
a gazette notice on 17 May,2024 wilh an effective dissolution date of 24 April,2024.
Following the dissolution, all assets and liabilities of KSMS were transferred to the Bank
where it will run as a department.

My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional judgement, are of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements. There were no key audit matters to
report in the year under review.

Other Matter

1. Lack of the Required Number of Non-Executive Directors

As reported in the previous year, Section 1 1 (1Xd) of the Central Bank of Kenya Act, Cap
491 of 2014, provides that there shall be eight (8) other Non-Executive Directors of the

Report o/the Auditor-Oeneral on Cenlrol Bank oJ KenlaJitr the year ended 30 June, 2021
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Board. During the year under review, the Bank had only four (4) Non-Executive Directors
in place transacting business on its behalf and whose tenure will end on 4 December,
2024. However, this did not affect the quorum during Board meetings as provided for in
Section 12(2) ol lhe Central Bank of Kenya Act, Cap 491 ol 2014.

There was no amendment to the Central Bank of Kenya Act to provide for reduction in
the number of Directors.

2. Lack ofa Second Deputy Governor

Section 138 (1) ofthe Central Bank of Kenya Act, Cap 491 provides that, there shall be
two Deputy Governors who shall be appointed by the President through a transparent
and competitive process and with the approval of Parliament. During the year under
review, the Bank operated with only one Deputy Governor.

There was no amendment to the Central Bank of Kenya Act to provide for reduction in
the number of Deputy Governors.

Other lnformation

The Directors are responsible for the other information, which comprises the Statement
of Corporate Governance, Report of the Directors and the Statement of Directors'
Responsibilities. The other information does not include the financial statements and my
auditor's report thereon.

My opinion on the Consolidated and Bank financial statements does not cover the other
information and I do not express any form of assurance or conclusion thereon.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

Conclusion

As required by Article 229(6) of the Constitution, based on the audit procedures
performed, except for the matter described in the Basis for Conclusion on Lawfulness and
Effectiveness in Use of Public Resources section of my report, I confirm that, nothing else
has come to my attention to cause me to believe that public resources have not been
applied laMully and in an effective way.

Basis for Conclusion

1 . Delay in Construction Contract

The Bank awarded a contract for the office space optimization and improvement of entry
and exit points at Central Bank of Kenya Headquarters on 16 September,2022 al a
contract sum of Kshs.414,037,056 for a period of six (6) months beginning 16 September,
20221o 16 April, 2023.

Report ofthe Auditor-General on Central Bank o/ Keryafor the year ended 30 June, 2021
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Review of records revealed that the contractor requested for a thirty-seven (37) week
extension of the contract period which was approved on 24 April, 2023 and the extension
contract addendum signed on 3 May, 2023 at no additional cost. Thereafter, the
contractor requested and was granted a second extension for a duration of twenty-four
(24) weeks ending on 14 June, 2024. A third extension was requested, and which
although approved on 10 June, 2024,hhe extension contract addendum was signed on
19 July, 2024 for a period of six (6) months to end on 13 December, 2024. The contract
period has therefore, been extended three (3) times for an additional twenty one (21)
months. Review of the latest valuation certificate dated 19 July, 2024 revealed that
certified works amounted to Kshs.136,685,644 and the works were only at 50% level of
completion, casting doubt that the contract would be completed by 13 December,2024.

The reasons provided by the contractor for the delay in completion included delayed
access to the site, temporary suspension of the site, delays in confirming change orders
and delayed payment of lnterim Certificate No. 3 all of which were in control of
Management.

ln the circumstances, the continued delay in completion of the office space optimization
and improvement of entry and exit points is likely to result in further variation and the bank
has not obtained value for money so far expended.

2. Procurement of Kenyan Currency Printing Services

During the year under review, the Bank procured and signed a currency printing contract
on 22 April, 2024 with a foreign company for a consideration of
Euro103,229,100(equivalent to Kshs.14,509,221 ,629). The procurement was done
through the classified method of procurement under Section 90 of the Public Procurement
and Asset Disposal Act, 2015. Management sought approval for the use of classified
procurement method from the Cabinet Secretary, The National Treasury, which was
granted on 12 January,2024.

However, audit review of the procurement process revealed that the internal processes
prior to the procurement were not followed in compliance with Regulation 84 of the Public
Procurement and Asset Disposal Regulations, 2020 on the identification and assessment
of the suitable currency supplier, the appointment of a special committee to handle the
procurement of classified items, or the requirement for monitoring by the Director-General
of Public Procurement Regulatory Authority in accordance with Section 9(1)(d) of the Act
among other requirements under Regulation 84 of the Public Procurement and Asset
Disposal Regulations, 2020.

ln the circumstances, Management did not fully comply with the Public Procurement and

Asset Disposal Act, 2015 and the attendant Regulations, 2020.

The audit was conducted in accordance with ISSAI 4000. The standard requires that I

comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain assurance
about whether the activities, financial transactions and information reflected in the

Report of the Auditor-General on Central Bonh of Kenya for the year ended 30 June, 2021
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financial statements are in compliance, in all material respects, with the authorities that
govern them. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for my conclusion.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

Conclusion

As required by Section 7(1)(a) of the Public Audit Act, 20'15, based on the audit
procedures performed, I confirm that, nothing has come to my attention to cause me to
believe that internal controls, risk management and overall governance were not effective.

Basis for Conclusion

The audit was conducted in accordance with the ISSAI 2315 and ISSAI 2330. The
standards require that I plan and perform the audit to obtain assurance about whether
effective processes and systems of internal controls, risk Management and overall
governance were operating effectively in all material respects. I believe that the audit
evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
conclusion.

Responsibilities of Management and the Board of Directors

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these
consolidated financial statements in accordance with lnternational Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS), and for maintaining effective internal controls as Management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated flnancial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error and for its

assessment of the effectiveness of internal controls, risk management and governance.

ln preparing the Consolidated and Bank financial statements, Management is responsible
for assessing the Bank's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
Management is aware of the intention to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations.

Management is also responsible for the submission of the financial statements to the
Audltor-General in accordance with the provisions of Section 47 of the Public Audit Act,
2015.

ln addition to the responsibility for the preparation and presentation of the financial
statements described above, Management is also responsible for ensuring that the
activities, financial transactions and information reflected in the financial statements are
in compliance with the authorities which govern them, and that public resources are
applied in an effective way.

Report ofthe Auditor-General on Central Bank of Kenyafor the year ended 30 June, 2024
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The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Bank's financial reporting
process, reviewing the effectiveness of how Management monitors compliance with
relevant legislative and regulatory requirements, ensuring that effective processes and
systems are in place to address key roles and responsibilities in relation to overall
governance and risk management, and ensuring the adequacy and effectiveness of the
control environment.

Auditor-General's Responsibilities for the Audit

My responsibility is to conduct an audit of the financial statements in accordance with the
lnternational Standards of Supreme Audit lnstitutions (lSSAls), Article 229(4) of the
Constitution and Section 35 of the PublicAuditAcl,20lS.

Further, Article 229(6) of the Constitution requires that I express a conclusion on whether
or not in all material respects, the activities, financial transactions and information
reflected in the financial statements comply with the law and other authorities that govern
them and that public resources are applied in an effective way.

ln addition, I also consider the entity's control environment in order to give assurance on
the effectiveness of internal controls, risk management and governance in accordance
with the provisions of Section 7(1)(a) of the Public Audit Act, 2015.

The report is submitted to Parliament in accordance with Article 229(7) ol the Constitution
and Section 48 of the Public Audit Act, 2015.

FCPA BS
AUDITOR.GENERAL

Nairobi

24 September, 2024

Report of the Auditor-General on Central Bank of Kenya /or the year ended 30 June' 2024
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

o
Notcs

2024
KShs'million

2023
KShs'million

Intercst income
lnterest expcnse

Net intercst income

l'ees and commision income
Net trading income
Other income

Operating inclme

Impairment allowance expers€ on linarcial assets

Opersting expenses

Op€rating surplus b€fore unrealized (losses)/gains

U weal ise d (l oss) /goin :
Iioreign exchange (loss/gain

(Deficit)/Surplus for the year

Other comprehcnsivc (loss) / income:

Items lhol arc or mo)/ be subsequently reclossified
to proJit or loss:

Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensivc income
Net change in fair value during thc year
Reclassification to income statement
Changes in impairment allowance

Items ,hat will not be reclassilied to proJit or loss
Actuarial gain(loss) on rctirement benelit asset

Other comprehensive incomey'(loss) for thc year

9(a)

49,2t3 19,005

9(c) (73,s55) 131,489

(24,342\ 150.494

4
5

63,630
(6,s26)

29,020
(3,993)

57,104 25-027

6(a)
6(b)
7(a)

3,000
9,092
I,3t7

3,000
t2,66
1,077

a
70,583 4t.770

(3,782)
(t7,5tt)

(2,8 r 3)
( 19,952)

8

20

l0(a)
l0(b)
8

9,691
9,122

(4,698)
6,6t2

t9

a

r 8.886 1,953

317 (2,7't0\

337 (2.710]

t9.223 (817)

a

'Iotal comprchensive (loss)/income for the year

t2

(5,1l9) 149-677
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
BANK STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

o 2024
KShs'million

2023
KShs'millionNotes

Interest income
lntercst expens€

Net intercst income

Fees and commission income
Net tradinS income
Other income

Operating income

lmpairment allowance expens€ on financial assets

Op€rating expens€s

Operating surplus before unrealized (losses)/gains

U nre al is e d ( I oss) /gai n :
l'oreiSn exchange (loss)/gain

(Deficit/Surplus for the year

Other comprehensivc (loss) / income:

hems that are or may be subsequently reclassiJied
to profil or loss:

Debt instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income:
Nct change in fair value during the year
Rcclassifi cation to income statement
Changes in impairmert allowance

ltems that will not be reclassiJied to proJit or loss
Actuarial gair/(loss) on retirement benefit asset

Other comprrhensive income{loss) for thc year

4
5

63,630
(6,s26\

57,104

3,000
9,092
1,206

70.402

(3,782)
(t1,4071

9,691
9,122

11

29,O20
(3,993 )

25-O27

3,000
t2,666

951

4t,94

(2,8r3)
( 19,826)

(4,69t)
6,612

39

6(8)
6(b)
7(a)

o

t
9(a)

9(c)

49,213 19,005

(73,555) 131,489

(24,342) t50,494

l0(a)
r0(b)
8

20

It,8t6 1,953

337 (2,770)

337 (2.770)

19,223 (8r7)

o

Total comprehcnsive (loss)/incomc for the year

13

(5.1r9) 149.611
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2024

Notcs
ASSt;TS
Balances duc lrom banking institutions
Irunds held with lntemational Monetary Fund (lMl')
Sccurities and advanccs to banks
l.oans and advances
Dcbt instrumcnts at lair value through othcr
comprchcnsivc incomc
[.,quity instrumcnts at fair valuc thruugh olher
comprchcnsivc incomc
Other assets
Gold holdings
RighGol-usc asscts
Propcny and cquipment
lntangiblc asscts
Rctircment bcncfi t assct
IMf On-[,cnt to Govemmcnt ol'Ken]a (GOK)
Duc lrom Govcmmcnt of Kcnya

TOTAr- ASSt.[S

2024
KShs'million

2023
KShs'million

II
l2(a)

l3
l4

484.7t2
52.550

239.847
3.627

42t,469
'13.275

82.469
3.694

l5 564.824 640.530

t2
'1.99'l

150
79

29.7t0
r.998
4.994

326,865
t89.967

o

l6
l7(a)
r7(b)
l8(a)
l8(b)

t9
20

2l(a)
2r(b)

22
23

r2(b)

25(a)
25(b)
25( c)
25(d)
25(e )

ll
'1.i7

I69
64

29.583
2.666
5.861

409.375
160.3 t r

1.960.317 t.783.209

t,IABII,I'IIt;S
Currcncy in circulation
Dcposits due t(, banks and (lovcrnmcnt
Due to IMF'
Other liabilitics

TOI'AI, I,IABII,Il'II,S

t.tQ(_rtIY
Sharc capital
Gcneral rcscrvc fund
ljair value rc'scrvc
Rcvaluation rcscrvc
Consolidatcd fund

l'11 705

647,035
573.412

6.1 l7

315,967
5',12.97 5

4'17,899
6.29t

1.560.359 1.373.132

50.000
300.725
(2.4411

21.680
30.000

38.000
366.730
(2r.313)

21.680
5.000

foTAr. r-rQUr.t Y u99.958 410.o't'l

IOl Al. LTAB .Il rrrs ANI) r]QUI t Y 1.960.317 1.783.209

I hc financial statcmcnts on pagcs l2 to I l8 rvcrc authorised for issuc by thc lloard ol'Dircctors on 6 scptcmbcr
202.1 and signed on its bchalfby

('hairman ol' the lloard

a

Mr. Andrew It4usangi
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
BANK STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2024

ASSIiTS
Balances duc from banking institutions
Funds held with lntemstional Monetary Fund (lMF')
Sccurities and advances !o banks
Loans and advances
Debt instruments at fair value through other
comprehensivc incomc
F4uity instruments at fair valuc thmugh othcr
comprehensivc incomc
Other assets
(;old holdings
Right-of-use assets
Propeny and equipmenr.
Intangible asscts
Retirement benefi t assct
IMF' On-l.ent to Govemment of Kenya (COK)
Due from Govcmmert ofKenya

TOTAI, ASSI.]TS

I-IABII-ITII.]S
Currency in circulation
Dcposits due to banks and Govcrnment
Due to lM['
Other liabilities

TOTAI- I-IABII,ITII]S

EQUTTY
Share capital
Ccneral reserve fund
[-air value reserve
Revaluation reserve
Consolidated fund

1'OTAt. I.:QUI',t-Y

1'OTAt. r.tABtLt'IIES AND IIQUl',tY

Thc financial statements on pages
2024 and signcd on its behalfby:

2024
KShs'million

2023
KShs'million

4E4.312
52.550

239,E47
1.627

Notes

ll
l2(a)
l3
l4

l5

25(a,
25(b)
25(c)
25(d)
25(e)

ll
7,|7

169
64

29,583
2,66
5,E61

409,375
160,31 I

421,469
73,27 5
t2,469
3,694

t2
7,858

t50
79

29.t to
1.998
4,994

326,E65
189,967

564.t24 640.530

l6
l7(a)
l7(b)
l8(a)
r8(b)
l9
20
2l(a)
2l(b)

22
23
r2(b)
24

315,967
572,97 5
477,E9

6,152

t,960,3t7 t,783,070

333.795
647.035
573,412

6,1 l7

1.560.359 1,3'12,993

50,000
300.725
(2.447 |
21.680
30,000

3 8,000
366,730
(21.333)

21.680
5,000

399.958 410.077

1,960,317 t.783.070

l2 to ll8 authoriscd for issue by the Board of Directors on 6 Scptember

\

lrTnan ofthe Board Govemor

a

Mr. Andrcw Musangi
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

OPI.]RATIN(j ACTIVITIES

Cash generated from / (used in) operatinS activities
Interest received
Intercst paid
Interest paid on lease liabilities

Cash generated lrom / (used) in operating activities

lNvF:s' NG ACl tVIt'ttis

Purchasc of property and equipment
Purchase of intangiblc asssts
Proceeds from disposal of prope(y and equipment
Net change in debt instumcnts at fair valuc through othcr comprehensive
incomc
Net change in securities and advances to bsnks
Net change in lunds held with Intemational Monctary !-und (lMf')

Nct cash gcnerated from investing activitics

[-INANCING ACl'IVIl'II'S

Payment of principal ponion of lease Iiabilitics
Receipts from Intemational Monctary F-und (lMF)
Repayments to the lntemational Monctary F'und (lMf-)

Nct cash generated from financing activities

Nct increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at thc beginning of the year
l.)ffect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

2024
Notes KShs'million

2023
KShs' million

26

I t(a)

l8(b)
t9

10,212
62,907
(6,s26)

(7)

( 102,E20)
27,1t9
(3,993)

(5)

66.586 (79,499\

a (1.930)
(955)

4

3 3,909
(21,410)

15,521

( r,449)
( r,865)

4

98,910
(1,300)
10,224

25.139 104,524

l8(a)
27(bl
27(bl

(7 sl
r 39,866
(t,225\

( 57)
96.587
(6.736)

138,566 89.794

230.291
512,I l3
( I 1,446)

I14.8t9
361.875

35.419

cAsltAND cAsH EQtJtVALI.INI S  t ; tiND OIj l l tF: YITAR 2'l (a\ 730,958 5 r 2.1l3

o
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
BANK STATEMENT OF CASTI FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

OPI,RA TING AC f IVI I'II,S
Cash gencratcd from / (uscd) rn opcratrng actrvrtrcs
Intcrcst recervcd
Intcrcst pard

Intcrcst pard on lcasc lrabrlitrcs

Cash gcncratcd liom / (uscd) rn opcratrnB actrvrtrcs

INVLS] tN(i AC Vt I It.S

Purchasc ol'propcny and cqurpmcnt
l'urchasc ol' rntiu8rhlc asscts
Procccds lrom drsposal ol'propcrt) and cqurpmcnt
Nct changc rn dcbt rnstrumens at f,rlr v.rluc through othsr
comprchcnstvc rncomc
Nct changc rn sccuntrcs and adranccs to banks
Nct changc rn lunds hcld rvrth lntcmatronal Monctar,v lund (lMI )

Nct ca5h Bcncratcd l'rom ln\ cstrng actr\ rtrcs

I INAN('INC AC IIVIIIF-S

I'dlment of pflncrpal portlon of lcasc Irabrlrtrcs
Rcccrpts liom lntcmatronal lt4onctar) l'und (lMl )

Repayments (o thc Intcmatronal Monctar) Fund (lMF)

Nct cash gcneratcd lrom llnanclng actr\ rtrcs

Net rncrcasc ln cash and cash cqulvalcnts
('ash and cash cqurvalcnt\ at thc bcgrnnlng oI thc ycar
I-lltct oI lorcl8n c\changc ratc changc\ on cash and cash cqurvalcnt

('ASIt ANI)('ASlt I Q([VAl.t_N'tSA't tHl]ltNt)OI IIIL
YI,AR

2024
KShs'mrllron

2023
KShs'mrllronNotcs

26

I8(a)

l8(b)
l9

to.2't2
62.901
(6.s26)

(7)

( r.e30)
(955 )

4

33.909
(21.4 r0)

t5.521

25. t39

(75)
139.E66
( t.225)

138.566

( 102,t20)
2't .319
(3.993 )

(5)

66.5t6 (79.499)

a
( 1.449)
(t.865)

4

9t.910
( 1.300)
10.224

104.52.1

o l8(a)
27(b)
27(b)

( 57)
96.587
(6.736)

t9.794

230.291
5 r2.ll3
( I t.4.16)

I 14.8 t9
361.875

35,4 t9

:7(a) 730.958 512. 3

o
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTE,S TO THE F'INANCIAL S'IATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

l. CllNliRAl- Inv}ORMA I ION

Ccntral llank of Kcnya (thc "Bank'T' CllK") is cstablishcd undcr Aniclc 231 of thc Constiturion ol Kcnya.
'lhc Ccntral Bank ol'Kcnya is rcsg)nsiblc lor formulating monctary policy. promoting price stability. thc
payment system and perlorming othcr lunctions confcrrcd on it b) the Act ofParliament. 'lhc Bank is wholly
owncd b) thc National 

.l 
rcasury. 'l'hc llank acts as banker. advisor and agcnt of the Govcmment of Kcnya.

2. STJMMARY OI MA'II'RIAI, ACCOI]NIIN(i POI,I('II.;S

'lhc principal accounting policies adopted in thc prcparation ofthcsc financial Statcmcnts arc s(]t out below.
'l'hcse policics havc bccn consistcntly applicd to all vcars prescntcd. unlcss othcnvisc stated.

(a) Ilasis of prcparation

'lhc Iinancial statcments arc prcparcd in compliancc rvith Intcmational financial Rcporting Standards
as issued by thc lntcmational Accounting Standards Board. I'hc mcasurcmcnt basis applicd is thc
historical cost basis. cxccpt whcrc othcrwisc statcd in thc accounting p,olicics bclorv. Ihc llnancial
statcmcnts arc prcscntcd in Kcn)'a Shillings (KShs). roundcd lo thc ncarcst million.

(b) ChanScs in accounting policies and disclosurcs

New and amended slandards

1hc follorving amcndmcnts brcamc cffcctivc during thc prcriod:

Scvcral new and rcviscd standards and interprelations bccamc c[Icctivc during lhc year. lhc Dir!.ctors
have cvaluatcd thc impact ol'thc nc$ standards and intcrprctations and nonc ofthcm had a signilicant
impact on the []ank ard its subsidiat_'\' financial statcmcnls.

I hc follor ing rcv iscd lliRss wcrc cllcctive in thc currcnt l car and thc naturc and the impact o I the
rclcvant amcndmcnts arc dcscribcd belo\\.

mendmcnts to IAS I and ll:RS practicc statcmcnr 2: I)isclosurc of I January'2023 with carlicr application
counting F)licics ittcd

mcndmcnts to IAS 8: l)cfinition ofaccounting cstimatcs I January 2023

plfectiv for onnuol perlods beglnnlng on
bt ofter

New ond Amendmen6 to standatds

|RS l7 lnsurancc Contracts I Januarv 2023

a

o

a

o

a

22



o

a

a

o

o

o

a

a

O

O

a

2

CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

STJMMARY OI MAl'I,RIAL ACCO(JNl'lNG POI,ICIIiS(continucd)

(b). Changcs in accounting policics and disclosurcs (Continucd)

New and ancnded standa s (Continued)

Amcodmcnts to IAS
I snd IFRS pmcticc
strtcErnl 2:
Disclosura of
sccounlirg policics

'lhc amcndmcnts rcquirc that an cntity discloscs its matcrial accounting
policics, instead of its significant accounting policics. F'unher amendments
cxplain how an entit) can idcntify a material accounting pulicy. l.)xamples of
when an accounting policl is Iikcly to bc material arc added. 'lo support th!-
amcndmcnt. thc Board has also dcvcloped guidance and cxamplcs to cxplain
and demonstratc thc application of ihe 'four-step matcriality pruccss'
dcscribcd in ll RS Practicc Statcment 2.

l)isclosurc ofAccounting l'olicies (Amcndmcnts t(, IAS I and llrRS Practicc
Statcmcnt 2) amcnds ln S I in thc follorring wa; s:

a) An cntit!' is norv rcquin"'d to disclosc its matcrial accounting policy
information instead ol'its signilicant accounting policies:

b) scvcral paragraphs arc addcd to cxplain how an cntity can idcnti[y material
accounting grlicy information and to givc cxamples ofwhcn accounting policy
information is likcly to be matcrial:

c) the amcndmcnts clarily that accounting policy inlbrmation may br material
tr,ecausc of its naturc. cvcn il thc rclatcd amounts arc immatcrial: thc
amcndmcnts clari[y that accounl.ing policy information is matcrial if users of
an cntit,'s financial statcmcnts uould nccd it to undcrstand othcr matcrial
information in thc llnancial statcmcnts: and

d) lhc amcndmcnts clarify that if an cntity discloses immatcrial accounting
policl information. such information shall nor obscurc matcrial accounting
policy information.

ln addition. llrRS Practicc Statcmcnt 2 has bccn amcndcd by adding guidance
and cxamplcs to cxplain and dcmonstralc thc applicatbn of thc 'fuur-stcp
matcriality proccss'to accounting policy information in ordcr to supfrcn thc
amendments to IAS I.

'lhe amcndmcnts are applicd prospcctivcl). Ihc amcndmcnts to IAS I arc
ell'cctivc for annual pcriods bcginning on or aftcr I January 2021. Ilarlicr
application is pcrmittcd. Oncc thc cntit) applics thc amcndmcnts to IAS l. ir
is also pcrmittcd to applv thc amcndmqnts to I[]RS Practicc Statcmcnt 2.

lhe changcs did not havc matcrial impact on thc llnancial statcmcnls of thc
llank.

-l-hc 
amcndmcnts rcplacc thc dcfinition ol'a change in accounting cstimatcs

rvith a dcfinition ofaccounting cstimatqs. Iindcr thc ncw dclinition. accounting
estimates arc "monctary amounts in financial statcmcnts that arc subjcct to
mcasurcmcnt unccnaint\'".

I:nlitics dc\clop acc(runting cstimatcs if accounting policics rcquirc itcms in
llnancial statcmcnts to br. mcasurcd in a war that involvcs mcasurcmcnt
unccnainl-,.,. Ihc amcndmcnts clurili thar a cha;gc in accounting cstimarc that
rcsults from ncrr information or ncu dcrclopmcnts is not thc corrcction ol'an
cror.

Amcndmc[ts to IAS
t: Definilion of
rccounting cstimates

o
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JTJNE 2024

SUMMARY OF' MA'fERlAl. ACCOTJN'I lNC POt.lClUS (continued)

(b). Changcs in accounting policics and disclosurcs (Continued)

Nei, and omended slandads (Conlinued)

o

Amendments to IAS
8: Definition of
accounting estimrtes
(contirucd)

'l'hc changes to IAS 8 focus entircly on accounting cstimates and clarity the
lollowing:
a) l'hc dcfinition of a change in accounting cstimatcs is rcplaccd with a
dcfinition of accounting estimates. Under the ncw definition. accounting
cstimatcs arc -monetary amounts in linancial statcmcnts that arc subjcct to
measurcmcnt unccrtainty".

b)l-lntitics devclop accounting cstimates ifaccounting policics requirc itcms in
financial statcmcnts to bc mcasured in a wa1 that involvcs mcasuremcnt
unccrtainty.

c) 'l'he effccts of a changc in an input or a measurcmcnt tcchniqu!' uscd to
dcvclop an accounting estimate arc changcs in accounting estimates ifthey do
not rcsult from thc correction ofprior pcriod crrors.

d) A changc in an accounting cstimatc may affect only the current period's
profit or loss. or the prolit or loss of both the currcnt psriod and luturc periods.
'[ he elfcct of thc change relating to thc cunent pcriod is rccogniscd as incomc
or cxpcnsc in thc currcnt pcriod. Thc effcct. if any. on luture pcriods is

rccognizcd as income or cxpcnsc in thosc futurc periods.

'l'hc amendmcns arc effcctivc for annual pcriods bcginning on or aftcr I

January 2023 and changcs in accounting policies and changcs in accounting
cstimatcs that occur on or aller thc stan of that pcriod. liarlicr application is
pcrmittcd. lhe changcs did not havc material impact on thc financial
statcments ol'the Bank.

IFRS l7 Insurance
Contracts

IFRS l7 cstablishes thc principles lor thc rccognition, mcasuremcnt,
prcscntation and disclosurc of insurance contracts and supcrscdcs IIRS 4
lnsurance Contracts.

l|RS l7 outlines a gcncral modcl, rvhich is modil]cd lor insurancc contracts
with dircct participation ftatures. dcscribed as thc variable lcc app.oach.'l-he
gcncral model is simplificd ifccnain critcria arc mct by mcasuring thc liability
for rcmaining covcragc using thc premium allocation approach.'l'hc gcneral
modcl uscs currenl assumptions to sstimatc the amount. timing and unccrtainty
of luture cash llows and it explioitly mcasurcs thc cost of that uncenainty. It
takcs into acqount markct intcrcst ratcs and thc impact of policyholders'
options and guardntccs.

'lhc []ank docs not havc any contracts that mcet thc definition ofan insurance
contract undcr IIrRS 17.

o
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

S(IMMARY Ol- MAlltRlAt. ACCOUNI lNG POt-ICIUS (continued)

(b). Changcs in accounting policics and disclosures (Continucd)

Nev & amended slandods and Inlerpretofions in issue but not yel elledive

At thc date of authorisation of thcs€ l'inancial statcmcnts, l'hc Bank has not applied thc following ncw
and rcvised I|RS Standards that havc bccn issucd but arc not vct cffective and. in somc cascs. had not

). ct bccn adoptr{ by thc llank:

New and AnEndmenls 10 slahdads

o

a

o

o

a

o

o

o

Amcndmcnts to IAS 2l t,ack of cxchangcability

'fhc l)ircctors do not cxpcct that thc adoptbn of thc Shndards listcd abovc will havc a matcridl impact
on thc financial statcmcnts ofthc Bank in luturc pcriods.

Eady adoption of stsndads

'fhc llank has not carly adoptcd any stardards. intcrprctations or amcndmcnts that havc b,cen issucd but
arc not yct cft'ctive.

Elfiective lot qnnual periods beginnlng on
or sfler
I January 2025

ll'RS l8: Prcscntation and disclosurc in financial statemcnts I January 2027. with earlicr application
pcrm ittcd

Amcndmcnts to ll:RS 9 and I|RS 7: Amcndmcnts !o the
classification and measurcment of linancial statemcnts

I Januaqv 2026

lljRS l9: Subsidiarics
disclosurcs

without public accountability I lanrtarv )027

Amcndmcnts to IAS I - Classification of liabilitics as current
or non-currcnt

I January 2024. with carlicr application
pcrmittcd

nmendmcnts to IIrRS 16 - l,casc l,iabilitr in a Salc and
l,cascback

II:RS Sl Gcncral rcquiremcnts for disclosurc of
sustainability rclatcd financial inlormation

l|RS 52 Climatc .clatcd disclosurcs

Amcndmcnts to IAS 7 turd II'RS 7'. Supplier rtnance
afrongeme4ls

I January 2024. with carlier application
pcrmittcd

I Januan' 2024

I Januarv 2024

I January 2024 as carlicr adoption pcrmitted

Amcndmcnts to InS l- Norr-current l.idbilities with
(-ovenonls

I January 2024 as carlicr adoption permittcd

o

25



I

o

o

o

a

o

a

o

o

a

o

CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. SUMMARY Olj MAl llRIAl- ACCOtJnNIIN(i POLICIITS (continued)

(c) Basisolconsolidation

'l hc consolidatcd Iinancial statcments comprisc thc financial statcments ofthc Ilank and its subsidiary,
Kcnla School ol'Moncta4 Studics. as at Junc 30. 2024. Kcnya School of Monctatl Studics has bccn
consolidatcd as at April 30. 2024 lollowing thc gazcttemcnt o l' liquidation on May I 7. 2024 cffcctivc
l\pril24.2024. I hc inlcstmcnt in subsidian in thc scparatc financial statemcnts is mcasurcd at cust
less impairmcnt.

1 hc Kcny a Sch(xrl of Vonetarl Studics (KSM S) rvas incorporatcd on April I 5. 1997. as a Companl
limitcd by guarantcc b]. thc ('cntral llank ofKcnya (CtlK) and thc National 'l'rcasury to ofl'cr training
and courscs for thc llnancial srctor in Kcnya and thc l.last Alrican rcgion-

In Novcmbcr 2019. thc subscribers of KSMS rcsolvcd to dissolvc it and transl'cr thc activitics ol-thc
Compan)- to CllK. Ihc $inding up proccss has bcen going on. culminating in thc dissolution ol thc
Company through a Kcnya G&.cttc noticc datcd Ma) 17.2024. cll'cctilc the datc oIapplication (April
24. 2024). Conscqucntl) . all thc l'unctions. asscts. and liahilitics of KSMS rvcrc translcncd to the llank
and its busincss. in particular thc [.carning and Capability [)cvclopment lunction. will bc run as a nc\r
I)cpanmcnt ofthc llank undcrthcnamc ('cntral llank oIKenya lnstitutc ol'Monctary Studies.

lnlcr-compan] transactions. balanccs and unrcalised gains on transactions bctwccn ltaik and its
subsidiar) cntitics arc climinatcd on consolidation. Unrcalised losscs arc also eliminatcd unlcss fic
transaction providcs cvidcncc of an impairment of thc ttssct transl'errcd. Accounting policics ol'
subsidiarics havc bcen changcd $hcrc neccssar) k) cnsurc consistcnc) with the policics adoptcd b]
thc Ilank.

(d) |unctional currcncl and translation ol'lbrcign currcncics

l'inctional und presenlotion currency

Items includcd in thc linancial statcmcnts arc mcasured usinB Kcnla Shillings ("KShs") rvhich is the
curcnc)' of thc primaq cconomic cnvironmcnt in which thc Bank opcratcs (thc 'l.unctt)nal
Cuncnq"). l'hc llnancial statcmcnts arc prcscntcd in Kcnla Shillings ("KShs") which is thc Bank's
prcscntation curcnc).

T ransactions arul balances

Forcign currcncy transactions arc translatcd int() thc functional currcnc) using c\changc rittcs
prcrailing i:rt thc dates ol-thc tr.rnsacti()ns or valualion whcrc itcms arc rc-mcasurgd.

Monctary asscts and liabilitics dcnominatcd in Ibrcign currcncics arc translatcd at thc lunctional
curcnc) spot ratcs ofcxchangc at thc rcporting datc.

All lbrcign cxchangc gains and losscs arc prcscntcd in prolit or loss uithin 'foreign cxchangc
gains/(losscs)'.

(c) Currcnc) ln\ cntor)

'I-hc llank s invcntory is compriscd ol nc$ curcnc\ notcs und coins. ln\ cntorics arc statcd at thc sum
olthc production costs. ('ost is dctcrmined using thc llrst-in. first-out (lrll:O) mcthod.

Bank notcs printing crpcnscs and coin minting custs I'or cach dcnomination arc initiall) dcfcrrcd.
Ilascd on thc currcncl issucd into circulation. thc rcspccti\c proponional actual costs incurrcd arc
rclcascd k) prollt or k)ss liom thc dcltrrcd costs account. Ihc dclcrrcd amount is rccogniscd as
'dclcrrcd currcncl cxpcnscs' in othcr aliscts and rcprcscnts un-issucd bank notcs and coins stock.

financial instrumcnts

A lindncial instrumcnt is an) contracl that gi\cs ri*- to a linnncial assct ofonc cntit) and a llnancial
liabilit) or cquil) inslrumcnt ol'anothcr cntitt.
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CENTRAL BANK OF KT,.NYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. SUMMARY Olr MAll;RIAL A('COIJNI lNG POl.l(lll:S (continucd)

(0 Irinancialinstrumcnts(Continued)

financial asscts

I nil iol recogn il ion dnd meosure ment
['inancial asscts arc classified. at initial rccognition. and subscqucntly mcasurcd at amo(iscd cost. lair
!alue thruugh othcr comprchcnsivc incomc (OCl). and fair valuc through profit or loss.

'I-hc classillcation offinancial asscts at initial rccognition dcpcnds on the linancial assct's contractual
cash ilow charactcristics and thc Bank's busincss modcl for managing thcm. 'l'hc [lank initially
mcasurcs a financial asset at its lair \ aluc plus. in thc casc of a I'inancial assct not at fair valuc thmugh
p()fit or loss. transaction costs.

ln ordcr lbr a llnancial assct to bc classificd and mcasurcd at amoniscd cost or dcbt instrumcnts at fair
valuc through OCI. it nc'cds tQ givc risc to cash flo\rs that arc'solcly palmcnts ofprincipal and intcrcst
(SPPI)'on thc principal amount outstanding. lhis asscssmcnt is rcl'cncd to as thc SPPI tcst and is
pcrformcd at an instrumcnt lcvcl.

'l hc Bank's busincss modcl for managing linancial asscts rclcrs to ho$ it mirnagcs its financial asscts
in ordcr to gcncratc cash llorvs. 'l hc busincss modcl dctcrmincs whcthcr cash flows will rcsult from
collccting contractual cash flows. sclling thc linancial asscts. or both.

Purchascs or salcs of linancial asscts that rcquire dclivcry of asscts $ ithin a rimc liirmc cstablishcd by
rcgulalion or convcntion in thc markct placc (rcgular way tradcs) arc rccogniscd on thc scttlcmcnl datc.
i.c.. thc datc thal thc []ank rcccivcs thc asset on purchasc or dclivers thc assct on salc.

Subsequent rneosnremc nt
!or purposcs ofsubscqucnl msasurcmcnt. financial asscts arc classillcd in lbur cntegorics:

I'inancial asscts at arnoniscd cost (dcbt instrumcnts)
I'inancial asssts at l'air valuc through OCI with rccvcling ofcumulativc gains and losscs (dcbt instruments)
I:inancial asscts dcsignatcd at l'air valuc through OCI rvith no rcclcling ol cumulativc Bains and
Iosses uprn dcrccognition (e:quit1 instrumcnts)
Iiinancial asscts at lair raluc through pnrfit or loss

I'inancial asscts at amortiscd cosl (dcbt instrumcnts)

Ihis catcgory is thc mos( rclcvant to thc Uank. 'l'hc Sank mcasurcs financial asscts at am(rniscd cost
il both ofthc following conditi(,ns arc mcl:

'Ihc llnancial assct is hcld $ithin a busincss modcl $ith thc obje'ctivc to hold financial asscts in
ordcr to collcct contmctual cash fltrrvs: and
'I hc contractual tcrms ol'lic finl]ncial asset givc risc on spccificd datcs to cash llows that arc solcl]
pal mcns ofprincipal dnd intqrest on thc principal amount outsranding.

l:inancial asscl.s at amortiscd cost arc subscqucntl) mca-surcd using thc c ll'ccti\ c intcrcst ( ti lR) mcthod
and arc subjcct to impairmcnt. (iains and losscs arc rccogniscd in prolit or loss \vhcn thc assct is
dcrccogniscd. modi licd or impaircd.

lhc llank s llnancial asscts at amortiscd cost includcs balanccs duc lrom banking institutions. l'unds
hcld \rith IMt. sccurities and advanccs to banks. Ioans and advanccs. othcr as:icts (sundry dcbtors).
lMlrOn-l-cnt k) GOK and duc liom Golcrnmcnt ol Kcn\a.

Iiinuncill asscts at luir ruluc through O( l (Jcbt instrumcnts)

I hc llank mcasurcs dcbt instrumcnts at fair !aluc thruugh O('l ifboth ol thc lbllo$ing c(,nditions arc
met:
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. StIMMARY Of MA'IERIAt. A(lCOtrNllNG POt.l('llls (continued)

(f) Financialinstrumcnts(Clontinucd)

['inancial asscts (continuc!!]

l'inancial asscts at fair valuc through OCI (dcbt instruments) (Continucd)

l'he financial asset is hcld within a busincss model with thc objcctive of both holding !o collcrt
contractual cash flows and sclling: and
'l-hc contractual tcrms ofthc financial asset givc risc on spccilied datcs to cash flows that arc zulcly
palmcns ofprincipal and intcrcst on thc principal amount outstanding.

l:or dcbt instrumcnts at fair valuc through OCI. intcrcst income. forcign cxchangc rcvaluation and
impairmcnt allowancc or rcvcrsals arc rccogniscd in profit or loss and computcd in thc samc manner
as for financial ilsscts mcasurcd at amoniscd cost. l hc rcmaining fair valuc changcs arc rccognised in
OCl. t,pon dcrecognition. thc cumulativc fair valuc changc rccogniscd in O( l is rcc),cled to prolit or
krss.

'l hc Bank's dcbt instrumcnts at l'air valuc through OCI includes invcstmcnls in fixcd incomc sccuritics.
|ixed incomc securitics comprisc Govcrnmcnt dcbt seruritics issucd by sovcrcign go!cmmcnts.
Municipal bonds and bonds issucd by intcmational financial institutions.

financial asscts dcsignatcd at fair !aluc through OCI (cquit) instrumcnts)

tlpon initial rccognition. thc []ank can clcct to classify irrcvocably its cquit] inlcstmcnts as cquitl
instrumcnts dcsignatcd at lair valuc through (X'l whcn thcy mcct thc dcfinition ofcquitl under IAS
32 l'inancial lnstruments: Prcscntation and arc not hcld for trading. l hc classification is dctcrmincd on
an instrumcnt-by-instrumcnt basis.

(iains and losscs on thcsc [inancial assets are ncvcr rcc!clcd to profit or loss. I)ividcnds arc rccogniscd
as othcr incomc in profit or loss whcn thc right of palmcnt has bccn cstablished. t.)quit1 instrumcnts
dcsignatcd at l'air valuc through O('l arc not subjcct to impairmcnt asscssmcnt.

Subsequent meosuremenl

'lhc llank clcctcd to classify incvocably its non-listcd equity investmcnts undcr this catcgory as it
intcnds to hold thcsc invcstmcnts for thc forcsccablc l-uturc.

l'inancial asscts at fair valuc through profit or k)ss

lrinancial asscts ar lair valuc thrcugh pnrfit or loss includc linancial asscts hcld lbr trading. financial
assets dcsignatcd up:n initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. or financial asscts
mandatorily rcquircd to t)c mcasurcd at lair valuc. I.inancial asscts arc classillcd as hcld lbr trading if
thc, arc acquircd lbr thc purpose ol'selling or rcpurchasing in thc ncar tcrm. l)crivativcs. including
scparatcd cmbcddcd dcrivativcs. arc also classificd as held for trading unlcss thcy arc dcsignated as

cl1'ectivc hcdging instrumcnts. Irinancial asscts rvith cash flows that arc not solcly paymcnts ol'
principal and intcrcst arc classificd and mcasurcd at lair valuc through prolit or loss. irrcspcctivc of
thc busincss modcl. Not\! ithslanding thc critcria for dcbt instruments to bc clilrsilicd at amortiscd
cost or at l'air !aluc through (X'1. as dcscribed abovc, dcbr insrrumcnts may bc dcsignatcd at lair valuc
through prolit or loss on initial rccogniti<x it doing so climinatcs. or signilicantll rcduccs. an
accounting mismatch.

financial asscts al I'air valuc through prufit or loss arc carricd in thc statcmcnt ol'llnancial position at
fair valuc rvith nct changcs in fair value rccogniscd in profit or loss.

Ihc Bank docs not havc an) llnancial asscts classilic'd undcr this catcg.or)

o

a

2a



o

o

a

o

o

a

o

o

a

CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. SUMMARY Ol. MATI'RIAI, ACCOLNTING POt.lClES (continued)

(f) l;inancialinstrumcnts(continued)

Financial as (continucdl

C lasses of f nancial instrume nts

a
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o

CONSOI-IDATI]D
Category (as defined by IFRS
9)

Class (Ls det.rmined by the Bank) 2024 2023

KShs'million KShs'million

tinsncial
,tsscts

t_insncial assets at
amonized cost

Securities and adv8nces to banks 239,a41 82.469
Funds held with IMI- 52.550 73,275
Ncl advances to slaffand banks under liquidation 3.627 3.694
Other assets (classified as finsncial Lssets) 497 513
Due from Crovemment Covefimenl tcrm loan t6.679 17.7t9

lMtj On.t-enr ro (;oK 409-375 326.865

SDR Allocalion due
from National l reasury

t2.61I 95.72t

GOK Overdrall facility 61.021 76.451
Balanccs duc fiom bankint
rnstltutrons

Forcign cunency
dcnominaled terrn
dcposits and cuEent
account balanccs

4t4.3t2 421.469

t_inancial assets at
L-air valuc through
other
comprehcnsivc
incomc

I ixed income sscurities World Bank managed
and intemally managed
fixed inclme Donfolios

564.824 640.510

l:quity Invcstmcnt sccuaities ll t2

Financial
liabilities

Financialliabilities
al amonised cost

Deposits from banls Cash rcserve ratio and
currenl ac@unt
deDosits

294.324 2l 1.E50

Due to lMl: 573.4t2 477.t99
Othor liabilitics 6.1t7 6.29t
DeposiE from Cmvemmcnt institulions 352,1| 361- t 25
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. SUMMARY Of MAl llRl^l. ACCOt.lNl lNG POI.ICIES (continucd)

(f) |inancial instrumcnts (continucd)

Iinancial asscts (continucd)

a
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I mpa ir me at of linanc ial assets

Ovcrview of Iixpcctcd Crcdit Loss (UCl.) principlcs

Ihc Bank rccognizcs impairmcnt allowancc for cxpcctcd crcdit losscs "liCl," for financial asscts that arc dcbt
instrumcnts and arc not measurcd at ljv lPl-.

'l hc Bank measurcs impairment allowance at an amount cqual to lifctimc ticl, cxccpt lbr thc lollowing for
which thcy arc mcasurcd as l2-month I:Ct,:

r Lixcd incomc securitics $at are dctcrmined to havc low crcdit risk at thc rcponing dutc: and
. othcr linancial instrumcn[s for r\hich credit risk has not incrcascd significantll sincc initial rccognition.

Ihc llank considcrs a debt sccurity to havc low credit risk whcn its crcdit risk rating is equivalcnt 10 thc
globalll understood dclinition of invcsttncnt-Bradc'. |2-month licl- is thc ponion ol li('I, that rcprescnts thc
l.;('[,s that rcsult from dcl'ault e!cnts on a financial instrumcnt lhat are B)ssiblc within thc l2 months aller thc
rcponing datc. linancial instrumcnts for which a l2-month l,('1, is rccogniscd arc rcfcned to as 'Stagc I

linancial instrumcnts'. t-ilc-timc tlcl, arc thc I.:Cl,s that rcsult lrom all g:ssiblc dcfault cvcnts ovcr thc
cxpectcd lil'c of thc financial instrument. l:inancial instruments lor which a Iilctimc ItCl, is rccogniscd but
rvhich arc not crcdit-impaircd arc rclcrrcd to as'Stagc 2 linanci{l instrumcnts'. Irinancial instrumcnts that arc

BANK
Category (as defincd by

]Class 
{as determincd by thc Bank)

rr,8s e)

i

2024

KShs'million

2023

KShs'million

Iinancial Iinancial asscts Sccuritics and advances to banks
sets amonized cost Irunds hcld rvith lMl'

ct advanccs to stafTand banks undcr
uidation

Othcr asscts classified as financial assets

Duc lrom (;ovemmcnt ovcmmcnt tcrm
loan
lMl- OnJ.ent to GOK
SDR Allocation due
lrom National
T

OK Ovcrdraft
facilit

Balances duc from
banking institutions

Foreign currcncy
enominated term

its and currcnt
unt balanccs

Iinancial asscls
at lair valuc
through othcr
comprchcnsivc
incomc

[:i\cd income sccurities World llank managql
d intcmallr
anagcd fixcd

rncomc folios
I.l ult Investment sccurities

239.841 82.469
52.550 13.215

3.627 3.69{

497 4t1
t6.679 l7,7t9

109.375 326.t65
t2.6t I 95,12t

6t.021 76.457

48{.312

561.E24

421 169

640-510

lt t2

I)cposits duc to banks Cash rcservc ratio and
curTent account
dcposits

294.321 2t t-850

l)uc to lMl 513.4t2 171.E99

Othcr liabilitics
Dcposits duc to Govemmcnt institutions

6.t t7 6,t52
36t.t25352,7t I

O
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STAI'EMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. SUMMARY Ol. MAlliRIAt- AC('OtlNl lN(; POLI('lliS (continucd)

(f) Irinancialinstrumcnts(continucd)

l:inancial asscts (continucd)

I mpoirme nt oJ fr nanc ial dsse ls ( conl inued)

considercd crcdit impaircd arc rcl'crrcd to as 'Stag,c I llnancial instruments'. 'l'hc []ank rccords an
allowancc lor thc lilctimc Ii('1,.

Mca-surcmcnt ol' [ ]('1,

liCl, arc a probabilitl--wcightcd cslimatc ol'crcdit lusscs and arc mcasurcd as ibllo$s

linancial asscts that arc not crcdit-impaircd at thc r,cporting date: as thc prcscnt valuc of all cash
shonfalls (i.c. thc difl'crcncc bct\vrln thc cash flows duc to thc Bank in accordancc rvith thc contract
and thc cash llows that thc llank cxpcrts to rcccivc):
financial asscts thal are credit-impaircd at the rcponing datc: as thc dillclcncc bctwccn thc gross

carq'ing amount and thc prcscnt valuc ofcstimatcd futurc cash flows.

Crcdit impaircd linancial asscts

At cach rcponing datc. thc llank asscsscs \rhcthcr financial asscts canicd at amoniscd cost and dcbt
financial asscts carricd at [Vo('l arc crcdit-impaircd (rcfcrrcd to as 'Stage 3 financial asscts'). A
financial assct is 'crcdit impaircd' rvhcn onc or morc c!cnts that havc a dctrimcntal impact on thc
cstimatcd luturc cash florvs ofthc linancial assct havc occurrcd. I-lvidcncc that a financial assct is
crcdit-impaircd includcs thc Ibllorving obscnablc data:

. signilican( financial difficult) ol'thc borro\\'cr or issucr:

. a breach ol'contract such as a dcl'ault or past duc cvcnt:

. thc rcsl.ructuring of a loan or advancc by thc ll.mk on tcrms that thc llank would not considcr
othcnvisc:

. il is bccoming probablc that thc bono$cr rvill cntcr bankruptc) or othcr llnancial rcorganiation;
and.

. thc disappcarancc ol'an activc market for a sccurit; bccausc of llnancial dillicultics.

ln making an asscssmcnt of rvhcthcr an invcstmcnt in solcrcign dcbt is crcdiGimpaircd. thc Ilank
considcrs the lbllorving factos:

. l hc markct's asscssmcnt ofcrcditworthincss as rcl'lccted in the bond yiclds:

. l hc ratine, agcncics' a-sscssmcnts ofcrcdit wonhincss;

. 'lhc country's abilit) to acccss thc capital markcts for nc\r dcbt issuirncc;

. 'lhc prubabilit) ol dcbt bcing rcstructured. rcsulting in holdcn suflcring losscs through roluntar)
or mandatory dcbt lbr8ivcncss: and.

. l hc intcmational supf,ort mcchanisms in placc t0 providc thc ncccssary supf,on as 'lcndcr ol' last
rcson' to that country. as rvcll as thc intcntion. rcllect!'d in public statcmcnts. ofgovcmments and
agcncics to usc thosc mcchan isms. 'l his inclurles an asscssmcnl ol'thc dcpth ofthosc mcchanisms
and. irrcsfrcctivc ofthc politicul intcnt. rvhcthcr thcre is thc capacit] to lulfil the rcquircd critcria.

Prcscntirtion of allowancc lbr l:CL in the shtcmcnt ol' linancial position

lmpairmcnt allorvance Ii)r llCl, arc prcscntcd in thc statqmcnt oflinancial position as lirllou's

llnancial asscts mcasurcd at amortircd cost: as a dcduction lnlm thc gross carrying amount ol'thc
asscts:

debt instrumcnts mcrsurcd at lrVOCl: no impairmcnt allurvancc is rccognizcd in thc statcmcnt ol'
finarcial position hccausc thc canl ing amr)unt ol'thcsc rlsy..ts is thcir I'air I aluc. I loucr cr. trc

o
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. SIIMMARY OF MAl t]RIAl. ACCOt,iNl lNc POI-ICIIiS (continucd)

( 0 l'inancial instruments (continucd)

Ijinancial s (continucd)

lmpairmcnt allowance is discloscd and is recognizcd in thc fair valuc rescrvc with a corrcsponding
chargc to prufit or loss.

a

Derecognition

A financial assct (or. whcrc applicablc. a part ofa financial asset or pan ofa Bank and irs subsidiary of
similar financial asscts) is primarily dcrccogniscd (i.c.. rcmovcd from thc []ank's consolidatcd
statcment of financial position) rvhcn:

'l'hc righls to rcceivc cash norys from thc assct havc expircd
Or
'l hc Bank has transl'crrcd is rights to rcceivc cash flows lrom thc assct or has assumed an obligation
to pay Lhc reccivcd cash flows in full rvithout matcrial dclay to a third pany undcr a'pass-through'
arangcmcnt: and cithcr (a) thc Bank has transfcmd subskrtially all thc risks and r$rards of lhc
assct. or (b) thc Uirnk has ncithcr transl'crred nor rctaincd substantially all thc risks and rcwards of
thc assct. but has transfcrred control ofthe assct.

Whcn thc tlank has transfcrrcd its rights to rcceivc cish florvs lrom an asset or has cntcrcd into a pass-
through arrangcmcnt. it evaluatcs if. and to what cxtent. it has rctaincd thc risks and r$vards of
orvncrship. Whcn it has neithcr translcrrcd nor rctaincd substantially all ofthc risks and rcwards oIthc
assct. nor transfcrrcd confol of thc asset. thc Bank continucs to rccognisc thc transferrcd asset to thc
cxtcnt o f its continu ing involvcmcnt. ln thal casc. thc []ank also rccogniscs an associatcd liability. l hc
translcrred asset and thc associated liability arc mcasurcd on a basis that rcllccts thc rights and
ohligations that thc Bank has ncuincd.

Continuing involvemcnt that takcs the lorm ol-a guarantec ovcr the transfcrrcd assct is mcasurcd at thc
lowcr of thc original carr) ing amount ol'thc assct and thc maxim!m amount of considcration that thc
Bank could bc required to rcpay.

Writc-offs

l,oans. rcccivables and dcbt sccuritics arc writtcn oll'(cither partially or in l'ull) whcn thcre is no
rqasonable cxpcctation of rccovcring a linancial assct in its cntircly or a ponion thcr$f. lhis is
gcncrall) thc case when thc Bank dctcrmincs that thc borro\rcr docs not havc assets or yJurccs o[
incomc that could gcncratc sumcicnt cash flows to rcpa) the amounts subjcct to thc rvritc-off. 'l his
asscssmcnt is carIicd out at thc individual asset levcl.

Rccovcrics of amounts prcviously rvrittcn offarc includsd in 'impairmcnt allowance on financial
instruments' in profit or loss.

['inancial asscts that arc writtcn olTcould still bc subjcct to cnforcemcnt actiritics in ordcr to compll
with thc Rank's proccdurcs lbr rccovcry ol'amounts due.

Irinancial liabilitics

I nil iul recognition and medsure me nl

linancial liabilities arc classificd. at initial rccognition. as financial liabilitics at lair valuc through prulit
or loss. loans and bonorvings. payablcs. or as dcrivatives dcsignatcd as hcdging instrumcnts in an
clI'cctive hcdgc. as apprupriatc.
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL ST'ATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. StIMMARY OF MAl l,RlAL ACCOtnil lNC POLI('ltis (continucd)

( l) liinancial instrumcnts (continucd)

All financial liabilitiss arc rccogniscd initially at fair value and. in thc casc of loans md bonorvings and
payablcs. nct of dircctly anributablc transaction costs. l'he Bank's financial liabilitics includc investrncnt
by banks, deposits from banks and govcmmcnt. duc to lMlr and othcr liabilitics.

Su bseq ue nt me arure me nl

l hc mcasurcment of linancial liabilitics dcpcnds on thcir classillcation. rs dcscribcd bclorv

Iinancial liabilitics at fair valuc through prclit or Ioss

l'inancial liabilitics at fair valuc through prolit or loss includc financial liabilitics hcld for trading and
Ilnancial liabilitics dcsignatcd upon initial recognition as at lair raluc through prufit or loss.

l'inancial liabilitics arc classillcd as hcld lirr trading ifthcy arc incuncd lor thc purp,osc ofrcpurchasing
in thc ncar !crm.

(iains or losscs on liabilitics hcld lbr trading arc rccognised in prolit or loss. I.inancial liabilitics
dcsignatcd upon initial rccognition at l'air valuc through prclit or loss arc dcsignatcd at thc initial darc of
rccognition. and only ifthe critcria in II:RS 9 is satisl]cd.

lhc llank has not designatcd an) flnancial liabilit) ai a[ fair valuc through pmfit or loss

Loans and borrorvings

Ihis is thc catcgory most rclcvant to thc Bank. Aftcr initial rccognition. intcrcst-bcaring loans and
Lxrrrowings arc subscqucntly mcasurc{ at amoniscd cost using thc I.lflcctivc Intercst Rate (tllR) mcthod.
(iains and losses arc rccogniscd in prolit or loss whcn thc liabilitics arc dcrccognizrd as rvell as through
the lilR amortisation proccss.

Amortiscd cost is calculatcd by taking into account an) discount or prcmium on acquisition and fe.cs 0r
costs that arc an intcgral part ol'thc IllR. 'lhc lilR amortisation is includcd as financc costs in prollr or
klss.

l his catcgory gcncrally applirs to dcposits fmm banks and govcmmcnL duc to IM li and othcr liabilitics

A financial liability is dcrecognised rvhcn thc obligation undcr thc liabilitl.' is dischargcd or canccllcd or
cxpircs.

Whcn an cxisting financial liability is rcplaccd by anothcr lrom thc samc lender on substantially diffcrcnt
tcrms. or thc terms ofan c\isting liability arc substantiall) modillcd. such an cxchan8c or modilication
is trcatcd a.s thc dcrccognition ol'thc original liabilit)' and thc rccog,nition of a nc\r liabilitl. Ihc
dillcrcnce in thc rcspcclivc carr,ving arnounts is rccogniscd in profit or loss.

Ollictting linancial instrumcnl:

lrinancial asscts and liabilitics arc offsct and thc nct amount rcponcd in thc statcmcnt ol'linancial
position \rhcn thcrc is a lcgoll) enlbrccablc right to oll:scl thc rccogniscd amounts and thcrc is an
intcntion to scttle (,n a nct basis. or rcalisc thc assct and scttle the liabilitr simultancouslv-

(g) Salc anr.l rcpurchasc u8rccmcnts

Sccuritics sold subjcct to rcpurchasc agrccmcnts ('rcpos') arc rcclassificd in thc llnancial statcmcnts
as plcdScd asscts whcn the (ranslcrcc has thc right b\ contract or custom to scll or rcplcdgc thc
collatcral: tht countcrpartl liabiliti is includcd in invcstmcnts br banks.
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CENTRAL BANK OF'KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATUMEN-I'S (continued)
FOR THt] YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. StiMMARY O| MAl l,RlAl- ACCOTiNl lNC I,Ot.lcllis (continucd)

(g) Sale and repurchase agrccmcnts (('ontinucd)

Sccuritics purchascd undcr agrqcmcnts to rqscll ('revcrsc rcpos')are rccordcd ari advanccs to banks.
'[ hc diflerencc bctwccn salc and rcpurchase pricc is trcatcd as intcrcst and accrucd ovcl thc lil'c of thc
agr!-cmcnls using thc cl1'cctivc intcrcst mcthod. Sccuritics lcnt to countcrpanics arc also rctaincd in
thc fi nancial statcmcnts.

I hc llank fnrm timc to timc mops up monc) from thc fi nancial market ('rcpos' ) or injects monc)- into
thc markct ('rcvcrse rcpos') with maturitiqs of4 - 7 days. 

.l 
hc tlank cngagcs in thcsc transactions with

commcrcial banks onll. -l 
hcsc havc bccn discloscd in thc llnancial statcmcnts as advanccs k) banks.

(lash and cash cquivalcnts

Cash and cash cquivalcnts includc cash in hand. dcposits hcld at call with banks and othcr shon+crm
highll liquid invcstmcnts rvith original maturitics ofthrcc months or lcss.

I:or thc purposc of thc consolidatcd slatcmcnt of cash llows. cash and cu;h cquivalcnts consisl of
balanccs duc liom banking institutions. ljxcd incomc sccuritics and sccuritics and advanccs to banks
rvith maturitics uf lcss than thrcc months.

(i) Propcrt) and cquipmcnt

t,and and buildings comprisc mainly branchcs and ofliccs. All cquipmcnt uscd by thc llank is statcd at
cost. nqt ofaccumulatcd dcpreciation and accumulatcd impairmcnt allorvancc. ifanl'- Work in progrcss

is statcd a! cost nct ol'accumulatcd impairmcnt allowancc. if any. Ilistorical cost includcs cxpcnditurc
that is dircctl) attributablc to thc acquisition ol-thc items. Land and buildings arc mcasurcd at fair valuc
lcss accumulatcd dcprcciation and impairmcnt allortancc rccogniscd altcr thc datc of rcvaluation.
Valuations arc pcrlormcd cvcry live ycars to cnsure that thc carrying amount of a rcvalucd assct docs
not di1Lr matcriall) from its I'air valuc in accordancc \tith lliRS. Additions are donc pcr itcm purchascd
and shall includc thc cost ofacquisition togcthcr $ith all thc incidcntal cxpcnscs rcasonabl) incurrcd
to put th!'assct into cflcclive usagc. l)cprcciation lbr additions is clltctcd from thc datc ofacquisition.

A rc\ luation surplus is rccordcd in (Xl and crcditcd to thc asset rcraluation surplus in equitl.
I lowcvcr, to thc cxtent that it rcvcrses a rcvaluation dcficit ol'thc samc assct prcviously rccogniscd in
thc prollt or loss. thc incrcasc is rccogniscd in prufit and loss. A rcvaluation dclicit is rccogniscd in
prolit or loss. cxccpt to thc cxtcnt that it ollscts an cxisting surplus on thc samc assct rccogniscd in lhc
assct rc!aluation surplus.

Subscqucnt cxFrgnditurcs arc includcd in thc assct's canl ing amount or arc rccogniscd as a scparatc
assct. as app()priatc. only whcn it is probable that futurc cconomic bcncfits associated rvith thc itcm
rvill florv to thc llank and thc cost of thc itcm can be mcasurcd rcliabl;-. 

-l 
hc carrying amount ol'thc

rcplac.'d pan is dc-rccogniscd. All othcr rcpair and maintcnancc costs urc chargcd to pnrlit or loss
during thc linancial pcriod in which thcy arc incurrcd.

I'rcchold land is not dcprcciatcd. Dcprcciation of othcr asscts is calculatcd using thc straight-linc
mcthod 1() allocatc thcir cost or rcvalucd amounts to thcir rcsidual valucs ovcr thcir estimatcd uscful
Iivcs. as lbllorrs:

Assct classilication

(h)

o

I-caschold land
Iluildings
Motor vchiclcs
l:umiturc and cquipmcnt
('omputcrs

L.tsclul lilc
Ovcr thc pcriod of thc lcasc

20 ) cars
4 ycars

5 - l0 l cars
4 r'cars

l)cprcciation ratc

5oh
25%

to-200/0

25v.

No dcprcciation is chargcd on rrork in progrcss and asscts hcld in clcaring accounts. Dcprcciation ol'
propcrt) and cquipmcnt is madc I'rom datc ofplaccmcnt to usc and it ccuscs $h(]n thc assct is ob$lctc.
classificd as hcld lbr salc. lulll dcprcciatcd or dcrccognizcd as pcr policy.

An itcm ol prol^-n1 and cquipmcnt and an} siSnillcant purt initialll rccogniscd is dcrccogniscd uSxrn

disposal (i.c.. nt thc datc thc rccipicnt ohtains control) or whcn no Iuturc cconomic bcncfits arc

a
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES 1'O THFI F'tNANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. St-TMMARY OIr MAl llRlAt. A('COtrTi.l'lN(; POI-lCIt.:S (continucd)

(i) Propcny and equipmcnt (('ontinu!-d)

cxpcctcd l'mm its usc or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on dcrccognition olthc assct (calculatcd as
thc dilTcrcncc betwccn thc nct disposal procccds and thc carrying amount of the assst) is includcd in
profit or loss rvhcn thc assct is dcrccogniscd.

'Ihc rcsidual valucs. uselul livcs and mcthods ofdcprcciation ofpropcnl and cquipmcnt irc revicwcd
at cach tlnancial ycar cnd and adjustcd p()spccl.ivcl). ifappropriatc.

0 ) Intangiblc asscts

('osts associatcd \vith mainlaining computcr solhrarc progrirmmes arc rccogniserl as an cxpcnsc as
incurrcd. Dcvclopmcnt costs that arc dirc'ctl1 atributablc to thc dcsign and rcsting of idcntitlablc and
uniquc snllrvarc products controllcd b) thc llark arc rccognisciJ as intangiblc asscts whcn thc follorving
critcria arc mct:

(i) lt is tcchnically lcasiblc to complctc thc softrvarc pruduct vr that it \vill bc availablc for usci
(ii) Managcmcnt intcnds to complctc thc softrvarc product and usc or scll itl

. thcrc is an ability to uss or scll thc $llwarc product:

. it can bc dcmonstratcd horv thc soflwarc product $ill gcncratc prubablc liturc cctrnomic
bcncfits;

. adcqualc tcchnical. Iinancial and othcr rcsourccs to complctc thc dcvelopmcnt and to us! or scll
thc soft\rarc product arc availablc: and.

( iii) 'l hc c\F-nditurc attributablc to thc softrvarc product during its dcvclopmcnt can bc rcliably mcasurcd.

l)ircctly attributablc costs that arc capitaliscd its pan of thc softrvarc pruduct includc thc sollrvarc
dcvclopmcnt cmpblcc costs and an apprupriatc f[nion oIrclcvant o\crhcads.

Othcr dcvclopmcnt cxpcnditurcs that do not mcct thcac critcria arc rccognised as an cxp,cnsc as incurcd.
I)clclopmcnt costs prcviously rccogniscd il,s an cxpcnsc arr not rccogniscd ils an assct in a subscqucnt
puriod.

('omputcr y)lltlarc dcvck)pmcnt costs rccogniscd rs asscs arc ameniscd over thcir cstimatcd uscful livcs.
('omputcr snftsarc undcr installation and not )cl placsd in usc is hcld in sollwarc clcaring account and
not amoni,/cd until commissione'd.

Acquircd computcr vrllwarc arc capitaliscd on drc basis ol'thc cr)sls incuBcd to aqluirc and bring to usr
thc splrillc s<)l-twarc. Ihcsc costs arc amoniscd on &c basis ofthc cxp(.ctcd u*lirl livcs. Soft\an: has a
maximum cxpcctcd usclirl Iil'e ol'5 ycars.

'lhc rcsidual valucs. uscful livcs and mcthods of anonisation ol'intangiblcs arc rcviervcd at cach
financial lcar cnd and adjustcd prusp(.cti!clv, il appropriatc.

Softvtare-ara-se n'ic e (Saa-\) arrangemenl cosls

A SaaS arrangcmcnt is a scn'ice arr.mgcmcnt whcrc thc Bank h&\ a right to access to lhc supplicr's
application sollr,larc running on thc supplicr's cloud inl'rasructurc during thc tcrm ol'thc anangcmcnt. but
not conlrol ovcr thc undcrlying $llrlarc asset. Costs to implcmcnt a SaaS arrdngLTcnt. including thosr
incurrcd in conligurin8 or customising lic acccss to thc supplicr's applicirtion soli$ure. arc cvuluatcd tu
dctcrminc il'ticy givc risc to a sepamtc assst thdt thc llank contruls. Any rcsulting assct is rccogniscd and
accountcd lirr in accorduncc rvith thc policl lilr intangiblc as*ts as sct out in notc 20 ). lmplcmcnlation costs
that do not gi\c risc to an assct are rccogniscd in prolit or loss as incurmd. which ma) bc o\cr thc pcriod
thc conliguration or customisation scn iccs arc rcqcivcd to thc cxtcnt that such sr-'rr iccs arc distinct l'rom thc
SaaS. or ovcr thc tcrm ol'thc S.urS arrangcmcnt to the c\tcnt thc conllguration or customisation scn iccs arc
not distinct liom thc SaaS. PlLlmcnt madc in adrancc ofrccciring thc rclatcd seniccs is rccogniscd as
prcpalmcnt.
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CENT'RAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAI- STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. StIMMARY Ol: MAI IiRIAL ACCOUNl'lN(i POI,ICIES (continued)

(k) lmpairmcnt of non-llnancial asscts

Non-financial asscts arc asscts whosc value is dcrivcd by its physical nct worth rather than from a
ontractual claim. Asscts arc revicwcd for impairment whcnevcr cvcnts or changes in circumstanccs
indicatc that thc carryinB amount may not bic rccovcrablc. An impairmcnt loss is recogniscd for thc amount
by which thc asset's carrying amount cxcccds its recovcrablc amount. lhe rccovcrable amount is thc
higher of an assct's l'air valuc lcss costs of disFrosal and valuc in usc. ln asscssing thc valuc in usc. thc
cstimatcd futurc cash florvs arc discountcd to thcir prev:nt valuc using a discount ratc that rcllccts currcnt
markct asscssmcnts ol thc timc valuc of monry and thc risks sp,ccific to thc assct. l.or lhc purfrosDs of
asscssing impairmcnt. asscts are groupcd at thc lorvcst lcvcls for rvhich thcrc arc separatcly idcntifiablc
cash fl ows (cash-gcncrating units).

-l 
hc impairmcnt tcst also can be pcrformcd on a singlc assct when thc fair valuc less cost ofdisB)sal or lhc

valuc in usc can be dctcrmincd rcliablv. Non-finarcial asscts that suflercd impairmcnt arc rcvicrvcd krr
possiblc rcvcrsal ofthe impairmcnt at cach rcporting datc.

lmpairmcnt allowance of continuing operations arc rco:ogniscd in profit or loss in crpcnsc catcgorics
consistcnt with thc function olthc impaircd asscL cxccpt lor propcrties prcviously revalued with thc
revaluation laken to OCI. for such propcrtics, lhc impairment is ri:cogniscd in OCI up to thc amount ofan)
prcvious revuluation. lmpairmcnt allowancc rccognizcd in prior pcriods arc asscsscd at cach rcponing datc
for any indications that thc loss has dccrcascd or no longcr cxists.

A prcviously rccognised impairmcnt loss is rcvcrscd only ifthcrc has bccn a changc in thc assumptions
uscd to detcrminc thc assct's rccoverablc amounl sincc thc last impairmcnt loss tvas rccogniscd. l'hc
rcvcrsal is limitcd so that thc carD ing amount of thc asylt docs not excccd its rccovcrablc amount or
excccd ths carrying amount that \!ould have bccn dctcrmincd. nct of deprcciation or amortisation. had
no impairmcnt loss becn rccogniscd lbr thc assct in prior ycars. Such rcversal is rccogniscd in profit or
loss unlcss thc asset is carricd at a rcvalucd amount. in rvhich casc. thc relcrsal is trcatcd as a rcvaluation
incrcasc. An impairmcnt loss recogniscd lbr goodlvill is not rcvcrscd in a subscquent pcriod.

(l) l,mployce bencfits

'Ihc Bank opcrates a dcllncd bencl'it schcmc and a dcllncd contribution pcnsion schcmc. 
.l-hc 

schcmcs
arc llndcd through pa) mcnts to trustcc-administcrcd funds on a monthl) basis.

On thc dcfined contribution schemc, thc Ilank pays fixcd contributions t<l thc schcmc. I-hc payments arc
chargcd to thc prollt or loss in thc J-car to \vh ich thc) rclatc. I hc llank has no l'unhcr palmcnt obligation
oncc thc contributions have bccn paid.

'I'hc dclincd bcncllt plan dcfincs an amount ol'pcnsion bcncfit that an cmplo)sc will rcccilc on
rctircmcnt. dcpcndcnt on agc, ycars of scrvicc and compensation. 1he l:und is closcd to ncw mcmbers
$ith elltct liom l0 Scptcmbcr 2012. (ontinuing Mcmbcrs who did not opl to accruc future bcncllts in
thc I)C Schcmc) continuc accruing bcncfits undcr thc l;und. l hc Central llank ofKcn)a (.1he SponyJr")
is the guarantor ofthc Iiund.

l-hc assct rccogniscd in thc statcmcnt of llnancial Jxrsition in rcspcct ofdcfincd hcnellt pcnsion plans is
thc prcscnt valuc ofthc dcllncd bcncljt obligation ar thc cnd ofthc rcponing pcriod lcss thc lair raluc ol'
plun asscts. togcthcr rvith adjustmcnts lor unrccogniscd past-scn icc costs. 'l hc dcfincd bcncllt obligation
is calculatcd annually b, indcfxjndcnt acluarics using thc prujcctcd unit crcdit mcthod. 

.l 
hc prcscnt valuc

ol the dcfincd bcncllt obligation is dctcrmincd b) discounting thc cstimatcd futurc cash outflo$s using
intcrcst ratcs o[ govcrnmcnt bonds that arc dcnominatcd in thc currcnc] in rvhich thc bcncfits will bc
paid. and that havc tcrms to maturity approximating to thc tcrms ofthc rclatcd pcnsion obligation.

a

a

36



a

O

o

o

a

o

a

a

a

a

CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO TtlE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. SLjMMARY Ol' MA'lliRlAl. ACCOTJNTING POI.ICILS (continucd)

( l) Iimploy-cc bcnclits (Continucd)

l'ast-scnicc costs arc rccogniscd immcdiatcly in prolit or loss. unlcss thc changcs to thc pcnsion plan
arc conditional on thc cmployccs rcmaining in scrvicc lor a spccificd pcriod of timc (thc vcsting
pcriod). In this casc. thc past-scrvicc costs arc amortiscd on a straight-linc basis over thc vcsting pcriod.

'l hc Uank and all its cmplo)ccs contributc to thc National Social Sccuritl l:und. which is a dcfincd
cnntribution schcme.

n dcllncd contribution plan is a rctircmcnt bcncfit plan undcr rvhich the llank pal s fixcd contributions
into a scparatc cntit). 'lhc llank has no lcgal or constructivc obligations to pay lunhcr contributions
il'thc lund docs not hold sumcicnt asscls to pay all employccs thc bcncfits rclating to cmploycc
scrvicc in thc currcnt and prior pcriods.

Ihe llank's contributions to thc dcfincd contribution schcmcs arc chargcd to prollt or loss account in
the !car in \vhich thc! lallduc.
'lhc cstimatcd monctary liability Ibr cmployccs' accrucd annual lcavc cntitlcmcnt at thc rcponing
datc is recogniscd as an c\pcnsc accrual.

(m) lncomc tax

Scction 7 of thc Incomc -l ar Act cxcmpts thc Ilank lrom anl- taxation imposcd by law in rcspcct ol-
incomc or prollts. Ihis crcmption includcs stamp dut) in rcsptct of instrumcnts c\ccutc{ b} or on
bchalfofthc llank.

(n) Provisions

['ror isions arc rccogniscd r\hcn: ] hc llirnk has a prcscnt lcgal or constructivc obligation as a rcsult ol'
past c!cnts; it is probablc thal an outflow of rcsourccs rvill bc rcquircd to scttlc thc obligation: and
thc amount has bccn rcliabll cstimatcd.

whcrc thcrc arc a numbcr ol'similar obligations. thc likclihood that an outflow rvill bc reluircd in
scttlcment is dctcrmincd b1 considcring the class ol-obligations a:i a lvholc. A provision is rccognised
crcn ilthc likclihood ol'an outflo$ rlith respcct to anl onc itcm includcd in thc samc class of
obligations may bc small.

Provisions arc mcasured at thc prescnt value ofthc cxpcndilurcs c\pccte{ to bc requircd to scttlc thc
obligalion at a ratc that rcllccts currcnt markct asscssmcnts of thc timc valuc of monc) and the risks
splcific to the obligation. l hc incrcasc in thc prov ision duc to passagc of timc is rccogniscd as intcrcst
cxpcnsc.

(o) Surplus l'unds

lhc (-entrol Rank of Keny.t ,.lcl (Cap 19 I ) allo\rs thc llank to rctain at lcast l07o or an) othcr amounts
as thc board. in consultation with thc ministcr. may dctcrminc. ol'the nct annual prolit (surplus) ol'
thc bank allsr allowing I'or thc cxpcnscs ofoperations and allcr provision has bccn madc lbr bad and
doubtful dcbts. dcpreciation in asscts. contributions to stafl bcnefit funds. and such othcr
contingcncies and accounting prol isions as thc []an k dc'r:ms appropriatc. An1 surplus funds proposcd
lbr distribution to thc Govcmmcnt of Kcn\ a shall bc hcld in thc consolidatcd lund.

(p) Sharc capital

Ordinar) sharcs arc classillcd as 'sharc capital' in equitl.

(q) l.cascs

a

l hc llank asscslus at contract inccplion \lhcthcr a contract is. or L.ontains. a lcasr'. 
-l 

hat is. il'thc contrdct
conrc;-s lhc right to control thc usc ol-an idcntilicd assct lor a pcriGl ol'timc in cxchangc lilr
considcration.
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NOTES 'IO THE FINANCIAT. STATEMEN'I'S (continued)
FOR ]'HE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. SUMMARY Of MAII:RlAl. ACCOIjNI ING I,Ol.l('lt;S (conrinucd)

(q) l,cascs(continucd)
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a
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Bank ae a lessee

'lhc llank applics a singlc rccognition and measurcmcnt appruach for all lcascs. exccpt for short-tcrm
lcascs and leirries ol'low-valuc assets. 'l hc []ank rccognises lcasc liabilitics to make lcasc paymcnts and
right-of-usc asscts rcprcsenting the right to us{: thc undcrl}ing aisels.

Right{l'-use asscts

'lhc llank rccogniscs right-ol'-use osscts at thc commcncemcnt datc of thc lcasr (i.c.. thc datc thc
undcrlling assct is availablc lbr usc). Right-of-use ass!-ts arc mcasurcd at cost. less an; accumulatcd
dcprcciation and impairmcnt allorlance. and adjustcd lbr any rcme-asurement ol'leasc liabilitics. -l-hc 

cost
ol'rightof-usc asscts includcs thc amount of lcasc liabilitics rccognisrd. initial dircct costs incurred. and
lca* paymcnts madc at or bcforc thc commcnccmcnt datc lcss any lcasc inccntilcs rcccivcd. Right-of-
usc asgcts arc dcpreciatcd on a straight-linc basis ovcr thc lcasc tcrm as lbllous:

Iluildings Above I ycar to 5 ycars

|quipmcnt Above I ) car to 5 years

'Ihc right-ol'-use asscts arc also subjcct to impairmcnt. Rcl'cr to rhc accounting policics in Notc 2(k)
impairmcnt ol' non-fi nancial asscts.

l-casc liabilitics

At thc commcnccmcnt datc ol'thc lcasc. thc llank rccognizcs lcasc liahilitics mcasurcd at thc prcscnt
valuc ol'lcirsc pavmcnts to bc madc ovcr thc lcase tcrm.'lhc lca$ paymcnts includc fixcd palmcnts.

ln calculating thc prcscnt valuc of lcasc paymcnts. thc Ilank uscs its incrcmcntal borrowing rdtc at thc
lcasc commcnccmcnt datc bocausc thc intcrqsr rate implicit in thc lcasc is not rcadill dclcrminablc. Alicr
thc commcnccmcnt darc. thc amount of lcasc liabilitics is incrcasc'd to rcflcct thc accrction o f intcrcsl and
rcduccd lbr the lcasc par mcnts madc. In addtion. thc carrying amount of lcasc liabilities is rcmcasurcd
il'therc is a modification. a changc in thc lease tcrm or a changc in thc lcase paymcnts.

Ihc llank s leasc Iiabilitics arc includcd in Othcr liabilitics (scc Notc 2.1).

Shorl{crm lcasrs and leases o[ low-\'aluc asscts
'l'hc llank applirs thc short-tcrm lcir-sc rccognition c\cmption to its shon-tcrm lcascs of buildings and
cquipmcnts (i.c.. lhosc lcayes that ha\c a leasc tcrm of l2 months or lcss l'rom thc commcnccmcnt datc
imd do not contlin a purchayj op(ion). lt alsl applics thc lcasc of lo\v-\ aluc asscts rcr'ognition c\cmption
to lcascs of cquipmcnts thal arc considcrcd to bc low valuc. Lcirsc pa) mcnts on shon-rcrm lcases and
lcascs oflow-valuc asslts arc rccogniscd as cxpcnsc on a straightJinc basis ovcr thc lcasc tcrm.

Bunk as a lessor

l.cascs in r\hich thc llank docs not transfcr substantiall) all thc risks and rcwards incidcntal to owncrship
of an irssst arc classilicd as opcrating lc-arcs. Rcntal income arising is accountcd lbr on a straightlinc
b&sis over thc lcasc tcrms and is includcrl in rcvcnuc in thc statcmcnt ol-prollt or loss duc to its opcrating
naturc.

(r) Inlcrcst incomc and c\pcnsc

lnlcrcst incomc and expcnsc lbr all intcrcst-bcaring financial instrumcnts arc rccogniscd in prolit or
loss using thc eliccti!c intcrcst mcthod.

Ihc cllcctirc intcrcst mcthod is a mcthod ol'calculating thc amortiscd cost ol a linancial assct or
liabilitl and ol allocating thc intcrcst incomc or intcrcst cxpcnsc ovcr thc rclcvant pcriod.'lhc
cllccti\c intcrcst ratc is thc r,rtc that c\actl) discounts cstimatcd llturc cush pa!mcn1s or recciptli
through thc c\pcctcd lilt ofthc linancial instrumcnt lo thc nct carrling amount olthc llnancial assct

o

o
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CENTRAI. BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STA'I-EMENTS (continued)
FOR T].IE YEAR ENDED 30 JI.JNE 2024

STJMMARY OF MA'tliRlAt. ACCOLIn*l lNc POLlCll.:S (continucd)

(r) lntcrcsi incomc and expcnse (continuL{)

lces and commissions are gcncrally rccogniscd on an accrual basis rvhcn thc servicc has bccn
providcd. I'ecs and commission incomc arc rccognised at an amount that.c0ccts the consideration to
rvhich thc Ilank cxpects to bc cntitlcd in cxchangc lbr providing thc scrviccs.

I hc p-rlbrmancc obligations. as ucll as thc timing ofthcir satislaction. arc idcnrilled. and dctcrmined.
at thc inception ol thc contract. lhc Ilank has gcncralll' concludcd that it is the principal in its rcvcnuc
arrangcmcnts bccausc it typicall) controls thc scr\ iccs bclorc transl'crring thcm to thc customcr.

( ommitmcnts on tr,chalfol'thc Kcnla (iovcrnmcnt and National I rcasury

a

or liability on initial rccognition. Whcn calculating the cffcrtivc intcrcst ratc. thc []ank cstimatcs cash
flows considcring all contractual tcrms of thc financial instrumcnt, and any revisions to thcsc
cstimatcs arc rccogniscd in prolit or loss. 'lhe calculation includcs amounts paid or rcccivcd that arc
an intcgral pan ofthc cfhctivc intercst ratc of a llnancial instrumcnt. including transaction costs and
all othcr prcmiums or discounts.

ll a llnancial assct is mcasursd at IjVOCI or IV.l Pl,. thc amounts that arc rccognised in profit or loss
arc thc samc as thc amounts that r.rould havc bccn rccogniscd in prolit or loss if thc linancial assct
had bccn mcasurcd at amortiscd cost-

Ihc Ilank calculatcs intcrcst inqomc on Ilnancial asscts. othcr than thosc considcrcd crcdiGimpaircd.
b) applt ing the lilR to thc gross can) ing amount of thc l'inancial assct.

Whcn a financial assct bccomcs crcdit-impaircd (and is therclbre rcgardcd as Stagc 3'). thc llank
calculatcs intcmst incomc by applling thc I;lR lo the nct amoniscd cost ofthc llnancial assct. ll'thc
Ilnancial assct curcs and is no longcr crcdit-impaircd. thc Bank revcns to calculating intcrcst incomc
on a gross basis.

(s) lrcc and commission incumc

'I hc Rank cams frum thc (;o\ crnmcnt ol Kcnl a a commission of 1.57o of amounts raiscd through its
agcncy rolc in thc issuancc of'lrcasury bills and txrnds. 'lhe annual commission incomc is limited to
KShs 3 billion as pcr thc agrccmcnt bctwccn thc llank and lht'National Ircasury clfcctivc I Jul)
2007

o

(r)

I hc llank issucs 
.l 

rcasuD bills irnd bonds on bchalf ol'thc National 'l rcasurj . ('omm itments arising
on such transactions on bchalf of Kcnya (k)vcmmcnt and $c National 'l rcasury arc not includcd in
thcsc linancial statcmcnts as thc Bank is involvcd in such ransactions onl! as an agcnt.

(u) ('uncnc\ in circulation

Notcs and coins in circulation arc mcasurcd at I'air raluc. Cuncnc) in circulation rcprcscnts thc nominal
valuc ol all bank notcs and coins hcld by thc public and commercial banks. lhc Ilank dcmonctiscs
currcnq dcnominations that it considcrs no longcr suitable lbr circulation through a (;a.,qttc Noticc.

(\ ) l.oan duc from thc(;o\cmmcnt of Kcn\a

l hc loan duc liom the (;o\ cmmcnt ol' Kcn) a a()sc liom or crdrarrn accounts \\ hich \\crc convcncd
t(, a loan r!ith cfltct liom I July 1997 aftcr an amcndmcnt to thc Ccntral llank ol'Kcnya Act to limit
thc [lank's lcnding to (iur cmmcnt ol'Kcn\ a to 57o of(iovcrnmcnt of Kcn\ a auditcd rcr cnuc.

On 2{ Jul}'2007. a dccd of g,uarantcc rvas signcd bctwccn thc (;ovcmmcnt ol Kcn)a and ('cntral
Ildnk ol Kcnl a in \thich thc gurcrnmcnt agrccd to rcpuy thc kran at KShs l.l l billion pcr annum o\cr
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES l'O THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THtl YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. StIMMARY O| MAl llRlAL ACCOLJril'lNG POl.lCIl')S (continucd)

(v)l,oan duc lrom thc (;ovcrnmcnt ofKcnya (continucd)

32 ycars at 37o intcrcst pcr annum.'l hc sccurity held is licn ovcr cash balanccs. stock. trcasury bonds
and such othcr govcrnment sccurities as arc spccificd in Scction 46 (5) of thc Ccntral Bank olKcnya
Act.

'l hc loan duc from the (iovcmmcnt of Kcnya is catcgorised as a dcbt instrumcnt at amortiscd cost

(\r) Iunds hcld arduc to lntcmational Monetar) lrund (lMtr)

Kcnya has bccn a mcmbcr ofthc Intcrnntional Monctar) l:und (lMli) sincc 1966. Ihc llank is thc
dcsignatcd dcgrsitory lor thc lMIr's holdings of Kcnya's currcncy. IMl. currcncy holdings are hcld
in thc No. I and No. 2 Accounts. rvhich arc dcposir accounts ol'thc IM| lvith thc llank.

Rorrorvings lrom and rcpaymcnts to thq IMli arc denominalcd in Sptcial l)rawing Righls (SI)Rs).
'lhc Sl)R balanccs in IMI" accounts arc translated into Shilling:i at thc prcvailing cxchangc ratcs and
any unrcalircd gains or losses arc accountcd lor in accordancc with accounting policl on hlrcign
currcncics.

On a custodial basis. thc Ilank holds a non-ncgotiablc. non-intcrcst traring and cncashablc on dcmand
promissory notcs issued by thc'l rcasury in favour olthc IMI: in its capacit) as thc IMI,'s dcF,ositor).'fhc sccurit) issucd is in pan pa) mcnr of Kcnya's quota of lM l:.

(\) ljair valuc mcasurcmcnt

'lhc Ilank mcasurcs linancial instrumcnts such as dcbt instrumcnts at l-air valuc through othcr
comprchcnsivc incomc. and non-llnancial asscts such as land and buildings and gold holdings. at lair
valuc at cach balancc shcet datc-

I:air valuc is thc pricc that rvould bc rcccivcd to scll an a-ssct or paid to transfcr a liability in an ordcrll
transaction bch!ccn markct participants at thc mcasurcmcnt datc. 'l'hc fair valuc mcasurcmcnt is bascd
on thc prcsumption thal thc transaction to scll thc assct or transfcr thc liability takcs placc cithcr:

. In thc principal markct lbr thc assct or liabilitl

In thc abscncc ol a principal markct. in thc most advantagc\ous ma*ct l'or thc assct or liabilit)
'l hc principal or thc most advanlagcous markct must bc acccssiblc by thc Uank.

'l'hc fair valuc ol'an assct or a liabilit) is mcasurc'd using thc assumptions that markct panicipants
would usc rvhcn pricing thc assct or liabilit). assuming [hat markct panicipants act in thcir cconomic
bcst intercst.

A l'air valuc mcasurcmcnt ol'a non-llnancial assct takcs into account a markct panicipanfs abilit,r. k)
gcncratc cconomic bcnclits b) using thc assct in its highest and bcst usc or b) sclling it ro unolhcr
market panicipant that $ould usc thc asset in its highcsr and best usc.

I hc Bank uscs valuation tcchniqucs tha( arc appropriotc in thq circumstanccs and lbr which sullicicnt
data arc a\ailablc to mcasurc l-air !aluc. mu\imising thc usc of rclcrant obscrvablc inputs and
m inimising thc usc ol'unobscn oblc inputs.

All assets and liabilitics lbr which Iair valuc is mcasurcd or discloscd in thc llnancial statcmcnts are
catcgoriscd t!ithin thc lair vuluc hicrarchl. dcscribcd as lirllorvs. bascd on thc lowcst lcvcl input that
is signilicant b thc fair r aluc mcasurcmcnt as a u.holc:

Lcvcl I Quotcd (unadjustqi) markct pric(s in activc markcts lirr idcntical asscls or liabilitics
l,cvcl 2 Valuation tcchniqucs lirr which thc lo\r'c'st lcvcl input fia( is significant to thc lair laluc
mcirsuremcnt is dircctl) or indircctl) obscnablc

a
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

2. SUMMARY Ol: MATIjRIAI. ACCOT-INI lNC POLICIIiS (conrinued)

(x) !'air value measurcmcnt (continucd)

l,cvcl 3 - Valuation tcchniqucs lbr which thc lowcst lcvcl input that is signilicant to thc fair valuc
mcasuacment is unobscrvablc

|or asscts and liabilitics that are recogniscd in thc linancial statcmcnts at lbir value on a recurring
basis. thc llank dctcrmines whcthcr transfcnr havc occurred bctwecn lcvcls in thc hierarchy by re-
assessing categorisation (bascd on thc lo\rest lcvcl input that is significant to thc fair value
mcasurcmcnt as a whole) at thc cnd ofcach reponing pcriod.

llxtemal valuers arc involvcd for valuation ofland and buildings. lnvohcmcn! ofc\tcmal valucrs is
dctermincd aftcr cvcr,r l'ivc years. Sclcction critcria includc market knorvlcdgc. rcputation.
indepcndence and whcther profcssional standards arc maintaincd.

lior thc purposc of fair valuc disclosurcs. thc Bank has detcrmincd classcs ofassets and liabilitics on
thc basis ofthc naturc. charactcristics and risks ofthc assct or liabilitr and thc lcvcl ofthe lair valuc
hicrarchy. as explaincd abovc.

[:air-valuc related disclosurcs for financial instrumcnts and non.llnancial asscts that arc mcasurcd at
lair valuc or rvhcre l'air valucs arc discloscd. arc summariscd in thc following notcs:

r [)isclosurcs lor valuation mcthods. significant cstimatcs and assumptions Notes 3. I 5. | 8(b) and 30
. Quantitativc disclosurcs of fair valuc mcasurcmcnt hierarchy Note 30
. Dcbl instrumcnts at fair valuc firough othcr comprchcnsivc incomc Notc l5
. Cold holdings Norc I7(b)
o l.and and buildings Notc l8(b)

(y) Order olliquidity

As a financial institution. thc Uank and its subsidia4 prcscnb its asscts and liabilitics on rhc statcmcnt
ol'financial position in ordcr ol'liquidit) . 'l his providcs information that is rcliabl!- and morc rclcvant
than a currcnt or non-currcnt prcscntatien. bccausc CBK docs not supply goods or scrviccs within a
clcarly idcntifiablc opcrating cyclc. Ihc ordcr of liquidit) rcquircs judgcmcnl panicularly in lighr of
the naturc ofCBK's opcrations and mandate. CBK's mandatc rcgarding thc managemcnt and ovcnrighI
ofthc domcstic financial markqt rcsults in rcgular changcs to thc Iiquidity ol'('BK asscts and liabilitics.
in rcspunsc to thc liquidit\ rcquircmcnts of thc markct. CIIK continuousl! monitors and activcly
managcs its liquidity rcquircmcnts. lt is impracticablc to continuousl) rcvisc the ordcr of asscts and
liabilitics on thc statcment of llnancial position duc to thc fluctuating narurc of thc erdcr of Iiquidity.
and frcqucnt changes would not rcsult in more rclcvant information to thc usenr ol'thc llank and ils
subsidiary' financial statcmqnts. I he ordcr ol'liquiditi is therclbrc kept consistcnt l car on ycar. unlcss
thcrc arc significant changcs thercto. tvhich could reasonably t s cxpcrtcd to influcncc decisions that
thc uscrs ofth!' llnancial statemcnts would makc on thc basis ofthe ordcr ol'liquidity prcsentcd in thc
Statemcnt ol'F inancial Posit rn.
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE I"INANCIAL STA'I'EMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JTJNI] 2024

l CRII I('At, N CCO(]N]'IN(i IJSl'IMAl'I]S AND JIJI)GIJMI]N'I'S IN APPI-YING ACCOTJN fIN(i
POt.l('ll,S

O

o

l hc prcparation ofthc Ilank's consolidatcd linancial statcmcnts rcquircs managemcnt to makcjudgcmcnts.
cstimatcs and assumptions that all'cct the rcFDned amount ofrcvcnucs. cxpcnscs. asscts and liabilitics. and
the accompanying disclosurcs. as wcll as thc disclosure of contingent liabilitics. Unccnainty about thesc
assumptions and cstimatcs could rcsult in outcomcs that rcquirc a matcrial adjustmcnt to thc carning
amount ofasscts or liabilitics affcctcd in lu(ure pcriods. In the process ofapplying thc llank's accounting
policics. managcmcnt has madc thc Ibllowingjudgcments and assumptions conccming thc luturc and othcr
kcy sourccs ol'cstimation unccrtaint) at thc rcportinS datc. that havc a significant risk ofcausing a matcrial
adiustmcnt k) the carrying amounts ofassqts and liabilitics within the ncxt financial ycar.

l:xisting circumstanccs and assumptions about futurc dcvclopmcnts ma1 changc duc to circumstanccs
bcyond thc Ilunk's cuntrol and arc rcllcctctl in thc aussumptions il and whcn they occur. ltcms rvith thc most
signilicant cll'cct on the amounts rccogniscd in thc consolidatcd financial statcmcnts $ith substantial
managcmcnt.iudgcmcnt an(ror cstimatcs arc collatcd bclorv rvith rcspcct tojudgcmcntvcstimatcs involvcd.

I mpo i r me nl al lot ance on.fi nonc ial osse ls

-l 
hc mcirsurcmcnt ol'impairmcnt allo$ ancc undcr IIRS 9 across all catcgories ol' financial asscts in scope

rcquircs j udgcmcnt. panicu larl)-. thc cstimalion of thc amount and timing ol'luturc cash llorvs and collatcral
valucs rvhcn dclcrmining impairmcnt allowancc and thc asscssmcnt ofa signillcant incrcase in crcdit risk.

It has bccn thc llank's policy to rcgularly rcvicw i1s modcls in thc contcxt ol-actual loss cx1^-ricncc and
adjust trhcn ncccssary. I unhcr dctails about thc l]('l-sarc providcd in Notes 8. ll.l3. l.l. l7and29(i).

l'ost- retirement henefits

Post-rctircmcnt bcnclits arc long tcrm liabilitics rvhosc valuc can only bc cstimatcd using assumptions
about dc! elopmcnts ovcr a long pcriod. 'l hc Ilank has cmplo) cd actuarial advicc in arrir ing at the figurcs
in thc linanciul stalcmcnl.s (Notc 20 \!hich includcs assumptions). 'lhc lloard of Dircctors considcrs thc
assumptions used by thc actuary in thcir calculations to bc appropriatc l'or this purposc.

l"air ralue of.financial ossets

-l hc I'air taluc of linancial instrumcnts thal arc not tradcd in an activc markct and oll'markct loans arc
dctcrmincd by using valuation tcchniques. Sce Notc 30 lor additir.rnal disclosurcs.

l'ropertl ond equipment

l.and and buildings arc carrierl at I'air valuc: rcprcscnling oprcn markct valuc dctcrmincd pcriodicall) by
prolessional valucrs. Scc Nol.cs l8(b) and l0 lbr additional disclosurcs.

l.eases - klimoting the incremental horrox ing rale

lhc llank cannot rcadill dctcrmine thc intcrcst ratc implicit in thc lcasc. thcrcforc. it usc's its incrcmcntal
borro\^ing ratc (lllR) to mcasurc lcasc liabilitics. Ihc lllR isthcratcofintcrcstthatthc lJankw()uld havcto
pay to borrorv ovcr a similar tcrm. and u'ith a similar sccuritv. thc lunds neccssarl to obtain an asscl ol'a
similar value to the riSht-ol'-usc assct (notc l8 (a)) in a similar cconomic cnvironmcnt. lhc IIIR thcrclirc
rcllNts \r hat thc llank 'wouhJ har c to pJ1 '.

I hc llank cstimatcs thc IBR using obscn ablc inputri i.c. murkcr intcrcst ratcs

o

o
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3,443
559

5,l6l
120

7,7 tO
3,572

CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

4. INTERI.]S]' INCOME

Interest income calculated using the effeclive interest method

Iinancial assets - dcbt instruments at amortised cost
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

lnterest income from debt instruments at arnoaised cost

lntercst on term deposits
Interest on Govemment ofKenya loan
lnterest on Govemment of Kmya overdraft
lntercst on staffloans and advances
Inlerest on advances to banks
Other interest income

lnterest income from debt instrumcnts at fair value through other
comprehensive income comprises:

lnternally managed ponfolio
l':xternally managed portfolio - (World Bank Reserve Advisory &
Management Partnership)-( RAMP)

CONSOLIDATF:D AND BANK
2024 2023

KShs' million KShs' million

47,096
16,534

20,565
8,455

63.630 29,020

O

9,519
526

9,630
130

20,s9t
6,700

47,096 20,565

t5,386

1,148

7,879

576

t6,534 8,455

o
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

INl'EREST EXPENSE

Interest expens€ calculated using the effective intercst method

Intcrcst on monetary prolicy issues
Interest exp€nse - IMF

(b) NI'T TRADING INCOME

Net gain on sale of foreign currencics
N€t loss on disposal of financial asses caried at fair value
through other comprehensive income

7. (a) OTIIER INCOMIj

l,icence fees from commercial banks and foreign exchange
bureaus
Penaltics from commercial banks and foreign exchange bursaus
Rental income
Kenya SchoolofMonet ry Studies operating income -
hospitality scrvices.
Gain on disposal of pmperty and equipment
KtiPSS billing revenue
Miscellaneous income

l,iccnce fees from commercial banks and foreign exchange
bureaus
Pcnalties from commercial banks and foreign exchange bureaus
Rental income
Gain on disposal of propcny and equipment
Kt;PSS billing revenue
Misccllaneous income

CONSOLIDATED AND BANK
2024 2023

KShs' million KShs' million

163

6,363
l4l

3,t52

CONSOI,IDATED AND BANK
2024 2027

KShs'million KShs'million

6,526 3,993

6. (a) FtiDS AND CoMMISSION INCOME 3,000 1,000

Fees and commission relate to income the Bank earns from the Govemment of Kenya through is
agency role in the issusnce ofTreasury bills and bonds.

14,475 17.038

(5,383) (4,3721

9,W2 12.66

CONSOI,IDATED

335
l9l
57

3r5
66
2A

l8l
2

541
78

126
4

494
44

1,387 1,0?7

BANK

335
l9l
57

2
543
7t

315
66
28
4

494
44

a

11

1,206 951
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JLINE 2024

E. IMPAIRMI]NT AI,I,OWANCE ON FINANCIAL ASSI'TS

The table below shows the t'iCL charges on financial instruments

lmpairment allowance on staff loans (Note l4)
Impairment allowancc on balances due from banking instirutions (Note I I )
Impairment allowance on Funds held with IMF (Note l2(a))
lmpairment allowance on securities and advances to banks (Notc l3)
lmpairment allowance on debt instrumcnts at fair value through other
comprehensive incomc

9. (a) OPtiRA'tlNG IiXPI-:NSES

Employee benefits (Note 9(b))
Currcncy pmduction expens€s
Propcrty maintenance and utility expcnscs
Dcpreciation ofpropcrty and equipment (Note l8(b))
Amonisation ofintangiblc asscts (Note l9)
Depreciation ofright -of-use assct (Notc | 8(a))
Interest on lease liabilities (Note l8(a))
lmpairment allowance on other assets (Note l7(a))
Auditor's remuneration
Transpon and travclling costs
OfTicc expcnses
Communication expcnses
[,egal and professional fecs
Gralt to National Police Scrvice
Othcr administrative cxpenses

CONSOI,IDATED AND BANK
2024 2023

KShs' million KShs' million

(l)
(183)

33
( 3,55E )

(73)

(3.782)

6,535
2,3tI
3,769
2,O55

287
70
6

32
t2

4E6
273
428

8

1,3 t6

17.588

(12)
(20)
(32)

(2,710)

(3e)

CONSOI,IDATI]D
2024 2023

KShs' million KShs' million

(2,8r3)

5.9't I
2,7',t I
4,251
2.t56

t77
66

7
27
l2

293
192
365
621

1,491
I,550

t9,952

o
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

9. (a) OPERATING EXPDNSES (Continued)

Employee benefits (Note 9(b))
Currency production expenses
Propeny maintenanc.€ and utility expenscs
Depreciation ofproperty and equipment (Note l8(b))
Amortisation ofintsngible assets (Note l9)
Depreciation ofright -of-use &sset (Note I8(a))
Interest on lesse liabilities (Note I E(a))
Impairment allowance on other assets (Note l7(a))
Auditor's rcmuneration
Transpon and lravelling costs
Office expenses
Communication expenses
t.egal and professional fees
Grant !o National Police Service
Other administrativc expensesr

(b) FTMPLOY!:F: BITNI-:tjtTS

Wages and salaries
Pcnsion costs - txfined coDlribution plar
Pension cosls - Defined benefit plan
Medical expenses
Other staffcosts
Directors' emoluments (Note 28(ii))
Net income relating to thc rctircment benefit asset (Note 20)

(b) UMPLOYII.] BENUIjtTS

Wagcs and salaries
Pension costs - Defincd contribution plan
Pension costs - Dcfined bcnefit plan
Medical cxpenses
other staff costs
Directors' cmolumcnts (Notc 28(ii))
Net incomc relating to thc rctiremcnt benefit asset (Note 20)

2024
KShs'million

BANK
2023

KShs'million

6,229
2,3tI
3,769
2,055

287
70

6
32

486
213
428

t

s,639
2,77t
4,251
2,156

t77
6

7
27
l0

293
t92
365
621

1,493
1,7581.44 t

t7,407

rother sdministrative expenscs include expenses incurred by the Bank on behalfof KSMS

CONSOT,IDAI]:t)

19,t26

2024 2023
KShs'million KShs'million

5.155
615

30
554
578

85
(482)

4,998
553

62
468
464

53
(627)

6,535 5,97 t

BANK

2024
KShs'million

2023
KShs'million

4,817
615

30
537
567

85
(482)

4.66
553
62

468
4@

53
(627)

o
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

9. OPFIRATINGEXPENSTaS(Continued)

CONSOLIDATT'D AND BANK

2024 2023
KShs'million KShs'million

(73.555) t31,489

The unrealized foreign exchange (lossygain relatcs !o net (loss)/gain on forcign denominated assets and
liabilities arising from changes in forcign currency exchange rates.

CONSOI.II)ATI.:D ANI) BANK
10. (a) CtIANCUS IN t.AIR VALUL OF INVUSIMEN'rS

(c) I'ORUIGN EXCTIANOIi (l-OSs) / CAIN

Foreign exchange (loss)/gain

Fair value changcs on debt instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income:
lntemally managed ponfolio
Extcmally managed ponfolio RAMP

(b) RF]CI,ASSIIJICAI'ION 1'O T}It] INCOMF: STAI].:MENT

Nct amount reclassified to the incomc statement on salc and
maturity ofdebt instruments at FVOCI:

Intemally managcd ponfolio
World Bank managed ponfolio-RAMP

'fhis amount relatcs to rcclassification on sale or maturity ofdcbt instruments

2024 2023
KShs'million KShs'million

8.960
731

(4.63r )
(67)

a

9,691 (4,698)

CONSOI-IDA'I'F:D AND BANK

8,828
294

2024 2023
KShs'million KShs'million

6,t43
469

9.122 6.612

a

a
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

I I. BAI,ANCI.:S DUE FROM BANKING INSTITUI'IONS

Currcnt accounts
Foreign cunency denominated term deposils
Accrued interest on tcrm deposits
Spccial project accounts
Domestic foreign currency cheque clearing (DFCC)
RUPSS clea ng and regional central banks

lmpairment allowancc

At stan of the year
Movement in impairment allowancc (Notc 8)

CONSOI,IDATI'D AND BANK
2024 2023

KShs' million KShs' million

109,132
28t,3l't

439
43,304
4',t,621

2.'t t3

484,526
(214\

484,312

80,865
256,765

348
41,t59
39.433
2,230

42t,500
(3t)

421,469

o
An analysis ofchanges in the impairment allowance ofbalances due from banking institutions is as follows:

2024
KShs' million

2023
KShs'million

3t
183

ll
20

o

At 30 June 214 3l

A rcconciliation from the opcning balance !o thc closing balance of the Impairment allowancc based on year end
stage classification is disclosed in Note 29 (i).

Spccial pmjcct accounts relatc to amounts received by the Govemment of Kenya (or its ministries) for spccific
projects or purposes.

a
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

12. IJUNDS IIEI,D AT/ DUt.: TO INTERNA'TIONAL MONETARY FUND (IMT')

2024
SDR million

CONSOLIDATI.]D AND BANK
2024 2023

KShs' million SDR million

308

(a) Assets

IMF balanccs (SDR asset account)
Allowance for impairment losses

At I July
Charges to profit or loss (notc 8)

At 30 June

(b) Liabilities

lntemational Monetary liund Account
No. I
lntemational Monetary liund
Account No. 2
I ntemalional Monetary ljund
Poverty Reduction and Growth
Facility (PRGF) Account
Rapid Credir l'acility (RC[-)
Extended Credit Facility (ECF)
tixtcnded Fund Facility (ttFF')
Rcsilience and Sustainability l-'acility
(RSf)
lMl' - SDR Allocation account

2023
KShs' million

52,554
(4)

92,455
t0E.497
228.454

391 73,3t2
(37)

13,2'15308 52,550 391

An analysis of changes in thc impairment allowance of funds held with IMF is as follows:

2024
KShs'million

2023
KShs'million

(33 )

5

o

a

37

2024
SDR million

2024
KShs'million

2023
SDR million

2023
KShs'million

20 3,458 20 3.604

0.03 5 0.03 5

4

32

1,347
101.668
84.386

140,81 I

146.078

477.899

543
63't

t,34 t

7
543
45t
't52

45
780

7;t05
132.838 780

3,366 573.412 2,5 53

'l'he Bank received SDR 542.8 million in May 2020 relating !o Rapid Credit Facility (RCl') from the l und for direct
budgct suppo( of he Govemmcnt of Kenya initiatives towards COVID- 19 pandimic. These funds werc released
to thc Bank_ under thc Rapid-Disbursing Emergency F-inancing t'acilities which is subject to IMl.' executive board
appnrval l-hey rcpresent a debt due from the Crovemmcnt of Ken) a to $c IMF. This dcbt is recognised in the books
ofthe CBK. but on-lent to the govemment through thc National Treasurl.

I)uring the year lhe Bank rcceived SDR 5t9 million, SDR 186 million and SDR 45 million for F;xtended Fund
|acility (lll't), Flxrendcd Credjr f'acility (FtCIr) and Resilience and Sustainability ljacility (RS[) rcspecrivety in two
tranchcs in the month ofJuly 2023 and Januaty 2O24.

Kcnya's quota in lMl'of SDR 542.E million (2023: SDR 542.t million) is recordcd in the books ofrhe Narional
'l rcasury but not included in the financial statcments ofthe llank. SDR Allocations arc includcd in the financial

O
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39
1.062

t53
7,414

t2
4.105

CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

12. FITNDS IlEl.D A17 DUE fO lNl'llRNAl'IONAL MONETARY FUND (lMr') (continued)

statemcnls of thc Bank as the custodian ofthe Govcmment of Kenya. The cumulativc SDR allocations stood at SDR
780 million (2023: SI)R 780 million) while thc cunent SDR holdings were SDR 308 million.
(2023: SDR 391 million). the repayment of IM F- facilities is currently bi-annual and attracts nil intercst until advised
by IMF'. 'llrc Rapid Crcdit l'acility will be paid within a period of five years from November 2025 to May 2030. t'lCF
will be paid quanerly within a pcriod of 5 years from Octob€r 2026 to June 2031. l'll'F' will be paid quanerly within
a period of six years fmm Octobcr 2025 to June 2031. The Resiliencc and Sustainability ljacility (RS[') has a 20-
year maturity period.

I3. SI'CURITII]S AND ADVANCT;S 1I) RANKS

CONSOt.lD^lllD AND BANK
2024 2023

KShs'million KShs'million

o

a

'l reasury bonds discountcd
I reasury bills discounted
Accrued intcrest bonds discounted
Rcpo trcasury bills (lnjection)'
Accrued intcrest repo
l,iquidity support lramework
[)ue from commcrcial banks

At thc stan ofthc year
L^harge to profit or loss (Notc 8)

At 30 Junc

Ycar endcd 30 Junc 2024

I rcasury bills discounted
.l 

reasury bonds discountcd
Accruc'd intercst bonds discounted
Rcpo treasury bills & bonds (injection)'
Accrucd intcrest rcpo
Liquidity suppon lramework

2024
KShs'million

2023
KShs'million

22.746
3,558

20.036
2.110

5,t67
183

154
21o.709

822
49.1t6

7.7 59
220
4'10

41,142
t26

54.236
|,262

t05.215
(22;146\

82.469

22.746

lmpairment allowancc
266.151
(26,304)

239-84'r

An analysis ofchangcs in the impairmcnt allowancc ofsecuritics and advanccs to banks is as follows

26.304

Maturity pcriod
4-12 months Ovcr I ycar

KShs'million KShs'million
0-3 months

KShs'million

-lotal

KShs'million

183

5.167
t54

2 t0.709
822

22.812

132

I
203.295

822
85t 3.042 t8.919

205.t0t

a

50

.710 23.036 239.847
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

l3 SECURITIES AND ADVANCES TO BANKS (continued)

Year ended 30 June 2023
0-3 months

KShs'million
Total

KShs'million

220
7,7 59

470
41,t42

126
t,262

3l,490

82,469

7,t62
(3,46r)

3,694

595,503
45-O27

Maturity period
4-12 months Over I ycar

KShs' million KShs' million

Trcasury bills discounted
Treasury bonds discounted
Accrued interest bonds discounted
Repo trcrsury bills & bonds (injection)+
Accrucd intercst repo
Due from commcrcial banks
Liquidity suppon framework

5t
1,632

421
4t,142

126
|,262

872

t62
599
49

5,528

27.936

33,464

2,6E2

o

o

o

45.513

Due lrom banks undcr liquidation
Advances to employees

Impairment allowanc€

Net advances

Thc movement in the impairment allowance is as follows;
At I July
Payment
Movement in impairment allowancc (Notc 8)

Fixed incomc securities - lntefially managed ponfolio
Fixed income sccurities under World Bank RAMP

CONSOT,IDATED AND BANK
2024 2023

KShs'million KShs'million

3,400
3,762

3,492

'Liquidity provided inlo the market via repurchase agreements i.e., securitised borrowings by banks using T-
bills and 'I-bonds.

I4. LOANS AND ADVANCT]S

3,376
1,696

7,072
(3,,t4s)

3,627

a
3.456

t2

At 30 June 3,445 3,468

15. DF-B'I INSTRUMENTS MEASURITD AT FAIR vAt.UII THROUGII OTIIER COMPREIIENSIVI: INCOME

3,46t
(24)

I

CONSOl,IDATED AND BANK
2024 2023

KShs' million KShs' million

518,737
46,0E'.1

a

51

564.824 640.530
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JIJNE 2024

I5. DEBT INSTRUMENTS MEASURF]D AT FAIR VALUE TIIROUCTI OTTIL]R COMPRL]IIENSIVL] INCOMF:
(continued)

Maturity analysis

o

0-3 months
KShs'million

36,415

4,916

Total
KShs'million

5lE,737

46,087

lbtal
KShs'million

595.503

45.O27

t 48.107

to,279

232,52t

t2,4U

334,21s

30,892

319,929

30,4

ll

Maturity period
4-12 months Ovcr I year

KShs' million KShs' millionYear cnded 30 June 2024

Fixed income securities - Intemally
mansged Portfolio
F-ixed income securities under World
Bank RAMP

Maturity analysis

Year ended 30 June 2021

l'ixed income sccurities - Internally
managed Portfolio
l'ixed income scturitics under World
Bsrk RAMP

4t.3lt

43,053

2,047

158.386 365,107 564.824

0-3 months
KShs'million

Maturity period
4-12 months Over I year

KShs'million KShs'million

o

o 45.100 245.005 350,425 640,530

lixed income securities dccreased by KShs 75,706 million !o KShs 564,824 million (2023: KShs 640,530
million) during the year under review.

16. uNt.tsTtiDL:QUITY INVIISTMI]NTS CONSOI,IDATED AND BANK
2024 2023

KShs' million KShs' million
Unquoted equity sccurities at fair value through other comprehensive
rncome t2

o

o
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

17. (a) OTHER ASSETS

hepayments
Bonds Pending Receivables - World Bank
Deferred currenry expenses
Sundry deblors
Items in the course ofcollection
Unclearcd effects

lmpairmcnt allowance

All other assets balances are recoverable within one year.

The movsnent in the impairment allowance is as follows
At stan ofthe year
t'inancial ass€t derecogni sed
lncrease in impairment 8llowancc (Note 9(a))

At 30 June

Prcpaymcnts
Bonds Pending Reccivables - World Bank
De ferrcd currency expenses
Sundry debtors
Items in lhe course ofcollection
Uncleared effects

Impairment allowance

All other assels bslances are recoverable within one year.

The movement in the impairment sllowance is 8s follows
At stan of the year
Financial asset derecognised
Increase in impairment allow8ncc (Note 9(a))

At 30 June

17. (b) Got,D oI.DINGS

CONSOLIDATED
2024 2023

KShs' million KShs' million

2,941 199
932

5,93't
956
256
42

7,414
( 357)

8,322
(325)

7,117 7,997

325 4,99',t
(4,6ee)

21

157 325

BANK

2,941

3,627
7'tE
120

8

a

o

a

32

3,627
7'18

t20
8

7,4'14
(3s7)

t99
932

5,93'l
8t7
256

42

8,r83
(32s )

7,858

4.997
(4,699)

325

7,tt7

325

32

357

a
CONSOT,IDATF:D AND BANK

2024 2023
KShs' million KShs' million

O

Gold holdings

53

169 150
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JTJNE 2024

18. (a) RICIIT OF USE ASSETSa

a

a

a

a

a

o

CONSOLIDATED AND BANK

a

o

Year ended 30 June 2024

cosl'
At I July 2023
Additions

At 30 June 2024

ACCCUMULATUD AMORTISATION
A1 I July 2023
Charge for thc year

At 30 June 2024

330 2M

55

385 204 589

251
70

204 455
70

321 525

64 64

275
55

479
55

330

Leas€s
rclating to
buildings

KShs'million

185
66

Leos€s relating
to equipment

KShs'million

204

Tolal
KShs' million

534

55

204

CARRYING AMOUNT
At f0 June 2024

Year endcd 30 June 2021

cosT
ltt I Jtly 2022
Additions

At 30 June 2023

ACCCUMULATI.]D AMORTISATION
At I July 2022
Charge for the year

204

a
204 534

389
66

At 30 June 2021 251 204

CARRYING AMOUN'I'
At 30 June 2023 79

Set out below 8re the carrying amounts of lease liabilities (included under 'Other liabilities' in Note 24)
and the movemcnts during the period:

455

79

a
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

l8 (a) RIGHT OF' USI: ASSETS (Continued)

At starl ofthe year
Additions
Accretion ofinterest
Payment ofprincipal
Payment ofinterest

[,ess than one vear
Between onc and live vears

I nterest expcnse

CONSOI,IDATED AND BANK
2024 2023

Kshsmillion KShs'million

90
55
6

(75)
(7)

90
55
'l

(57)
(5)

At 30 June 69 90

The msturity analysis of lease liabilitics is disclosed in Note 29. The following are the amounts recognised in
profit or loss:

Depreciation cxpcnse for right-of-use assets
lnterest expense on lcase liabilitics

Total amount recognis€d in pmfit or loss

The Bank had total cash outflows for leascs of KShs 82 million (2023: KShs 62 million) during the year.
No impairmcnt loss or revcrsals of impairment loss has been recognized in profit or loss during the period.
The bank uscs thc Ccntral Bank Rate (CBR) as the discount rate 13.,oh (2023: lO.5o/o\.

'l'he bank also had non-cash additions to the right-of-us€ asses and lease liabilitics of KShs 55 million
(2023: KShs 55 million).

The following uble scts out a maturity analysis of operating lease payments, showing the undiscounted
leasc payments !o be received after thc reporling date.

Maturity analysis - ('ontractual undiscounted cash flows
2024

KShs'million
2023

KShs'million

CONSOt.IDATITD AND BANK
2024 2023

KShs 'million KShs 'million

49
26

65
30

'10

6

76

66
'l

13

a

O

o

75
(6)

95
(5)

69 90

o

55
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

I9. INTANCIBI,E ASSETS

Year ended 30 June 2024

cosT
At I July 2023
Capitalizalion of work in prcgress
Additions

At 30 June 2024

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION
At I July 2023
Charge for the year

At 30 June 2024

CONSOLIDATED AND BANK
Work in

Softwarc Progress Total
KShs' million KShs' million KShs' million

a

2,639
3t6
9s5

I,E32
(316)

4,47 t

955

5,4263,910 1,5 t6

a

o

2,473
2E'.l

2,473
287

2,760 2,760

NET CARRYING AMOLTNT
At 30 June 2024 I,t50 1.5 t6 2,66

Year ended 30 June 2023

cosl'
At I luly 2022
Additions

At 30 June 2023

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION
At I JLtly 2022
Charge for the year

At 30 June 2021

NET CARRYING AMOTJNT

2,606
33 1,832

1.t32

2,@6
1,t65

2,639

2,296
177

2,473

166

4,47 |

2,296
177

2,473

1,832 1,998

a
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

20. RETIREMENT BENEFIT ASSET

Prcse nt value offunded obligations
Fair valuc ofplan assets

Net overfunding in funded plan
Limit on d€fined bencfit asset

Retircment Benefi t Asset

Movcments in the net defined benefit asset recognised are as follows
At start of the year
Net income recognised in profit or loss (Note 9(b))
Net incomc recognized in other comprchensive inmme (OCl)
Employer contributions

At 30 June

Movcments in thc plan asscts are as follows

At stai ofthe year
lntercst income on plan asscts
limployer contributions
Employee contriburions
Bencfits expenses paid
Retum on plan ass€ts excluding amount in interest income

At 30 June

Movements in the plan benefit obligation arc as follows:

At stan ofthe year
Cunent service cost nel of employees' contributions
I ntercst cost
Flmployee contributions
Actuarial gain due to change in financial assumptions and
experience
Benefis paid

At l0 June

The principal actuarial assumptions at the reponing date were

Discount rate (p.a.)
Salary increase (p.a.)
Futlre pension increases

CONSOI-IDATED AND BANK
2024 2023

KShs'million KShs'million

a

o

a

t6,925
(31,082)

( 14,157)
8.296

(5,t61)

5,86t

29,799
4,20s

4E
24

(2,058)
(e36)

31,0E2

17,t77
226

2,384
24

(82E)

(2,058)

16.925

2024

15.00/o
't.@o/o

3.No/.

t7,t77
(29,199\

(12,6221
7 -628

(4,994)

4.994

30,430
3,t37

56
28

(1,892)
(2,660)

29,799

16,620
269

2,068
28

84

( r,E92)

17,177

2023

4,994
482
337
48

7,081
62'l

(2,7701
56

a

59

14.600/o

7 .000/.
3.000/o
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

20. RDI-IRUMUNl BllNIi!'ll ASSFl'l (continued)

2024
KShs'

million

2023
KShs'

million

2022
KShs'

million

202 t

KShs'
million

2020
KShs'

millionliive-year summary

liair value ofplan asses
Present valuc of lundcd obligations
Adjustmcnt to rctircmcnt bencfit
assct

Nct rctiremcnt bcnellt assct

11,082
( r6.925)

( 8.296)

29,799
(t7.t77\
(7.628)

30,430
( 16.620)

(6,'129)

32,048
( r7.302)

(7.107)

7.639

30.270
(17.9r0)
(s.823)

6.5375.861 4.994 7.08 t

a

o

a

Plan assets are distributed as follows

Quotcd shares
lnvestment propcnics
Govcrnmcnt of Kenya fcasury. bills and bonds
Commcrcial papcr and corpor.rtc bonds
Offshore invcstmcnts
Fixed and tcrm dcposits
ljixed asscts
Privatc cquity
Nct currcnt assets

2024 2023
KShs'

million

3.257
9.461

t5.7 65
155

250
1.490

42
3't6
286

KShs'
million

12.3o/o

31.7o/o

46.syo
0.'to/o

0.50/o

5.6Yo

0.00/o

1.50/.

I .20/"

o/"

to.50/.
30.40/.
50.70/.
o.5%
o.8%
4.80/.
o.l%
1.20/o

t.00/o

3.6',19

9.448
t3.823

222
149

t.668
5

435
370

a

3r,082 tooo/. 29,7E) tooo/"

Scnsitivity of principal actuarial assumptions:

II'the discount ral.c is l9lo lorvcr. thc prcscnt value of funded obligations would bc KShs 18.142 million (increasc
by KShs 1.217 million).'lhis scnsilivity analysis has bccn dctcrmined bascd on rcasonably possiblc changcs of
thc assumption occuninB at thc cnd of l0 June 2024. whilc holding all other assumptions constant.

Thc othcr principal actuarial assumptions. that is salary- incrcasc and futurc pcnsion increasc arc not cxpcctcd to
changc matcrially becausc thcv arc rvithin thc control of managcmcnt and arc approvcd in thc lluman Rcsourcc
Policy on employc'e bcnefits. Additionally. any changc is not expcctcd to bc matcrial bascd on historical trends
and may not havc a lincar impact on thc prcscnt valuc of the fund obligation.

'l-hc Bank docs not havc an) assct-liabilit) matching stratcgica used to managc risk. I-hc rctircment bencfit schcmc
is l'undcd and hcnce thc asscls und€r thc schemc arc uscd to mcct bcncllt payments as and rvhen thcy arisc. l hc
timing ofthc bcnclit paymcnts lrom thc schemc arc unknown as thc lund compriscs activc mcmbcrs. pensioncrs
and dcfcncd pensioncrs.

l hc schcmc is fundcd b) contributions frum cmplolcr and cmployccs. 'fhc avcragc duration ofthc defincd bcncfit
plan obligation at thc end olthc rcponing pcriod is 7.2 ycars (2023: 8.1 ycals).

a
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JTJNE 2024
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21. (a) lMt On-l.cnt to (iOK
CO,r-SOl.lDAl llD AND BANK

2024 2023
KShs'million KShs'million

Rapid crcdit facility
ltxtendcd credit facility
lixtcnded lund facility
Rcsilicncc and Sustainability ljacilit)

(b) I)t.itt tiROM (X)vliRNMU,r-]' Oli Kl)NYA

Ovcrdraft
Governmcnt loan
Sl)R Allocation duc l'rom National l rcasurv

Movemcnt in thc govcmment loan is as lbllows

92.455
96.848

2 t2,367
't.705

t0t.668
84.386

t40.81I

t

a

409 -31 5 326.1t65

I hc balancc as at l0 June 102.1 relates to lNllr ()n-lcnt lunds disburscrl to thc (;()! cmmcnt ol' Kcn) a b)
thc Inlcrnrti()nal ltlonctary lrund (ll\'lli) to impro\c thc cconom\. lhc tlnris mount toSl)R s.lf.ll
million undcr the Rapid ( rcrlit l:acilir) (R( |)and sl)R 56tt m illion undcr thc llrtcndcd ( rcdil l'acilit)
tl.('l').SI)Rl.l.lTmillionl,\tcndcdlrundt:ucilit)(l:l'l:)andSl)R{5millionundcrthcRcsilicnccund
Sustainabilit) |ucilit) (Rsl ). R( l rrillbe puid hall--\cilrl) \\ithin apcrirrdol lirc]cdrs litrm Nt)\cmtrer
2025 to iuo) 2030. l;( lr $ill bc paid quuncrl) \\i(hin a pcriod ol 5 )cars tiom Octobcr 202(r to Junc
201 | . l:litr \\ ill hc paid quuncrll u ithin a pcriod ot sir ) cars l()m Ock)hcr 2025 to Junc 201l.

CoNSoI,II)AIIiD ANI) t]ANK
2024 2023

KShs'million KShs'million

6t.021
16.6'19
82.61I

76,457
l'1.789
95.721

a Covcrnmcnt l-oan

r60.3 r I 189.967

SI)R Allocation [)uc lrom
National 'l rcasury
2024 2023

KShs'million KShs'million
95.72t 40.862

- 48.',t74
(4.435) ( 1.826)

2021

KShs million
17.7 89

2023

KShs'million
18.899A1 sta( ol'thc ycar

Advancc
Principal rcpaymcnt
lntcrcst chargcd
lntcrcst paid
ljorcign crchangc rcvuluation

(1. 0)
526

(526)

(l.ll0)
559

(559)
(8.675 ) 7.9t I

At 30 Junc t6.679 17.789 82-61I 95.'t2t

Scction ,16(3) ol'thc ( cntral Ilank of Kcn) a Act scts the limit of thc (ior cmmcnt of Kcnya's orcrdrall
l'ac ilit) at thc Rank at 5yo o I thc (;ross Rccurrcnt Rcvenuc as reponcd in thc latcst (iovcmmcnt ol' Kcn) a

auditcd linancial statcmcnts. lhc limit for thc ycar cndcd 30 Junc 202.1 is KShs 97.048 million (2023:
KShs 80.05lmillion) bascd on thc Sross rccurrcnt rc\cnuc 1'or thc lcar cndcd 30 Junc 2022 rvhich are thc
latcst auditcd flnancial statcmcnts al thc datc ol approval olthcsc llnancial statcmcnts. Intcrcst is chargcd at
thc Ccntral llank Ratc. cuncntl) at 139o.

'I hc Bank convcncd thc ( iovcmmcnt ol' Kcn) a ovcrdrall lacility that cxcecdcd statutory lim it in I 997 ink)
a loun at 39o intcrcst rcpa) ablc b) 2039 and is guaruntccd h) n dccd crccutcd hr thc Cabinet Sccrctarl. -lhc

National 'l rcasury. l)rincipal rcpal mcnts ol'KShs 555 million arc paid hall'rcarll rvhilc intcrcsts accruing
arc paid monthl) .

a

61



a

o

o

a

a

a

a

o

a

CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

22. CURRENCY IN CIRCUI-ATION

Kenya bank notes
Kenya coins

Movement in the account was as follows
At I July
Deposits by commcrcial banks
Withdrawals by commercial benks
(Withdrawals)/dcposits by CBK

At 30 June

23. DT'POSITS DUE TO BANKS AND GOVTjRNMENT

Local commercial banks clearing accounts and cash reserve ratio
Local banks foreign exchange s€ttlcment accounls
External banks foreign exchange settlement accounts
Other public entitics and project accounts
Govemment of Kenya

24. OTTIERI-IABILITIES

lmpeIsonal accountsr
Sundry crediton
Lesse liability (Note I t(a))
Refundable deposits
Leave accrual
Bond pending payablcs
Gratuity to staff members

lmpersonal accounts'
Sundry deditors
Lease liabiliry (Nore I t(a))
Refundable deposits

l,esve accaual

Bond pending psyables

Gratuity to staff members

CONSOLIDATED AND BANK
2024 2023

KShs' million KShs' million

a
CONSOLIDATED AND BANK

2024 2023
KShs' million KShs' million

322,766
r 1,029

333,795

1t5,96'l
(516,E54)

534,7t2
(30)

313,795

245,876
45,3't I
3,071
|,t 06

351,605

647,035

6,|'l

lE3
4.056

69
308
23s

1.204
62

BANK

305,407
10,560

315,967

305,350
(s44,656)

555,300
(27).

315,967

t72,226
36,3t5

3,239
|,245

359,tt0

572,9't5

326
3,273

90
3t7
253

1,990
42

6,291

326
3,134

90
3t7
253

t,9m
42

o CONSOT,IDATED
2024 2023

KShs'million KShs'million

t83
4,056

69
30t
235

|,204
62

6,n7

'lmp€rsonal accounts hold amounts due to ministies and departments ofGovemmcnt ofKenya.

62

a

6,152
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

25 (a) SllARli CAPITAL

Authorised sharc capital

At I July and 30 Junc

Paid up sharc capital:

At I July and 30 Junc

At stan ol'thc ycar
lransltr I'rom gencral rcscn'c
Paymcnts out ofconsolidatcd fund

CONSOI,IDATI]D AND BANK
2024 2023

KShs' million KShs' million

100.000

50,000

50.000

38.000

a

o

a

C)wncrship ofthc cntirc sharc capital is vcsted in thc Principal Sccrctar) to thc National 'l rcasury. l-hc Board
of l)ircctors authoriscd thc capitalisation of KShs 12.000 million from thc gcncral rcscrte fund on 8

Scptcmbcr 2023. resulting in thc incrcasc in paid up sharc capital from KShs 38.000 million to KShs 50.000
million. Iurthcr the tloard ofl)irectors authoriscd the incrqase in authoriscd share capital to KShs 100.000
m illion in April 12.2024. ln addition. thc Board of Dire ctors authoriscd thc capitalisation o I KShs 10.000
million from thc gcncral rcscrvc fund on 6 Scptcmbcr 2024 to cnhance thc Bank's paid up capital to KShs
60.000 million.

(b) Gl,NLRAl. RI.SI:Rvl: I'l rND - COI{Sol.lDA tlil) ANI) IIANK

'l hc gcncral rcservc of KShs 300,725 million (2023: KShs 366,730 million) rcprcscnts accumulatcd rcalizcd
surplus of KShs 72.708 million (2023: KShs 65,495 million) arising from normal opuations of thc llank
and unrcalizcd gains ol'KShs 228.017 million (2023: KShs 301.235 million).

(c) IAIR VAl.t.lll RI|SI-]RVt, - CONSOI.lDAl l;l) AND RANK

'l hc fair valuc rescrve rcprcscnts cumulativc gains and losscs arising liom revaluation of dcbt instruments
lrom cost to lair value bascd on the markct values at thc cnd ofthc rcporting datc.

(d) RLVAI.t,lAl tON RItSI'RVlt - ('ONSOL )A l'ltD ANt) BANK

l hc revaluation rescrrc rclatcs to unrcalizcd rcvaluation gains on land trnd buildings that will not bc rccycled
into profit or loss. 'l'hc rcserve is non-distributablc.

(c) CONSOl.lDA.l l-:l) FtrND -(lONSOl.lDAlIll) ANI) IIANK

'l hc Consolidated liund rcprcsents amounts proposcd for distribution to thc Govcmment olKcnya ln)m thc
Ccncral Rcscrvc Iund.

Movcmcnt in the consolidatcd lund is as Ii)llows CONSOl.lt)A']1:l) AND BANK
2024 2023

KShs'million KShs'million

5,000
10.000
(5.000 )

4.000
5.000

(4.000)

a

Ar :10 Junc

53

30.000 5.000
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

26. CASII GENI.:RAlt;D / (tJSt:D) IN OPTTRATIONS

(Deficit/Surplus lor thc year

Adjustmcnts for:
Unrcalizcd foreign exchange (gains)/losscs
Accrued lnterest adjustmcnt
Depreciation ofproperty and equipment (Note l8(b))
Amonisation of intangible assels (Note l9)
Amonisation of right-of-use asscts (Note I E( a))
Grant to National Policc Servicc (Note l8(b))
Gain on disposal ofpropeny and cquipmcnt (Note 7)
Impairmcnt allowancc on financial assets
Intcrcst incomc
lntercst cxpcnse
lntercst on lcasc liability (Note 9(a))
Provision for impairmcnt loss on othcr asscts (Note 9(a))
Net crcdit rclating to thc rctiremcnt bcncfit assct (Note 20)
t:mploycr contributions on dcfincd benefit asset (Notc 20)
Reclassification lrom fair valuc reservc (Notc l0(b))

Opcrating surplus bclbre rvorking capital changcs
Changcs in working capital:
l,oans and advanccs
Othcr asscts
Duc from Covcrnmcnt oI Kcnya
Currcncy in circulation
I)eposits
lMl'on-lcnt
Consolidatcd l-und (Note 25(c))
Othcr liabilities

Nct cash [rom/ (uscd in) opcrations

coNsol.tDAl t.:D
2024 2023

KShs' million KShs' million

73,555
723

2.055
287
't0

(2)
3.782

(63.630)
6,526

6
32

(482)
(48)

9,122

(131,489)
1.701

2.156
t77
66

t.493
(4)

2.E13
(29.020)

3,993
7

27
(627\

(56 )
6.6t2

(24.342\ t50.494

8,3431 6\A

a

o

a

a

a

a

755
29.656
r 7.E28

79,714
( 120.363)

(5,000)
(9e )

20
480

(71,704)
10,617
22,548

(71,038)
(4.000)

t.9t4

10,212 (102.820)

64
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

26. CASII GENIiRAII|D / (T]SI;I)) IN oPI'RATIONS

(Deficit/Surplus for thc ycar

Adjustments for:
tlnrealized foreign exchange (gains)4osscs

Accrued Intcrest adjustment

Depreciation ofprupeny and equipmcnt (Note l8(b))
Amortisation of intangiblc assets (Note l9)
Amortisation of right-of.use ilsscts (Note I 8(a))

Crant to National Policc Sen'icc (Note l8(b))
Cain on disposal ofprupcrly and cquipment (Notc 7)

Impairmcnt allowancc on financial assets

lntercst incomc

Intercst expcnse

lntercst on lcase liability (Notc 9(a))

Provision for impairmcnt loss on othcr assets (Note 9(a))
Nct crcdit rclating to thc rctircment bcncfit assct (Notc 20)

lrmployer contributions on dcfined bcnefit asset (Note 20)
Reclassification from fair value reserve (Note l0(b))

Operating surplus beforc working capital changcs

Changes in working capital:
[,oans and advanccs

Othcr assets

Duc from Govcmmcnt of Kenla
(:urrency in circulation
I)cposits
IMF'on-lent
Conrclidatcd lund (Notc 25(c))
Other liabilitics

Nct cash from/ (uscd in) opcrations

2't. Nllr c^s ljRov/ (usl-)D) tN oPtiR  noNs

(a) |or thc purpJse ofthe statcment ofcash flows, cash and cash cquivalcnts includc:

BANK
2024

KShs'million
2023

KShs'million

150.494(24.342\

a

o

O

a

o

O

o

o

't3.555

723

2,055

287

70

(2)
3;182

(63.630)

6.526
6

32

(482 )
(48)

9.t22

(131,489)

1,701

2,156
t77
66

1,491

(4)
2,813

(29.020)

3.993

7

27
(627 )
(56)

6.6t2

616

29.656
17.828
't9.714

( r20.363)
(5.000)

40

7,654

730.e58

8.143

20

506
(7 t.704\

10,6 t7
22.548

(71.038)
(4.000)

t,888

5 t2.n3

to.2t2 ( r02.820)

coNsot.tt)A] t,t) ANI) BANK
2024 2023

KShs'million KShs'million
484.526 42t.500

4 t.33 t 45.t00
205. t0 t 45.5 t3

o

Balanccs duc l'rom banking institutions (Note I I )
l"inancial asscb l:VO('l (Notc l5)
Sccuriti(-s discountcd by banks and othcr advanccs (Note l3)

o
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

27. NEI CAStl FROM/ (USED) IN OPERATIONS (continuc{)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

At stan ofthc year
Cash flow itcms:
Repayments to IMI'
Receipts during the year
foreign exchange changcs

At 30 June

CONSOI,II)ATI'D AND BANK
2024 2023

KShs'million KShs'million
471,899 325,145

28. RIJI,Al'ED PAR'IY'IRANSACl'IoNS

ln thc coursc of its operations, the Bank cnters into transactions with rclatcd panies, which includc thc
Governmcnt of Kenya (the ultimate owner of the Bank).

'l hc main ransactions arc ordinary banking facilitics to govemmcnt ministries included in Note 23 and lcnding
to thc (lovcrnmcnt o f Kcnya includcd in Note 21.

(t,22s\
139,866

(43.128)

57 3.412

(6,736)
96.587
62.903

477.899

45
33

I

(24\

55

(i) l-oans

I'he []ank extends loan facilities to all staff including thc key managemcnt staff The advances are at
prefcrcntial ratcs o f interest determined by thc l]ank. Thc rcpayment termsand collateral used arc similar
to those ofloans and advanccs to other staff. Provisions on loans and advances to staffarc arrived at using
collcctive assessment approach. Provisions at 30 June 2024 arc discloscd in Notc 14. Collatcral
information is disclosed in Notc 29. The rcpayment terms ofthe loans are betwecn 3 )e?rs and 25 years.

CoNSot,IDATI.]D AND BANK
2024 2023

KShs'million KShs'millionl,oans to key senior staff

At I July
l,oans advanced during thc ycar
I ntercst carncd
l,oan rcpaymcnts

At 30 June

(ii) I)irectors' emoluments

Irces to non-executivc directors
I)ircctonr' ravclling expcnscs
Other rcmuncration to cxecutive dirsctors

(iii) Rcmuncration to scnior staff

(iv) lt)st{mplotmcnt pcnsion to senior managcmen(

55
30
)

\471

40

l9
,l

37

l7
I

35

77 53

298 124

a

56

I5 t9
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

28. Rtil,Al t.lD PARTY TRANSACT IONS (conrinucd)

(v) (;ovcmmcnt ofKenya - ownerofthe Bank

Due from Govemmcnt of Kenla (Notc 2l(b))
Covcmmcnt Institutions l)ctosits (Note 23)
lMr On-lent to GOK (Nore 2l(a))
lnterest eamcd from Govcmmcnt of Kenya - l-oan (Note 4)
lnterest camcd lrom (;ovcmmcnt of Kenya - Ovcrdraft (Notc
4)
l'ces and commission income (Notc 6(a))
l.oan principal rcpaymcnr (Notc 2l(b))

'fransactions 
cntcred into with thc (iovcmmcnt includc

. []anking scrvices:

. Management of issuc and redemption of sccurities at a qtmm ission and:. lorcign currcncy denominatcd dcbt scttlement and other rcmittanccs at a fcc

CONSOI,IDAlI.]I) AND BANK
2024 2023

KShs'million KShs'million
160,311 1t9,967
352.7| 36t.125
409.3't 5 326.86s

526 559

9.630
3,000
l,tl0

5,16t
3.000
l,l t0a

(vi) Kenya School ofMonctaD srudics(KSMS)

'l hc Kcnya School of Monerary Srudics (KSMS) was incorporatcd on April 15. 1997, as a Compan)
limitcd b) guarantcc by thc Ccntrdl Bank of Kenya (CBK) and rhc National -t 

rcasury to ofli'r training ani
courses for tlc financial scctor in Kcnya and thc Flast African rcgion.

In Novcmbcr 2019, the subscribcrs of KSMS resolvcd to dis$lve it and transl'er thc activitics of thc
C:ompan) to CBK. I hc winding up process has been going on. culminating in thc dissolution of the
company through a Kcnya oazctrc noticc darcd May 17. 2024. cffcctivc thc datc of applicarion ( April 24,
2024). conscqucntly. all thc functions, asscts, and liabilitics of KSMS wcrc transferrcd to the Bank and
its business. in panicular thc l,caming and capability t)cvclopment function. will bc run as a ncw
l)cpanment ofthc llank under thc namc . Ccntral !lank ofKenya Institutc of Monetary Studics.

All thc tangiblc assets at thc ccntral tlank of Kcn) a Institutc of Monc,ry* studics (formcrly KSMS) havc
always tneen fully owncd by CUK and thcrelbrc not part ofthis transfcr.

l'or the year undcr review. the transactions and balanccs betwcen cBK and KSMS arc as follows.

CUK-KSMS rclated trdnsactions and balanccs
Crants from CBK
I)ue ( from)/to ('UK

(!ii) ('cntral llank ofKcnla I'cnsion t'und and Uanki Kuu l,cnsion Schemc 2012

CoNSOI,II)AI't.:I) AND BANK
2024 2023

KShs'million KShs'million

164 532
(2tl

'Ihe pcnsion schcmcs (that is. the defincd bcncit and dcfincd contribution schcmes) arc managcd and
administcred by thc Secrctariat appointcd by thc sponsor.

a
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

29. I]INANCIAI, RISK MANAGIiMI'N]' OBJI.:C]'IVI]S AND POI,ICII:S

'l hc Centml tlank ot Kcnya activitics cxposc it to a varicty of financial risks. including credit risk and thc effscts
ofchangcs in debt. foreign cuEency cxchangc rates and intcrest ratcs.'lhe llank's overall risk managcmcnt
progranrmc focuscs on thc unprcdictability of financial markcts and sccks to minimisc potcntial advcrsc efltcts
on its financial pcrformance.

Risk managemcnt is carricd out by ths Intemal Audit and Risk Management Departmcnt under F,olicics approvcd
by thc Board of l)irectors. Othcr oBans that monitor thc asscssment and managemcnt of risks within thc Bank
includc: lloard Audit Committee.

(a) Sfategy in using financial instrumcnts

'l he Uank holds forcign cxchangc rcscrvcs for thc purposc ofservicing official forcign dcbt. paying non-dcbt
govemmcnt and Ccntral llank ofKcn)a cxpenditurcs abroad and intervention in the forcign cxchangc markct
to minimize volatility and facilitatc its smooth functioning.

'Ihc forcign cxchangc rcservcs are managcd via a govemancc l'ramcwork anchorcrl in lcjislation and a
rescrvcs managcment policy set by thc Iloard of [)irccton. 1'hc policy sets the contcxt within which thc
Suategic Assct Allocation, Invesrnent guidclincs and Invcstment Committee are operationalizcd in ordcr to
achiwc lie ovcrarching principlcs ofsalcty. liquidity and rctum.

(b) Risks facing thc Rank

lhc following arc thc main types of linancial risks that thc Eank is cxtDscd to in thc coursc ofcxccuting
its opcrations:

. Crcdil risk

. Ma*ct risk
o l.iquidit) risk

(i) Crcrlit risk

Crcdit risk is thc risk that thc llank will incur a loss bccausc its customcrs or countcrpartics l'ail k)
dischargc thcir contractual obligations. I-hc Bank managcs and controls crcdit risk by sctting limits on thc
amoun( of risk it is Eilling to accept lor individual countcrparties and for gc.ographical and industry
concentrations. and by monitoring exposurcs in relation to such limits.

Credit risk ariscs lrom balances duc lrom banking insttutions. llnds hcld with IMI-. sccuritics ard
advanccs to banks, loans and advanccs, dcbt instrumqnts at fair valuc through othcr comprchcnsivc
incomc. othcr aiscts (sundD dcbtors) and due from Govcmmcnt of Kcnla.

Managcmcnt of crcdit risk is carricd out thruugh thc choice of countcrpa(ics. Ihc Rank's choicc of
counterpa(ics is conlincd to top intcmational banks that mcc! thc sct cligibilit) crircria of financial
soundncss on long-tcrm crcdit rating. shorl-term crcdit rating and capital adcquacy.

a
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JLTNE 2024

29. f'INANCIAL RISK MANAcEMtiNT OBJTjCTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

The following table sets out the carrying amounts ofthe financial assets that are exposed to credit risk as
at 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023:

coNsot.tDATEt)
2024 2023

KShs'million KShs'million

a

a

a

a

o

o

o

o

Balances duc from banking institutions
Funds held with lntemational Monelary Fund (lMF)
Securities and advances to banks
IMF On-Lent to GOK
[,oans and advances
Debt instruments at fair valuc through other comprehensivc
income
Olher assets - sundry debtors
Due from C,ovemment ofKcnya

Balanccs due from banking institutions
Funds held with lntemational Monetary Fund (lMF')
Securities and advances to banks
IMF On-Lent !o COK
l,oans and advances
Debt instruments 8t fsir value through other comprehensive
income
Other assets

Due frcm Crovemment ofKenya

2024
KShs'million

BANK
2023

KShs'million

42t.469
73.27 s
82,469

326,t65
3,694

484,3t2
52,5s0

239,847
409.375

3,627

564,t24
140

r60,31 l

42t,469
73,275
82,469

326,86s
3,694

640,530
248

189,967

640,530
109

189,967

1,914,986 1,738,517

e
484,312
52,550

239,84'l
409,37 5

3.627

564,t24
r40

160,31 I

1,914,986 |,718,378

The Bank assesses the credit quality ofthcse assets al cvery reporting date. None of the balances have had
their terms renegotiated as a result ofnon-performance. Management monitors the crcdit exposure of staff
on a continuous basis, takinB into account their financial position, past experience and other factors.

o
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

29. F INANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTMS AND POLICIES (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

Credit quality an8lysis

The following tables set oul information about the credit quality of financisl assets measured at amortised
cost and debt instrumcnls st FVOCI. Unless sp€cific8lly indicrted, for financial ass€ts, the amounB in the
table represent gross carrying amoun6.

Explanation ofthe terms: 'Stage l','Stage 2' and 'Stage 3'are included in Note 2(f). The crcdit ratings
are obtained from recognized intemational credit rating agencies.

Year endcd 30 June 2024

o
Stagc I

KShs'million
Total

KShs'million

CONSOI,IDATET)
Stage 2 Stage 3

KShs'million KShs'million

Balance due from banking institutions
Rated AAA
Rated AA+ to AA-
Rated A+ to A-
Ratcd BBB to BB-
Unrated

Cross carrying amount
Impairment allowsnce

Net carrying amount

Debt instruments at fair value through
oct
Rated AAA
Rated AA+ to AA-
Rated A+ to A-
RaIed BBB to BB-

Carrying amount

Due from Covemment ofKenya
Unrated

t'unds with IM['
Unrated

Gross carrying amount

Impairment allowance

Net carrying amount

55
168,464
I10,E93
I 12,468
92.646

484,526
(2t4\

484.312

55
16t.464
I t0,893
I 12,,168

92,646

484,526
(214\

484,3t2

88,5s 1

466,073

8,5t7
1,613

564,824

160.31 I

52,554

52,554

(4)

52,550

88,551
466,073

t,587
I,613

a

564,824

160,3 t I

52,554

52,554

(4)

52,550

a

IMF' On-t.ent !o GOK
U nrated
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

29. l'lNANClAt, RISK MANAGUMITNT OBJI.:CTIVt.tS AND pot_tCIES (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

Credit quality analysis (continucd)

Year ended 30 June 2024

a
Stagc I

KShs'million

Securities and advanccs to banks
Irnrated 240.368

CONSOT,IDAl't]D
Stage 2 Stagc 3

KShs'million KShs'million

25.783

25.783
(2s;t831

3.5't6

3,576
(3.438)

Il8

1'otal
KShs'million

Gross carrying amount
Impairment allowancc

Net carrying amount

l,oans and advances
U nratcd

Cross carrying amount
lmpairmcnt allowancc

Nct carrying amount

Othcr assets

Unrated

Gross carr; ing amount
lmpairmcnt allowance

N-ct carr,'ing arnount

240,368
(52 r)

239.847

3,496

3.496
('l')

3.489

49'l

497
( 357)

140

266.151

266,151
(26.304)

239.84't

7.O72

7,072
(3.445)

3,627

497
o

o

a

497
( 3s7)

t40

a
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JIJNE 2024

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTMS AND POLICIES (continucd)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

Credit quality analysis (continued)

Yesr ended 30 Jun€ 2023

StaSe I
KShs'million

CONSOLIDATED
Stage 2 Stage 3

KShs'million KShs'million
Total

KShs'million

94
164,530
78;128

I 17,841
60,307

421,500
(31)

42t,469

Balance due from banking institutions
Rated AAA
Rated AA- to AA+
Rated A- to A+
Rated BBB - BB
Unrdtcd

Cross carrying amount
Impairmcnt allowance

Nct carying amount

Dcbt instrumenb at fai. vslue through
ocl
Rated AAA

Rated AA- to AA+
Rated A- to A+

Carrying amount

Due from Govemment of Kenya
Unrated

Funds with IM[-
Unrated

Gross carrying amount

Impairment allowance

Net carrying amount

94
164.530
7t,728

I 17,841
60,307

421,500
(31)

42t,469

a

a

a

a

93,624
538,t 87

E,719

93,624
53E,I t7

8,7t9

IMF On-l-ent !o GOK
Unrated

640.530

t89.967

73,3 t2

't3,312

(37)

73,275

326,865

640,530

189.967

73,312

73,3t2

(37)

73.275

326,865

a
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JIJNE 2024

29. I'INANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTMS AND POLICIES (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

Credit quality analysis (c.ntinued)

Year ended 30 June 2023

Stage I
KShs'million

Toral
KShs'million

CONSOLIDATED
Sr8ge 2 Stage 3

KShs'million KShs'million

Securities and advanccs to banks
Unrated

Cross carrying amount
Impairment allowance

Net carrying amount

Loans and advances
Unrated

Cross calrying amount
lmpairment allowance

Net csrrying amount

Other ass€ts
tJnrated

Cross carrying amount
Impairment allowance

Net carrying amount

78.857

78,857
(523)

26,35t

26.358
(22,223\

4,135

3,5t2

3,582
(3,45t)

124

306
(29r)

105,215

105.215
(22.746)

E2,469

7,162

7,t62
(3,468)

3,694

573

573
(325)

24t

78,334

o

a

3,575

3,575
( l0)

5

5

3,565 5

267

26't
(27)

240

306

o
8

a
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTMS AND POLICIES (continued)

(i) Credit risk (mntinued)

Cr€dit quality analysis (continued)

Ycar ended 30 June 2024

StsBe I
KShs'million

Total
KShs'million

55
16t,464
I 10,893
I12,468
92,646

BANK
Stsge 2 Stage 3

KShs'million KShs'million

a

a

a

o

Balance due fmm bsnking institutions
Rated AAA
Rated AA+ to AA-
ftat€d A+ to A-
Rated BBB to BB.
[Jnrated

Gross csrryinS amount
lmpairment allowance

N€t csrrying amount

Debt insauments at fair value through
ocr
Ratcd AAA
Rated AA+ to AA-
Rated A+ to A-
Rated BBB !o BB-

CaryinS amount

Due fmm Govemment ofKenya
Unrated

Funds with lMl-
Unrated

Gross carrying amount

Impairmerlt allowancc

Net carrying amount

55
t6E,464
I t0,893
I12,468
92,646

4t4,526
(214)

4t4,3t2

88,55t
466,0'13

t,587
I,613

484,s26
(2t4)

484,3t2

EE,55l
466,073

8,587
I,613

564,t24

160,3 t I

52.554

52,554

(4)

52.550

409,375
IMF On-Lent to @K
Unrated

564,t24

160.31 l

52,554

52,554

(4)

52.550

409,3't 5

a
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICTES (continued)

(i) Crcdit risk (clntinued)

Credit quality aralysis (continued)

Year endcd 30 June 2024

Stage I
KShs'million

Stage 2
KShs' million

BANK
Stage 3

KShs' million
Total

KShs'million

S€curities and advanccs to banks
Unrated 25,783 266,t5t

o
240,36E

240,368
(521)

239,t47

1,4

3,4
(7\

3,4t9

497

a

Oross carrying amount
Impairment sllowancc

Net carrying amount

Loans and advances
Unrated

Gross carrying amount
Impairment allowance

Net carrying smount

Other assets

Unral,ed

Gross carrying amount
Impairment allowance

Net carrying amount

25,783
(25,7t3\

3,576

3,576
(3,438)

l3E

266,151
(26,3041

239,U7

1,072

7,072
(3,.r45)

3,627

497

497
(r57)

I ito

497
(357)

140

a
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

29. FINANCIAI, RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTMS AND POLICIES (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

Credit quality analysis (continued)

Year ended 30 June 2023

Stage I
KShs'million

94
t64,530
1t,728

I t 7,841
60,307

421,500
(31)

42t,469

BANK
Slage 2 Stage 3

KShs'million KShs'million
'l'otal

KShs'million

94
164,530
78,728

I t7,841
60,307

42r,500
(31)

42t,469

93,624
538,t87

8,719

640,530

189,967

73,3t2

't3,312

(37 )

73,27 5

326,865

a

Balance due from banking
institutions
Rated AAA
Rated AA- ro AA+
Rated A- to A+
Rated BBB . BB
Unrated

Cross carrying arnount
Impairment sllowance

Net carrying amount

Debt instruments 8t fair valuc
through OCI
Rated AAA
Rated AA- !o AA+
Rated A- to A+

Carrying amount

Due from Govemment ofKenya
Unrated

Funds with IMF
Unrated

Gross carrying amount

lmpairment allowance

Net carrying smount

IMF On-t.ent to GOK
Unrated

o

a

o

93,624
53t,187

8.719

640,530

r 89.967

73.312

't 3,312

(37 )

73,27 5

326.t65

a
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

29. FINANCIAI, RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTMS AND POLICIES (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

Credit quality analysis (continued)

Year ended 30 June 2023

Stage I
KShs'million

Srage 2
KShs'million

BANK
Stage 3

KShs'million
Total

KShs'million

Securities and advances !o banks
tJnrated 78,t57

Gross carrying amount
Impairment sllowanc€

Net carying amount

'tE,t51
(523)

7t,334

3,575

26,358

26.358
(22,223\

4,135

3,582

3,582
(3,458)

306
(2e8)

8

105.215

105,215
(22,746)

t2,469

7,t62

434
(325 )

109

a

a

Loans and advances
Unrated

Gross carry ing amount
Impairment allowance

Net csrrying amount

O$er assets
Unratcd

Gross carrying amount
lmpairment allowancc

Net carrying amount

5

3,575
( l0)

3,565

5 7,t62
(3,468)

124 3,694

306 434

5

128

128
(2't)

l0r

a
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

29. FINANCIAI. RISK MANA(]llMllNl' OBJt.lC-Tlvl.:S AND POLlCll,S (continucd)

(i) Crcdit risk (continucd)

C-ollateral and othcr crcdit cnhancemcnts

]'hc Bank holds collatcral and othcr crcdit cnhancements against certain credit cxposures. I-hc follorving
tablc sets out the principal tYpcs ofcollatcral hcld against diffcrcnt types of financial asscs.

CONSoLII)A1'I.]I) ANI) I]AN K

o
Notcs

l3

l4

t00

t00

Pcrcentagc ofexposurc that is
subjcct to collateral

rcquircmcnts

30 June 2024 30 Junc 2021
Principal tvpc ol
collateral held

Advanccs to banks Rcvcrsc
rcpurchasc anangcmcnts and due
from commcrcial banks

l,oans and advanccs - l,oans to stall'

Kcnya Govemmcnt
100 dcbt sccuritics

t.and and buildings.
govCmmcnt
sccurities. motor

100 vchiclcs

a

a

At l0 Junc 2024. the llank hcld advances to banks of KShs 210.709 million (2023: KShs 4l,142 million),
for which no impairmcnt allowancc is rocogniscd bccausc oI lull collatcral covcragc. 

-fhc lair valuc of thc
collatcral hcld lbr Advances to banks rvas KShs 185.,145 million (2023: KShs 40.99 million). l hcsc havc
bccn dctcrmincd bascd on markct pricc quotations at thc rcB)(ing datc.

Inputs, assumptions and tcchniqucs used for cstimating cxpcctcd crcdit loss

Significanl increase in credit risk

Whcn dctcrm in ing whcthcr thc risk of default ofthc invcstcd amount on a financial instrumcnt has incrcased
significantly sincc initial rccognition. thc llank considcrs rcasonablc and supponablc inl'ormation that is
rclcvant and availablc rvithout unduc cost or c[forl. lhis includcs both quantitativc and qualitativc
inlbrmation and analysis. bascd on thc Bank's historical cxpcricncc and credit risk spccialist's assessmcnt
and including lbnvard-looking information.

l hc objcctivc ol'the asscssmcnt is to idcntify whcther a signilicant increasc in crcdit risk has occurrcd lbr
an crposurc by comparing:

. thc rcmainin8 lifetimc prubabilit) ofdclault (PI)) as at thc rcponing date: \vith

. tic rcmaininS lil'etimc PI) lbrthispoint in timc that rvas estimatcd al lhc time ol'initial rccognition ofthc
cxposuru' (adjustcd \rhcrc rclcvant lor changcs in pnDpa)mcnt expcctations).

(.redit risk grades. ratings

lior asscssing thc risk ol'dclbult. at initial rccognition. the llank ir-ssigns to cach cxposurc credit risk
gradc/rating dctcrmincd based on thc crcdil risk asscssmcnt.

'thc llank. at initial rccognition. allocalcs cach cxposurc to banks a crcdit risk gradc bascd on a varictl- of
data that is dctcrmincd to bc prcdiqtivc of thc risk ol dcfault and applics cspcricnccd crcdit judgcmcnt.
Crcdit risk gradcs arc dclincd using qualitativc and quantitativc lirctors that arc indicativc ofrisk ofdclault.
'l hcsc facton vary dcpcnding on thc nature ol'thc exfxtsurc and thc t) pc of borIo\rcr. Crcdit risk gradcs arc
dclincd and calihratcd such that thc risk ol'dcl'auh occuning incrcascs cxFtncntially as thc crcdit risk
dctcrioratcs.

a
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

29. r|NANClAt. RISK MANACIIMtiNI OBJLCI'IvFiS ANI) POl.lclES (continucd)

(i) Crcdit risk (continucd)

Inputs, assumptions and tcchniqucs used lbr cstimating expected crcdit loss (continucd)

Credil risk grades/ial ings (continued)

Exposurcs are subjcct to ongoinB monitoring, which may rcsult in an cxposurc being movcd to a diflcrent
crcdit risk gradc/rating. 'lhc monitoring typically involvcs usc ofthe lollowing inlbrmation.

o c urcs

PD estimation process

Crcdit risk gradcVratings arc a primarl input into the dctermination o[ the term structurc of PI] lor
cxFDsurcs. ltc llank collccts p,erformancc and dcfault information about its crcdit risk cxposures
analyscd by countcrparty as rvcll as b;" crcdit risk gradingratings. I hc tlank cmploys statistical modcls
such as transition matriccs to analyse thc data collccted and gencrdtc cstimatcs of thc lifctimc PD of
cxposurcs and how thcsc are cxpcctcd [o change as a result ofthc passagc of timc.

'I hc mcthodologi for dctermining PDs lor domcstic commcrcial banks is bascd on thc risk asscssmcnt
tcchniques uscd for supcrvisory purposcs. |actors considcred b) thcsc tcchniques includc thc capital
adcquacy. crcdit risk. liquidity and prufitabilit) ofthe counterpany.'l'hc P[)s arc calcularcd as thc
avcragc weighted PDs for cach factor, wherc thc rvcights arc dctcrmincd bascd on thc importancc of
the factor.

l'or thc asscts dcnominatcd in lbrcign currcncy. thc Bank uscs l2-month PDs for sovcrcign and non-
sovcrcign issuanccs. cstimatcd bascd on Bloombcrg's probability of default modcl rvhich indicatc a
possibility of bankruptcy ovcr l2 months lor issucrs pcr cach rcspcctivc rating catcgor). 'l he Bloomberg
PD includcs thc cstimatcs of forward-lu)king paramctcrs such as GDI,. forcx rates. and intercst rates.

l;or cxposurcs to thc Kcnyan (iovcrnmcnt in domcstic currency. thc cstimatcd PD considcrs thc short-
tcrm maturil) ofsuch exposurcs, thc absencc of historical dcfaults and dclailcd asscssmcnts ofthc
abilit). ofthc Kcnlan (;ovcmmcnt to fullll its contractual cash llon obligations in thc shon-tcrm which
considcrs also thc macroeconomic indicators ovcr thc asscssmcnt pcriod.

a

o

o

I)omcstic c surcs Othcr asscts staff loans

atrngs
hangcs in cxtcrnal crcdit

ta from crcdit rating
cics. press aniclcs,

uoted bond priccs for thc
untcrpany. whcrc availablc

ctual and cxpccted
ignificant changcs in thc

litical. rcgulatory and
nological cnvironmcnt of

hc counterparty or in its
usiness activitics.

Repaymcnt histo0 - this
includes overdue status and
llnancial situation of the
borrower.

lnternally collccted data on
banks and supcrvisory
indicators-

l':xisting and forecast changcs
in business. financial and
economic conditions.
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

29. !INANCIAt, RISK MANAGEMITNI OBJIICITIVIjS AND POl.lCIl,S (continucd)

(i) Crcdit risk (continued)

Inputs. assumptions and techniques uscd for cslimating impairment (continued)

Determining vhether credit risk has increased signrficantly

.l-hc 
Bank considcrs a [inancial instrumcnt to havc expcricnced a significant incrcase in crcdit risk. whcn

onc or more ofthc following quantitativc. qualitative or backstop critcria have bccn put:

Significant dip in opcrating rcsults ofcountcrpafly.
Crcdit distncss ncccssitated cxtLnsion to tcrms grantL'd.

Signilicant advenc changcs in thc financial and /or cconomic conditions affccting thc countcrpany
Significant changc in L:ollatcral \aluc which is cxpccted to incrca$ risk ofdelault.
Signs ofcash flow / liquidity problems.

A backstop is applicd. and the financial instrumcnt considcred to have cxprcricncc a significant incrcasc
in crcdit risk if thc countcrparty is morc than 30 days past duc.
I)ays past duc arc dctcrmincd by counting thc numbcr ofdays sincc the earlicst elapsed due date in rcspect
of which full paymcnt has not bc.cn received. Duc datcs arc dctcrmined without considering any gracc
pcriod that might bc available to thc countcrpany.

l'he llank monitors thc cffcctivcness ofthc critcria uscd to identily significant incrcascs in credit risk by
rcgular rcvicus to confirm that thc critcria arc capablc of idcntifying significant incrcases in crcdit risk
beforc an cxposurc is in delbult.

DeJinition ofdefaulr

lhc Bank considcrs a llnancial assct to bc in dclaulr whcn

thc countcrparty is unlikely to pay its crcdit obligations to thc Rank in full. without rccounic by thc
[]ank to actions such as rcalizing sccuritl (ifany is hcld); or
the counterparty is past duc morc than 90 days on any matcrial crcdit obligation to thc llank.

ln asscssinB \rhcthcr a countcrpan) is in dcfault. thc llank considcrs indicarors that arc:

qualitativc - c.g. brcachcs ol'covcnants;
quantitativc c.g. ovcrduc status and non-paymcnt on another obligation ofthc samc issucr to thc Uank:
and
based on data dcvclofrd intemally and obtaincd from cxtcmal sourccs.

Inputs into thc asscssmcnt of whcthcr a financial instrument is in dcl'ault and its significancc may vary
o!cr timc to rcllcct changcs in circumstanccs.

I nc o r por a I i o n of lo rw ardJ oo ki ng i nfo tma t i on

ln its IrCl, modcls. thc llank rclics on Illoomberg crcdit risk modcl lbr provision ofprobabilitics ol'dclhult
valucs for both thc invcstmcnt countcrpanics and the sovcrcigns. Ihc llank also rclics on intcrnational
crcdit rating agcncics for crcdit rating information. Crcdit ratings arc a tool. among othcrs. thar invcstors
can usc whcn making dccisions about purchasing bonds and othcr l'ixcd incomc invcstmcnts. l hc) cxprcss
indepcndcnt opinions on crcdihronhincss. using a common tcrminologl that may help investors makc
morc informcd invcstmcnt dccisi(]ns.

As pan ol'their ratings analysis. thc cxtcmal crcdit agcncics as wcll as thc Bbombcrg cre'dit risk modcl
cvaluatc current and historical information and asscss thc potcntial impact of a broad rangc of fonvard-
looking information.
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

29. FINANCIAI. RISK MANAG|lMl,Nl' OtlJt.lcl'Mls ANI) POLlcllis (continucd)

(i) Crcdit risk (continucd)

lnputs. assumptions and tcchniqucs uscd for cstimating impairment (continucd)

\leasurement of L( l

Ihc kcy inputs into tic mcasurcmqnt ofE(ll, arc thc term structurc ofthc lollowing va ablcs

Probability of dclault (PI)):
l,oss givcn dcfault (l.GD)t
lixposurc at dclaul( (l,Al)).

lhcsc paramctcrs arc dcrivcd lrom intcmalll dcvelopcd statistical modcls. globally rccognizcd extcmal
dcvclopcd statistical modcls and othcr historical data.'lhe1 arc adjustcd to rcflcct for\lard-looking
information as dcscribcd abovc.

I'robability ol dcfault (PI)); PI) cstimates arc cstimatcs at a ccrlain datc. rvhich are calculatcd bascd on
statistical rating modcls. and assesse'd using rating tools tailorcd to thc various catcgorics ofcounterpanics
and cxposurcs. 'l-hcsc statistical models arc bascd on intcmally and cxtcmalll compilcd data comprising
both quantitativc and qualitativc factors. 'l'ransition matrixcs data arc used to dcrivc thc Pt) for
countcrpanics. II a countcrpany or cxposurc migratcs betrvccn rating classcs. thcn this will lcad to a
changc in thc cstimatc of thc associatcd PD.

Loss givcn dclault (l-(iD): t.(;l) is thc magn itudc of thc likel) loss il'thcrc is a defaulr. l hc Ilank r'stimarcs
I-(il) paramctcrs bascd on Bascl rccommendcd l,GDs.

Lxposurs at di.'lault (liAI)): liAI) rcprcscnts thc cxpccted cxfnsurc in thc cvcnt of a dcl'ault. 'l he llank
dcrivcs thc liAI) l'rom thc cument exFx)sure to thc countcrpany and potcntial changcs to thc currcnt amount
allowed undcr thc contract including amo(isation.

-l 
hc IiAl) ol a llnancial asset is its gross carrying amount. l:,AI) estimatcs arc calculatcd on a discountcd

cash flow basis using thc cffectivc intercst ratc as thc discounting lbctor.

As dcscribcd atovc. and subjcct to using a marimum of a l2-month I,l) lbr financial asscts lirr \lhich
crcdit risk has not significantly incrcascd. thc llank mcasurcs I.l('1, considcring thc risk ofdcfault ovcr thc
maximum cont.actual period over which it is cxposcd to crcdit risk, cvcn il. lor risk managcmcnt purposcs.
thc Bank considcrs a longcr pr:riod. 'lhe maximum contractual pcriod crtcnds to thc datc at $hich thc
Bank has thc righl [o rcquirc rcpaymcnt ofan advancc.

Whcrc modclling ofa paramctcr is carricd out on a collcctivc basis. thc financial instrumcnts arc grouped
on thc basis of shared risk charactcristics that include: instrument typc. crcdit risk grading: collatcral type;
datc of initial rccognition; rcmaining term to marurit): indusul: and. gcogrdphic location ol'thc
countcrpan)

Thc groupings arc subject to rcgular rcvielv to cnsurc that c:(Frcsurcs uithin a panicular group rcmain
appropriatcly homogcneous.
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

29. t'lNANClAl, RISK MANAGttMttNT OBJECTIvtIS AND POt.lcltis (conrinued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

lnputs, assumptions and techniques uscd for estimsting impairment (continucd)

Measurement o/ ECL (continued)

l-or ponlolios in rcspcct ofwhich the Bank has limited historical data, cxtemal benchmark information is
used to supplemcnt the intemally available data. Thc portfolios for which extcrnal benchmark information
represents a significant input inlo measurement of LlCt, mmpris€ financial asscs as follows:

CONSOI-IDATF:D AND BANK
lixDosure [-lxposurc Extemal benchmarks used

2024 2023
KShs'million KShs'million PD I,GI)

Salanccs due fmm banking
nstitutions 484.312 421.469

Bloombcrg PD
ratins modcl

llascl ll recovery
studics

I)cbt instrumcnls at fair valuc
lhrough other comprehcnsivc
income 564.t24 640.530

Bloombcrg PD
rating modcl

Basel ll rccovery
studies

Funds held with IMF 52.550 73,275
Bloomberg Pt)
rating model

Bascl Il recovery
studics

a
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

29. F INANCIAT. RISK MANAGUMUNT ORJI'CIIVLIS AND POLICIES (coniinued)

(i) Crcdit risk (continued)

An analysis ofchanges in the gross carryint amount and the corresponding I'iCl, allowances in relation io the rclevant Iinancial assets is as follows:

Year endcd 30 June 2024

a

Stage I
Gross

carrying
amount

KShs'million

640.530
320,t75

(360,832)
r,073

(3,739)
(23.392\

(9,69r)

564,824

coNsoltDAl tiD
Stage 2

Gross
carrying
amounl IiCI-l.:cl.

KShs'million

223
223

(ll6)

Stage3
Cmss

carrying
amounl t.:ct.

Total
Gmss

carrying
amounl ECL

Dcbt instruments at fair valuc thmugh
othcr comprehensive income

At I July 2023
Ncw asscts originared or purchased
Ass€t dcrecognizei or repaid
Accrued inlerest
Realised gains
rorei8n exchange adjustmcnts
Changes in risk paramaers
Fair valuc changes

At 30 June 2024

Balanccs due from banking institutions

At I July 2023
Net movcmcnt durinB the year

42t,500
63,026

3l
rE3

KShs'
million

KShs'
million

KShs'
million

KShs'
million

KShs'
million

KShs'
million

6,40,530
320,87s

(360,832)
1,073

(3,739)
(23,392\

223
223

(l l6)

t)
(9,691)

564,824 294

42 r,500

63,026
3l
Itl

t8)
E)

294

Ar l0 June 2024 4t4,526
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

29 t'lNANClAl, RISK MANAGIIMIiNT OBJI:C'TMiS AND POl,lCltis (continued)

(i) Crcdit risk (continued)

An analysis ofchanges in the gross carrying amount and &€ corresponding UCL sllowances in relation lo lhe relevsnt financial ass€ts is as follows

Year ended 30 June 2024

BANK

aaoo o

Debt instumcnts d fair value
thrpu8h o$cr comprEhensivc incomc

At I July 2023
New assets originated or purchased
Assst dcrecognizrd or rcpaid
Accrued intercst
Realiscd gains

l-orei gn cxchaflgc adj ustncnts
Changes in risk p8tameiers

l'air value changcs

Ar 30 Junc 2024

llalanccs due from banking
institutions

At I July 2023
Nct movemcnt during the ycar

At l0 Junc 2024

Stagc I

Gross
carrying
amounI

KShs'million

640.530
320,E75

(360,E32)

I,073
(3,739)

(23,3v21

(9,69r )

564,t24

42t,500
63,026

4t1,526

Stagc 2
Gmss

carrying
amounl

KShs'million

Staac3
Gross

carrying
amount

KShs'million

lbtEl
Gross

carying
aunount

KShs'million
ECL

KShs'million
ECL

KShs'million
ECL

KShs'million
ECL

KShs'million

223
223

(r r6)

640.530
320,875

(360,832)
r,073

(3,719)
(23.392\

223
223

(r r6)

(t 8)
(lE)

(lE)
(tt)

294 294

4t4,526

(9,69r )

56/.,t24

421,500
63,026

3t
lt3

3I
lE3

111 2t1
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

29. llNANClAl. RISK MANACI.IMENT OBJIjCTIVI-;S AND POLICIES (clntinued)

(i) Crcdil risk (continued)

aaaa a

StaSc 2
Gross carying

arxtunt

KShs'million

(5)

a

Stagc3
Gross carrying

anount

t

TotEl
Gross carrying

,t tx)unt

497

Stagc I
Gross carying

amount

43

3,575
997

( 1.0r 7)

(59)

3,4%

ECt-

KShs'million

a a

ECt-

32

310

An analysis ofchantes in the gross carrying amount and the corresponding I'CL allowancas in relation to the rclevant linancial assets is as follows:

Year ended 30 June 2024
BANK

F:CI- ECL

32

Other assels

At I July 2023
Ncw assets originated or
purchased

Asset dcrecogn izcd or
rcpaid
Transfcr 1o Stage 3

At 30 Junc 2024

l.oans and advSnccs

At I July 2023
Ncw assets oriSinat d or
purch&scd
Asset dcrEcognized or
rcpaid
Transfcr to Stages

Changes in risk
par[mcters

At 30 Junc 2024

KShs'million
128

KShs'million
21

KShs'million
306

KShs'million
29t

KShs'million
434

KShs' million
325

20

326

63

35?l7l

7,0723,435

27

l0
3

5 3,s82
t9

3.458
6

7,t62
I,016

(3) (E9)

64

(50)

2t

( 1,106)

3,46t
9

(53)

2l

l0 3,576

90

3,445
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

FINANCIAL RISK MANACIaMUNI OBJECTMiS AND POLICIES (contirued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

Concentrations of crcdit risk (continued)

A scgrcgation ofthe financial assets by geography is sct out below:

Year ended 30 June 2023

a a

Kenya
KShs'million

ts924',t

326,t65

105,2 t 5

7,t62

4.659
434

t 89,967

5,5tE 7tt,t90

a a

12,950 421,500
13,312

326,665

t 05,215
7,162

37,497 640,530
434

I t9,%7

50,447 1,764,9t5

29

BANK
United States

of America
KShs'million

t0,615
73,3t2

Germany
KShs'million

United
Kingdom

KShs'million
Singlpore

KShs'million

83,230 30,664 53,935

568,529 29.U5

722,456 I13,075 10,64 53,935

Canada
KShs'million

Olhers
KShs'million

Total
KShs'million

859

Balances due from banking
institutions
Funds held with IMF
IM['On-Lent !o GOK
Securities and advances to
banks
Loans and advances
Debt instruments at fair value
through OCI
Other asrts - Sundry debtors
Due from Govemment of
Kenya

'l otal linancial ass€ts
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGTMENT OBJttC'l'lVllS AND POI,ICIES (continued)

(i) Crcdit risk (continued)

ConccntrEtions of crcdil risk (continued)

A segregation ofthe fmancial assets by counterpErty type is set out below:

Year ended 30 June 2024

a a a a o

49,472
4652',16

49'l

210. t 09
595,142
4s203

575,I90
4,91t

497 I,945,310

o

BANK
Balances
due from
linancial

institutions
KShs'million

Securities
and advances
KShs'million

F'unds held
with IMF

KShs'million

IMF-On
l,ent

to GoK
KShs'million

Loans and

advances
KShs'million

Fixed
income

securities
KShs'million

Due from
GOK

KShs'million

Other
assets

KShs'million
Total

KShs'million

Central Banks
Foreign Govemments
Supranational
lnstitutions
Commercial Banks
roreign Agcncies
Govemment ofKenya
Othen

49,4?2

103,934
331.120

52,s54

465,276

53.62t

45,203

72;

3,3? 5

409.37 5 t60.31 I

3,697

4t4,526 266.t51 52,554 409,375 7,072 564,824 t60,31 I

260,647

5.504

100
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

29. FINANCIAI- RISK MANAGttMIIN I OBJITC I MTS AND POt.lclt.ls (continucd)

( ii) Markct risk

l'he Bank takes on cxposurc to markct risk. which is the risk that lair valuc or luturc cash flows of a
financial instrumcnt will fluctuatc bc.causc of changcs in markct prices. Market risk ari:es from open
positions in intercst ratc, cuncncy and equity, all of which arc exposed to gcneral and specific market
movemcnts and changcs in thc lcvcl ofvolatility ofmarkct ratcs or priccs such as intcrcst ratcs, loreign
cxchangc rates and cquity priccs.'l'he llank scparates extnsure to markct risk into eithcr uading or non-
trading ponfolios. Markct risk arising from trading and non+rading activitics are conccntrated in Bank
'I reasury and arc monitored by managcmcnt with oversight from the Monctar)' Policy Committcc.

'l rading ponlblios include thosc positions arising l'rom markct-making transactions where thc Bank acts
as principal with commcrcial banks or thc market.

Non-trading porrlolios primarily arise lrom the intcrcst rate managemcnt of thc Bank's invcstmcnt and
monetary policy asscs and liabilities. Non-trading portfolios alrc consist of forcign exchangc and cquity
risks arising, from thc Bank's intcmall) managed dcbt instrumcnts at amoniscd cost and World Bank
RAMP financial asscts.

lnleresl rate risk

lntercst ratc risk is thc risk that thc fair valuc or futurc cash florvs ofa financial instrumcnt will lluctuatc
bccausc ofchangcs in markct intcrcst ratcs.

'lhe Bank's intcrcst ratc risk ariscs from balances duc from banking institutions, securitics and advances
to banks, dcbt instrumcnts at lrVOCI. loans and advances, duc lrom thc (iovemmcnt of Kcnya and
dcposits frum bank and Govcmmcnt. Borrorvings issucd at variablc ratcs exposc the Uank to cash flo\t
intcrcst ratc risk which is paniallv offsct by cash hcld at variablc ratcs. Borrorvings issucd at lixd ratcs
cxposc thc Bank to lair valuc intcrcst rate risk.

o

a

a

o
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

29. FINANCIAT, RISK MANACIIMIIN'I OIIJFICllVES AND POLICIITS (continued)

( ii) Ma*ct risk (clntinucd)

lnterest tdle st (conlinued)
The tables bclow summarise $e Bank's financial ass€ts and liabilitics snd analyscs them into the earlier of conbactual maturity or rc-pricing.

BANK
Non-interest

At30June2024 I -3months 4-12 months l-syears Over 5 ye8rs bearing
KShs' million KShs' million KShs' million KShs' million KShs' million

Assets
Balanccs duc from banking institutions 484,526
Securities and advances to bsnks 205,101 ll,7l0 45.235 4.105
Debt insrumenrs at I-VOCI 41,331 158,3t6 365.107
Funds held with lntemational Monetary ljund (lMF') - 52,554
l-oans and advances 173 416 1,712 1,335 3,376
Olher assets 497
IMF on-lent to GOK 409,375
Due from Govemment ofKenya 61,021 l,ll0 4,440 ll,l29 82,611

'foul financial asscLs 792.152 t7 t,6t2 4t6.494 69.r23 495,t59 1,945,3 r0

oooo

Total
KShs' million

4t4,526
266,151
564,824

52,554
't,o12

497
409,375
160,31 |

l.iabilities
Deposits duc to bsnks afld govemment
Other liabilities
Due to Intemstional Monet8ry Fund (lMF)

647,03s
6,1t7

409.31s

u1,03s
6,1t7

573,4t2164,037

Ibtal financial liabiliries t64,037 1,062,527 t,226,564

Interest sensitivity gap '192,152 t7 t,6E2 416.494 (94,914) (566,66t) 71t,746

As at 30 June 2024. in$ease of l0 basis points would have resultcd in a decreasdincreEse in pmfit 8nd equity ofKShs 552 million (2023: KShs 562 million)
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

30. I:AIR VAI,UIi OI] ASSI.:'IS ANI) I,IABII,Il'II]S

a) Comparison by class olthc carrying amount and fair values ol'thc linancial instrumcnts

'lhc fair valucs of fixc'd incomc sccuritics. cquity invcstmcnts and socuritics and advances to banks
(nediscountcd trc'asury bonds) arc bascd on price quotations at the rcponing date.

Managcmcnt asscsscd that thc fair valuc of balanccs duc lrom banking institutions, lunds hcld with
Intemational Monctary F'und, securitics and advanccs to banks (1rcasury bills discountcd. accrued
intcrcst bonds discountcd. rcpo treasury bills & bonds. accrucd inlcrcst rcpo. liquiditl suppon
framcwork and duc liom commcrcial banks). othcr assets (sundry dcblors). dctr)sits frum govcmment
and banks and othcr liabilitics approximatc thcir c.rrying amounts largcly duc to thc shon-tcrm
maturitics of thcse instrumcnLs-

|air valucs ot thc tlank's staff loans and duc liom (iovcmmcnt ol-Kcnya and duc to Intcmational
Monctary I'und arc dctcrmincd by using l)iscounting Cash l:lorvs (DCl:) mcthod using discount ratc
that rcflccts thc issucr's borrouing ratc as at thc cnd of the rcpo(ing pcriod. l his is shown in thc tablc
bclou:

CoNSot,II)A'II]I) AND I}ANK
2024 2023

I'inancial assets

Sccuritics and advanccs to
banks (rcdiscountcd trcasur)
tx)nds)
[,oans and advanccs
I)u!- lrom Govcmmcnt ol'
Kcnla

l inancial liabilitics

('arrf ing
Amount

KShs'million

t60.31l l3 2. t93

Carry ing
amount

KShs'million

7;159
1.69,1

t89.967 132.780

I.air
valuc

KShs'million

Iair
valuc

KShs'million

5.32 t

3.627
t.974
3.580

7.692
.1.569

I)uc to lntcmational
Mon!-tary l'und 5',13.412 37 t.5,18 4't't.899 3 | 3.634

b) [ air valuc hicrarchl

'lhc tablc bclow shows dn anal)siri ofall asscts and liabilitics mcasurcd at fair valuc in thc financial
statcmcnls or lbr which l'air valucs arc discloscd in thc financial statcmcnts by lcvcl of thc lair value
hicrarchl'. I hcsc are groupcd into lcvcls I to 3 bascd on thc degrcc to which thc fair valuc is obscrvable.

l-cvcl I Quoted prices (unadjustcd) in activc markets for idcntical asscts or liabilitics. lhis lcvcl
includcs cquity sccuritics and dcbt instrumcnts on rccognizcd cxchangcs.
[.$cl 2 . Inputs othcr than quotcd priccs includcd within l,evcl I that arc obscrvablc lor thc assct
or liabilit). cithcr diructl! (that is. as priccs) or indircctll ( that is. dcri\ cd liom priccs).
l.$cl 3 inputs lbr thc assct or liabilit) that arc not bascd on obscrr ahlc markct dara ( unobscn ahlc
inputs).'lhis lcvcl includcs cquit) invcstments and land and buildings \rith significant unohscnablc
componcnts.

llt
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

30. I':AIR VAI-UE Ot' ASSETS AND t,lABlLlTIES (continued)

b) Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Year ended 30 Junc 2024

Assets measured at fair value:
t-and and buildings
Debt instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive incomc
tiquity instrumens at fair value through other
comprehmsive incomc
Gold holdings

Assets for which fair values are discloscd
Securities and advances to banks
(rediscounted ucasury bonds)
l,oans and advances
Due from (iovemment of Kenya

t.iabilities for which fair values are disclosed:
Due to Intemational Monetary l'und

Year ended 30 Junc 2023

Assets mcasured at lair value:
t,and and buildings
Debt instruments al fair valuc through other
comprchensive incomc
[,quity instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive incomc
Gold holdings

Assets for which fair valucs are disclosed
Securities and advances !o banks
(rediscounted reasury bonds)
[,oans and advances
Due from Covemment of Kenya

t.iabilities for which fair valucs arc disclosed:
Duc to Intemational Monetary lund

Thcre wcre no ransfers betwecn levels l. 2 and 3 in the year

CONSOLIDATED AND BANK
Level I Level2 l.evel 3

KShs' million KShs' million KShs' million

564,824

169

4,914

22.288

3.580
132,t 93

371.548

CONSOLIDATF:D AND BANK
Level I Level 2 l,evel 3

KShs'million KShs'million KShs'million

640.530

150

7.692

23,t74

t2

3.569
132,780

313.634

tt2
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

30. tiAlR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LlABll,lTlES (continued)

b) Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The Bank's land and buildings werc revalued in Junc 2021.

f)cscription ofvaluation techniques us€d and key inputs to valuation ofasscts and liabilities

CONSOI,IDATI.]D AND BANK
Significant

t.llvlil.2 Valuation technique observable inputs Range
(weighted average)

Interest rate

a

O

a

a

o

o

o

o

Loans and advances
Due fmm Govemmcnt
of Kenya
Due to lMIj

t.EvEt.3

Land and buildings

t'lquiry instrumcnts at
fair value through
other comprchcnsive
incomc

Frcehold land
and buildings
l-easehold land
and buildings

DCF I nterest rate tl.30/.

DC['
DCF'

I nterest ratc
I nterest ratc

I lyo
3.90/"

o

O

Reconciliation ofthe opcning balances to the closing balances ofthe fair values ofpropcrty and
equipment: -

CONSOI,IDATI.:D AND I}ANK

Markel,/lncome /mst
approach

DCF'

I July 2023

Incomparable sales
ofprop€rtics due to
the uniqueness of
CBK properties.

lncomparable
market data.

Depreciation
Change in charge to profit l0 Junc 2024
Fair value or loss

KShs'million KShs'million KShs'million
KShs'

million

Additions

KShs'million

18,066

5,108

(718)

(r68)

17,348

4,940

23,174 (886) 22.288

Thc significant unobservable inputs used in thc fair value measurement ofthc Bank's land and buildings
are pricc per acre and estimated rental value per sqm per month and dcprcciatcd rcplacemcnt
cost. Signillcant incrcascs (dcrrcases) in any of thosc inpuls in isolation would result in a significanrly
lowcr/lhighcr) fair valuc measurcment.

a

n3
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

3 I. CON INGF]N'T LIABII,ITIES AND COMMITMENTS

The Bank is party to various legal proceedings. Based on legal advice, lhe dircctors b€licve that no loss will
arisc from thesc legal proceedings.

At 30 June 2024, the Bank had capilal commitn€nls of KShs 12.210 million (2023: KShs 8,338 million) in
rcspcct of prop€rty snd equipment purchsses.

Op€rating leases - Bank as a lessee

All the commitments relate to future rent payable for various premises based on the existing contracts and
projccted renewals. '[he lease agreements are betwecn the Bank and the landlords and have no provisions
relating to contingent rent payable. The terms of rcnewal vary from one lease to another and may include I
written notice to lhe lcssors before the expiration ofthe leases and the lessors will grant to the lessee new leases
ofthc said prcmiscs/propcrties for a further term as may bc mutually agrcfd by the panies.

l he cscalation rate varics from property to pnrpcny and is factored into the operating leasc commitmcnt values
presented abovc,

OpcratinS leases - Bank as a lessor

The Bank has entered into operating lcases on is land and buildings consisting of censin oflicc buildings.
'Ihese leases have tcrms of betwecn one and l5 years. All lcsses includ€ a clausc to enable upward revision of
the rental charge on an annual basis according to prevailing market conditions. l'he lessec is also rcquired to
provide a rcsidual valuc guarantee on thc prop€rties, Rental income recognised by the Bank during the year is
KShs 57 million (2023: KShs 28 million).

l:uture minimum rcntals rcceivable under non-cancellable opcrating lcases as at 30 June arc as follows:

2024
KShs'million

2023
KShs'million

O

a

O

o

a

a

O

a

t

a

a

Wirhin one ycar
After one year but not more than fivc ycars

More than fivc years

33
32
24

45

89 45

4
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a CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

32. MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABII,ITII]S

The table below shows 8n analysis of ass€ts and liabilities analysed according to when they arc expected to b€
rccovered or s€ltled.

o

a

o

o

o

O

CONSOLIDATET)
Within 12 After 12

months months
KShs'million KShs'millionYear ended 30 June 2024

ASSETS
Balances due fmm banking institutions
Funds held with Intemational Monetary l'und
(rM[')
Securities 8nd advances !o banks
l,oans and advances
Debt instruments at fsir value through other
comprehensivc incomc
Flquity instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive incomc
Other ass€ts
Cold holdings
Right-of-usc asset - leases
Prop€rly and equipment
lntangible assets
Retirement b€nefi t asscts
IMF l'unds On - t,cnt to GOK
Duc from Govcmmcnt of Kenya

TOTAI, ASSETS

I,IABII,ITII.]S
Currency in circulation
Deposils due to banks and govemment
Due !o IMlj
Other liabilities

1'O1'AI. LIABIt,ITII.:S

NUT ASSEl'S

'l otal
KShs'million

o 52,550
216,81 l

649
23,036
2,9'tt

4E4,3 t2

t99,716

7,1t7

6t,02t

|,022,t76

647,O35

6.1t'l

653.152

369,024

365,108

484.112

52,550
239,847

3,627

564,824

ll
7,n1

169

64
29.583
2,666
5,861

409.37 5

160.31 |

333.795
647,03s
5'13,412

6,1 l7

lt

169
64

29,583
2,666
5,E61

409,3',15

9,290

333,795

573,4t2

918,141 1.960,317

907.201 r,s60,359

30.934 399,958

o

5
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t CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

32. MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSi-:TS AND l,lABll,lTIFlS (continued)a
CONSOI,IDATIJD

within 12 After 12

months months
KShs'million KShs'millionYear ended l0 June 2021

ASSF:'rS
Balances due from banking institutions
t'unds held with lntemational Monelary l'und
(rMF')
Securities and advances to banks
Loans and advances
Debt instruments at fair value through other
comprchensive income
t'lquity instrumcnts at lair value through other
mmprehensive income
Other assets
Gold holdings
Right.of-use asset - leases
Propcny and equipment
lntangible assets

Retirement benefi t assels
IMF f'unds On - t.ent to GOK
Due from Govemmcnt of Kenya

TOTAI, ASSETS

I,IABIl-ITII.]S
Cunency in circulation
Deposits due to banks and govemmcnt
Due to IMF
Other liabilities

TOTAt- I,IABII,ITIF:S

NE1'ASSI'TS

Total
KShs'million

a

o

73,27 5

49,005
641

33,464
3,053

13,2't s
t2,469
3,694

421,469

290.105

7,997

77,56't

920,059

572,915
|,347
6,291

580.6r3

339.446

350,425

l2

150

79
29,7 t0

1,998
4,994

326,86s
I 12,400

421,469

640,530

t2
7,997

150
79

29,7 t0
I,99t
4,994

326,865
t89,967

a

a

a

a

a

o

a

I

863, t50 1,783,209

315,967

476.552

3 t5,967
572,97s
477,899

6,29t

792.519 t -f'13-132

70,63 t 4t0,077
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CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

32. MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSE fS AND l.lABII-ITIUS (continued)

within l2
months

KShs'million

BANK
Aftcr l2
months

KShs'million
Total

KShs'millionYear ended 30 June 2024

ASSETS
Balances duc fmm banking institutions
F'unds held with lntemational Monetary liund
(lMr')
Securities and advances tJo banks
Loans and advances
Debt instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive incomc
F:quity instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income
Other assels
Gold holdings
Right-of-us€ asset - leases
Property and equipment
Inlangible ass€ts

Retirement benefi t assels
lM[' Funds On - Lent to GOK
Due from Govcmment of Kenya

TOTAI, ASSETS

LIABII,ITIt.:S
Currcncy in circulation
Detr)sits due to banks and govemment
Duc to lMf'
other liabilities

.TOTAI, 
LIABII,ITIT]S

NFt't' ASSt-:',I'S

484,312

52.550
216,& I

649

199,716

1,t t7

6t,021

|,022,t76

64't,O35

6,1 l7

653.152

369.024

23,036
2,978

365, t08

ll

169

64
29,583
2,666
5,t61

409,37 5
99,290

3J3,795

573.4t2

484,3t2

52,550
239,t41

3,621

564.824

II
7,i7

169

@
29,5t3
2,656
5,861

4@,37s
160.31 I

333.795
647.035
573,412

6,1 l7

93E,l4l 1,960,317

907,207 t.560,359

30,934 399,95 8

a

o
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t CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
F'OR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

32. MA'f tlRll-Y ANALYSIS OF ASSI:-l S AND l.ln BIl.ll llls (continuc'd)

(

a
Within I2

months
KShs'million

BANK
A fter l2
months

KShs'million
I otal

KShs'millionYcar endcd l0 Junc 2023

ASSI-t.tS
Balanccs duc from banking institutions
liunds hcld with lntcrnational Monctary l und
(rMF')
Sccurities and advances to banks
Loans and advances
Dcbt instrumcnts at l'air valuc through oth!'r
comprchcnsive incomc
liquity instrumcns at fair valuc through othcr
comprchcnsive incomc
Othcr asscts
Cold holdings
Right-of-usc assct - lcases
Property and cquipment
lntangiblc asscts
Retirement bencfit assets

lMl'funds On l.cnt to GOK
I)uc from Govcmmcnt of Kenya

ro t At. Assri't s

t_rAutt.t'fl1;s
Cuncncy in circulation
I)eFrcsits duc to banks and govemment
t)uc to IMI
Othcr liabilities

lo'l At. l.lArlIl_t't .:s

Ntit Asst-jt s

'13,275

49.005
64t

73.27 5

82.469
3.69,t

42t.469

290.t05

7.858

77,567

919.920

580.474

339.446

33.464
3.053

350.425

l2

150

79

421,469

640.530

t2
7.858

150
't9

29.71O
t.998
4,994

326.865
189.967

29.710
I.998
4.994

326,865
I t2.400

5't2.97 5

1.3.17

6.152

3 15,967

476.552

315.967
572.9'15
4't7,899

6.t 52

863. t50 1.781,070

192.5 t9 1.372.993

70.51| 410.077

ll8
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